THE PAID FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE OPPORTUNITY:

What Research Tells Us About Designing a Paid Leave Program that Works for All

By Kali Grant, Cara Brumfield, Sophie Khan, Funke Aderonmu and Indivar Dutta-Gupta



PL+US

CENTER ON POVERTY and INEQUALITY GEORGETOWN LAW

ECONOMIC SECURITY and OPPORTUNITY INITIATIVE

GEORGETOWN CENTER ON POVERTY AND INEQUALITY

The Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality (GCPI) works with policymakers, researchers, practitioners, advocates, and people with lived experience to develop effective policies and practices that alleviate poverty and inequality in the United States.

GCPI conducts research and analysis, develops policy and programmatic solutions, hosts convenings and events, and produces reports, briefs, and policy proposals. We develop and advance promising ideas and identify risks and harms of ineffective policies and practices, with a cross-cutting focus on racial and gender equity.

The work of GCPI is conducted by two teams: the Initiative on Gender Justice and Opportunity and the Economic Security and Opportunity Initiative.

ECONOMIC SECURITY AND OPPORTUNITY INITIATIVE

The mission of the Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality's (GCPI) Economic Security and Opportunity Initiative (ESOI) is to expand economic inclusion in the United States through rigorous research, analysis, and ambitious ideas to improve programs and policies. Further information about GCPI's ESOI is available at www.georgetownpoverty.org.

Please refer any questions and comments to gcpiesoi@georgetown.edu.

Copyright

Creative Commons (cc) 2019 by Kali Grant, Cara Brumfield, Sophie Khan, Funke Aderonmu, & Indivar Dutta-Gupta.



Notice of rights: This report has been published under a Creative Commons license. This work may be copied, redistributed, or displayed by anyone, provided that proper attribution is given and that the adaptation also carries a Creative Commons license. Commercial use of this work is disallowed.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS & DISCLOSURES

We appreciate the generous assistance provided by the following individuals, who shared their insights and advice, some of whom reviewed drafts of this report: Katie Bethell, Brianna Cayo Cotter, Andrea Zuniga, Daria Dawson, Namatie Mansaray, Ellen Bravo, Carol Joyner, Barbara Gault, Jeff Hayes, Elisabeth Jacobs, Jessica Mason, Ruth Martin, Sapna Mehta, Derrick Figures, Megan Stockhausen, Vicki Shabo, Caitlin Connolly, and Bethany Lilly. We also appreciate the contributions of several reviewers who wish to be anonymous.

We thank Jae June Lee, Christopher Brown, and Laura Tatum of GCPI ESOI for their significant research, writing, and editing assistance. We thank Victoria Sevcik for significant research assistance. Thanks to Ivellisse Morales, Emily Seaman, and Lisa Boyd-Physic of bombilla for the report's design and layout.

Any errors of fact or interpretation remain the authors'. Further information about GCPI's ESOI is available at <u>www.georgetownpoverty.org</u>.

We are grateful to PL+US for funding this report. The views expressed are those of the GCPI ESOI authors and should not be attributed to our advisors or funders. Funders do not affect research findings or the insights and recommendations of GCPI's ESOI.



CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS & DISCLOSURES	3
CONTENTS	4
INTRODUCTION & SUMMARY	5
A Body of Evidence Supports National, Comprehensive & Inclusive Paid Leave	6
Research Can Help Inform Policy	6
Research-Based Paid Leave Policies Should Support Equity & Prosperity for All	7
Summary of Recommendations	7
WHAT IS PAID LEAVE & HOW DOES IT IMPROVE LIVES?	8
Well-Designed Paid Leave Can Benefit Us All	9
The Current Approach Leaves Many Workers Behind	10
The Family & Medical Leave Act & Existing State Policies	11
WHAT DOES RESEARCH TELL US ABOUT HOW TO ACHIEVE OUR GOALS? _	12
Who Qualifies for Paid Leave & For What Reasons?	13
Worker Eligibility	13
Qualifying Events	18
What is the Nature of PFML Benefits & Protections?	20
Duration	21
Intermittent & Part-Time Use	24
Wage Replacement	26
Job Protection & Anti-Retaliation Protections	27
How is PFML Policy Structured & Administered?	29
Financing & Delivery Structure	29
Administration	33
Outreach, Education & Application Process	36
	37
ENDNOTES	39

INTRODUCTION & SUMMARY

Care for and by loved ones is central to every society. At some point in our lives, nearly all of us will need to take time away from a job to address a loved one's or our own serious or chronic illness, or to welcome a new child into our family. Unfortunately, the United States offers only a meager and inequitable patchwork system of paid leave. Despite the national Family and Medical Leave Act's important unpaid job-protected leave, many workers, including workers with disabilities, workers of color, and women, benefit less than others, in part because they cannot afford to take unpaid time off.

When workers cannot access *paid* leave, they face a cruel and unnecessary tradeoff: health and family, or work and making ends meet. For many, going without pay to care for a family member or oneself can lead to serious economic hardship. Forty percent of households cannot readily manage a \$400 emergency.¹ A survey of low-paid workers found that one in seven reported losing a job due to falling ill or caring for a sick family member.² It is time to build upon the successes of the FMLA and establish a comprehensive and inclusive national paid family and medical leave (PFML or paid leave) program.

The already-universal need for paid leave continues to grow, particularly as the U.S.'s demographic and labor force landscape changes. A national survey found that 43.5 million caregivers had provided unpaid care to a child or adult in 2015.³ The need for family caregiving is expected to increase as the population ages, and formal long term support services are unaffordable for many.^{4, 5, 6} This reality is compounded by a lack of affordable child care—federal funding for child care assistance has not kept up with the rising costs and has never met need.^{7, 8} Indeed, some workers find themselves part of a "sandwich generation"—

It is time to build upon the successes of the FMLA and establish a comprehensive and inclusive national paid family and medical leave program.

caring for both young children and older family members, while also working full time.9

In response to these realities, momentum is growing for a national paid leave policy in the U.S. Paid leave has risen in popularity among voters and as a policy priority for federal policymakers across party lines, as exemplified by the formation of a bipartisan Senate Finance Committee paid leave working group led by Senators Maggie Hassan (D-NH) and Bill Cassidy (R-LA).^{10, 11, 12, 13, 14} Private employers,¹⁵ states,¹⁶ and localities¹⁷ in the U.S. also have proposed and enacted partial and comprehensive paid leave policies. Since 2018, a group of 100 companies, including retailers Gap Inc. and Target, along with coffee chain Starbucks, have implemented or expanded their own paid leave policies.^{18, 19} Other major companies, such as Patagonia, Airbnb, and Spotify, have expressed support for a national paid leave policy.²⁰ As of July 2019, nine states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico^{21, 22} have passed paid leave laws for either family-only or medical-only leave²³ or both,²⁴ and legislation has been recently proposed in at least four other states.^{25, 26} A national paid leave program could ensure that U.S. workers and their families no longer have to rely on the inadequate and inequitable existing patchwork of state and local laws, voluntary employer benefits, and federal unpaid leave.²⁷

As it is, the U.S. is the only industrialized country in the world without a national paid leave policy.^{28, 29, 30} Among the 34 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) member countries whose paid leave policies have been studied, many provide paid leave, including 33 for maternity leave,³¹ 32 for paternity leave, 32 for one's own condition,³² 28 to care for children's health conditions, and 22 to care for adult family members.³³

A BODY OF EVIDENCE SUPPORTS NATIONAL, COMPREHENSIVE, & INCLUSIVE PAID LEAVE

Recent momentum toward a national paid leave policy and state, local, and private employer victories, are due, in part, to the ongoing and persistent work of local, state, and federal advocates.³⁴ Research has been central to the success of these efforts,³⁵ as a substantial body of evidence suggests that well-designed paid leave policies can lead to positive outcomes for workers, their families and employers, and society. Research confirms that paid leave allows families to better meet their personal, financial, and workplace needs.³⁶ Paid leave has been shown to have positive short-term and long-term effects for both employers—such as decreased employee turnover and increased profitability, productivity, and employee morale—^{37, 38} and workers and their families—such as improved physical and mental health for both parents and children,^{39, 40, 41} increased economic productivity,⁴² and improved economic security along with greater workforce participation, particularly for women.⁴³ Research also shows that paid parental leave, in particular, can reduce gender-based wage disparities.^{44, 45, 46}

RESEARCH CAN HELP INFORM POLICY

Developing paid leave policy at any level of government requires consequential design decisions. These decisions determine how well the policy can meet care needs and support better health, developmental, and economic outcomes for workers, their families, and their employers. This paper considers how available research and evidence can inform the various policy levers and parameters policymakers should consider when developing a paid leave proposal.

Some of the parameters explored in this report include:

- Job protection measures that ensure that workers have the same or an equivalent job when they come back from their period of paid leave,
- Anti-retaliation protections against adverse employment consequences for taking or requesting leave,
- Employer-sponsored health coverage continuity,
- Qualifying events and documentation,
- Wage replacement levels,
- Eligibility requirements tied to employment, such as tenure and work history,
- Intermittent and incremental use of leave,
- Outreach and education, and
- Models of financing and administration.

RESEARCH-BASED PAID LEAVE POLICIES SHOULD SUPPORT EQUITY & PROSPERITY FOR ALL

This report offers research-based recommendations that outline who should qualify for paid leave and why, the nature of the paid leave benefits themselves, and how paid leave policies should be structured and administered. The recommendations are designed to advance racial, gender, and economic equity in pursuit of three interrelated goals:

- 1. Allow all workers to provide necessary care for themselves and their families;
- 2. Support better health and child development outcomes for workers and their families; and
- 3. Ensure the economic stability of workers, their families, and their employers.

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

Ultimately, this report recommends that a paid leave program be designed to:

1. Include all worker types. Paid leave should include workers at businesses of all sizes, public employees, contractors, self-employed workers, domestic workers, agricultural workers, part-time workers, and those who work for multiple employers. Paid leave programs that include all worker types are more equitable because the jobs that tend to be left out of leave policies are often lower-paying and disproportionately filled by women, people of color, and immigrants.

2. Cover a broad range of personal and family medical, safety, and caregiving needs. Workers should be able to take leave to meet an expansive set of medical, safety, and caregiving needs, including the needs of military families and of DV/IPV, stalking, and sexual assault victim-survivors. Programs should define covered family members in ways that reflect the realities of workers' lives— by including extended family members, same-sex partners, domestic partners, and chosen family. Such expansive definitions of family reflect modern family structures and are especially important for LGBTQ+ people and people with disabilities.

3. Provide sufficient time to meet workers' needs. Leave duration that matches health and development needs is crucial to helping workers maintain their financial stability. Adequate duration is especially important for low-paid workers who may have fewer financial resources and savings. Six months is generally time enough to allow workers to meet their caregiving responsibilities or take care of their own medical needs.

4. Allow intermittent and incremental leave. Workers should be able to take leave intermittently and in short increments (hours or days) as needed. This flexibility is particularly more equitable vis-a-vis workers (and their loved ones) with disabilities or chronic health conditions who require ongoing care. It also supports more equally shared caregiving between parents.

5. Ensure sufficient wage replacement. Wage replacement rates should be progressive and high enough to allow workers to afford to take leave without jeopardizing their financial stability. Wage replacement rates of 80 to 100 percent are more likely to support gender equity and likely are necessary for low- and middle-income workers to meet their financial needs.

6. Guarantee job protection and anti-retaliation protections. Workers should not have to worry that



their jobs or pay are at risk, or that they might face other consequences, for taking the leave they are entitled to and need. These protections are especially important for workers of color, women, and immigrants, who face greater workplace and hiring discrimination.

7. Structure financing to pool risk and limit hiring discrimination. The social insurance model pools risk and may be less likely to result in gender- or disability-based hiring discrimination than an employer mandate. A tax credit structure is unlikely to benefit those who need paid leave the most because employer participation would be voluntary—and marginalized workers are less likely to be employed at businesses that offer paid leave.

8. Build upon existing administrative infrastructures. A national paid leave program should be administered through a federal agency such as the Social Security Administration (SSA) to best ensure coverage of all workers regardless of state residency or employer type. Using the SSA could also reduce the reporting and documentation burden for participants—which is especially important for low-paid workers.

9. Employ targeted outreach strategies and establish simple, accessible application processes. Paid leave programs should utilize targeted outreach strategies that include accessible, multilingual materials. This can help ensure that people with disabilities and those with limited English proficiency can access the information they need. Information about programs should be complete, accurate, and presented in plain language. The paid leave application process should be simple, short, and accessible to all workers.

WHAT IS PAID LEAVE & HOW DOES IT IMPROVE LIVES?

Paid family and medical leave (PFML)¹ policies enable workers to take partially- or fully-compensated time away from work to care for a family member's or their own serious or chronic health condition, or to care for or bond with an infant or recently adopted or fostered child.⁴⁷ Often, PFML is categorized into three, at times overlapping, types: personal, parental, and family.⁴⁸

BOX 1: HOW DOES PFML DIFFER FROM OTHER WORKPLACE LEAVE PROGRAMS?

PFML differs from other kinds of paid time off work.^{49, 50} Paid sick days, for example, usually require less documentation and are typically financed by employers (sometimes through a government mandate).⁵¹ Sick leaves are usually taken for shorter durations than PFML.^{52, 53} The proposed Healthy Families Act would establish a national paid sick and safe days policy which would benefit many of the 34 million workers who do not currently have access to paid sick leave by providing at least seven days of job-protected paid sick leave per year for workers in businesses with at least 15 employees.⁵⁴ (The proposed bill would not grant an additional week of paid sick leave for workers who already have at least seven days of leave.)⁵⁵

Paid time off (PTO) is a related policy which workers can utilize for a wide range of reasons (e.g., illness or vacation).⁵⁶ PTO can sometimes be combined with PFML for workers who require longer periods of leave.⁵⁷ Workers may also have access to short-term or long-term disability insurance (sometimes referred to as Temporary Disability Insurance or TDI) through their employer or the government.⁵⁸ Disability insurance provides extended time off for medical reasons.⁵⁹ Five states and Puerto Rico currently have TDI programs,⁶⁰

¹ For the purposes of this paper, we consider the outcomes of PFML policies, along with Temporary Disability Insurance and Temporary Caregiver Insurance policies.

REPORT: "The Paid Family and Medical Leave Opportunity: What Research Tells Us About Designing a Paid Leave Program that Works for All" July 2019 <u>paidleave.us</u> georgetownpoverty.org



and four states have built paid family leave (PFL) policies atop their existing TDI programs.^{61, 62} Long-term disability insurance can sometimes provide longer periods of pay than PFML programs.⁶³ Employers and governments may also provide temporary caregiver insurance which enables workers to take parental leave or leave to care for a family member who is ill.⁶⁴

Workers with disabilities can also access leave under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).⁶⁵ The ADA provides qualifying workers the right to leave as a form of reasonable accommodation.⁶⁶ The duration provided varies and employers can request medical documentation from workers seeking to take leave.⁶⁷ Along with the reasonable accommodation leave, the ADA requires that employers provide employees with disabilities the same level of access to leave offered to other employees.⁶⁸

WELL-DESIGNED PAID LEAVE CAN BENEFIT US ALL

When well-designed and informed by research, paid leave policies can support improved health, development, and economic outcomes for workers, their families, and their employers. A selection of the multitude of benefits of paid leave policies is listed below.

Paid leave can allow all workers to provide necessary care for themselves and their loved ones and lead to:

- Improved physical and mental health for fathers,⁶⁹ mothers,^{70, 71} and other caregivers (such as individuals who provide care to elderly family members);⁷²
- Improved parent-child bonding and co-parenting skills for up to five years after the child's birth (and more equitable division of household responsibilities for up to two years after birth);^{73, 74}
- Increased family caregivers' time spent caring for their older relatives;⁷⁵ and
- Reduced stress among parents.⁷⁶

Paid leave can support better health and child development outcomes for workers and their families through:

- Higher breastfeeding rates and longer durations of breastfeeding⁷⁷ (particularly for women with lower incomes),⁷⁸ higher vaccination rates,⁷⁹ and decreased rates of infant mortality,⁸⁰ low birth-weight, and preterm birth;⁸¹
- Improved emotional health and cognitive development for infants;⁸² and
- Improved long-term health outcomes for children, such as decreased diagnoses of attention deficit/hypertension disorder, obesity, ear infections, and hearing problems,⁸³ and decreases in hospitalizations for pediatric abusive head trauma due.⁸⁴

Paid leave can ensure the economic security of workers, their families, and their employers through:

- Improved labor market attachment and higher wages, (in some cases for women, in particular, and for both part-time and full-time workers);⁸⁵
- Increased long-term labor force participation for caregivers;⁸⁶

PL+US

- Decreased need for public assistance programs;⁸⁷ and
- Improved job retention for both low- and high-paid workers,⁸⁸ higher employee morale,⁸⁹ and reduced employee stress.⁹⁰

The benefits of paid leave are tied to the design of the policies. Programs must be designed inclusively for these positive outcomes to be shared by *all* workers.

THE CURRENT APPROACH LEAVES MANY WORKERS BEHIND

Paid leave is a core component of the economic security and opportunity systems that enable and promote work, financial well-being, and health for all workers.⁹¹ Current paid leave policies, however, do not reflect the reality of today's labor market—particularly for low-paid workers. Indeed, existing programs leave out many workers in the nation—and disproportionately leave out low-paid and other marginalized workers who may need access the most.⁹² Workers with the most to gain from access to paid leave are currently the least likely to have it—or access to unpaid leave, for that matter. These workers include:

- Low-paid⁹³ and part-time workers,⁹⁴
- Women,⁹⁵
- Workers of color⁹⁶ (particularly Latinx people),⁹⁷
- Immigrants,98
- Workers with disabilities and their caregivers,⁹⁹
- Workers with lower educational attainment,¹⁰⁰
- People who work for multiple employers,¹⁰¹
- Individuals who are self-employed and workers who are misclassified as independent contractors,¹⁰² and
- Domestic and agricultural workers.¹⁰³

A comprehensive national paid leave policy has the potential to benefit individuals and families who are otherwise too easily left out.^{104, 105} As it is, just 17 percent of civilian workers have access to paid family leave¹⁰⁶ and 39 percent have access to personal medical leave through short-term TDI.¹⁰⁷ Among the lowest-paid workers, 92 percent do not have access to paid family leave,¹⁰⁸ and only 19 percent have access to employer-provided short-

A comprehensive national paid leave policy has the potential to benefit individuals and families who are otherwise too easily left out.

term TDI.¹⁰⁹ On the other hand, people who work for larger employers,¹¹⁰ individuals with higher educational attainment¹¹¹ and income,¹¹² and white workers¹¹³ are among those most likely to have access to paid or unpaid leave. In addition, not all leave (paid or unpaid) policies recognize modern family structures. Existing programs often exclude partners in unmarried couples, surrogate parents,¹¹⁴ and chosen family members,¹¹⁵ which can be particularly harmful to LGBTQ individuals and people with disabilities.¹¹⁶



The racial disparities in access to leave (and other benefits) are stark. Black and Latinx workers are less likely than white workers to hold jobs with benefits like health insurance, retirement, and paid time off.^{117, 118} Asian American and American Indian workers are also more likely to have an unmet need for paid leave than white workers¹¹⁹ and just 43 percent of black workers and 25 percent of Latinx workers have access to paid parental leave.¹²⁰ Disparities in benefits access also exist along gender lines, with black and Latinx women being the most impacted.¹²¹

Workers of color, women, and workers with disabilities are also more likely than other workers to be employed in low-paying jobs.^{122, 123} Many low-pay industries are characterized by unstable work schedules that lack flexibility for workers; such schedules can be especially challenging to navigate for individuals who also have caregiving responsibilities.¹²⁴ As a result, without adequate paid leave policies, low-paid workers are more likely to have to reduce their hours or even leave the workforce entirely when faced with health or caregiving needs.^{125, 126} Latinx people are the least likely among racial and ethnic groups to have flexibility in their work hours or have access to paid leave.¹²⁷

An inclusive national paid leave program would not only improve access for workers, but it could also serve to reduce economic inequality along gender and racial dimensions. In fact, racial disparities in access to job benefits have accounted for 20 percent of the widening of the racial wealth gap since 1984.¹²⁸ Latinx and black households have significantly less wealth on average than their white counterparts (Latinx families hold eight percent of white families' wealth, and black households hold six percent of white families' wealth).¹²⁹ American Indians¹³⁰ also face wealth disparities compared to their white counterparts, as do some Asian American subgroups.¹³¹ As a result, families of color may have fewer resources and opportunities to save, particularly when earnings are used to cover unexpected expenses from life events.¹³² This makes access to paid leave even more important for these families.

THE FAMILY & MEDICAL LEAVE ACT & EXISTING STATE POLICIES

While the U.S. has no national paid leave law, the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) grants up to 12 weeks per year of *unpaid*, job-protected leave to certain workers for their own medical conditions and caregiving for certain family members.¹³³ However, only about 60 percent of workers in the U.S. have access to unpaid leave under FMLA.¹³⁴ Among those not eligible are workers who are self-employed or independent contractors,¹³⁵ workers at small businesses with fewer than 50 employees within a 75-mile radius, new employees who have not yet worked for their employer for 12 months, seasonal and other part-year employees, and "some part-time workers who worked less than 1,250 hours for a single employer in the past 12 months."¹³⁶ Workers who are not eligible for FMLA tend to be paid lower wages,¹³⁷ have less formal education than covered workers,¹³⁸ are more likely to be people of color,¹³⁹ and work in jobs with higher turnover rates.¹⁴⁰ Some people work in part-time and nontraditional employment, such as seasonal or contract work, due to caregiving responsibilities. These exclusions disproportionately caregivers for people with disabilities, as well as women and people of color—who are more likely to provide care for a loved one—and can reduce their labor force participation rates.^{141, 142, 143}

The current national system of unpaid leave can have far reaching economic costs. It is estimated that the economic costs of unpaid caregiving amount to \$67 billion annually and are projected to increase to as much as \$147 billion by 2050.¹⁴⁴ These costs are driven by the growth of the population of elderly people with disabilities, and include the costs to highly educated workers who must reduce their work hours, change jobs, or quit working altogether to provide care for their elderly relatives.¹⁴⁵ Nine states (California, Connecticut, Hawaii, Massachusetts, New Jersey, New York, Oregon, Rhode Island, and Washington), the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico,^{146, 147} and many municipalities across the U.S.¹⁴⁸ have passed paid leave laws for either family-only or medical-only leave or both.¹⁴⁹ Despite these efforts, just 17 percent of civilian workers have access to PFL,¹⁵⁰ 39 percent of workers have access to short-term disability



insurance, and 34 percent have access to long-term disability insurance to care for their own medical conditions.¹⁵¹

WHAT DOES RESEARCH TELL US ABOUT HOW TO ACHIEVE OUR GOALS?

Paid leave research is ongoing, especially as new policies are implemented and evaluated. As a result, what we believe to be the optimal policy now may change as we gain more information—and as our social and economic contexts evolve. Nevertheless, a substantial body of existing research argues unequivocally for action and can inform policymakers and other stakeholders today. The research summarized in this section sheds light on who and what events should qualify for paid leave; what the nature of paid leave benefits should be, including their duration, wage replacement levels, and worker protections; and how an inclusive paid leave program should be structured and implemented. This section also examines existing paid and unpaid leave policies at the national, state, and local levels, along with the policies of OECD countries. (The OECD is an international economic organization made up of 36 middle- or high-income¹⁵² democratic countries, including the U.S., with market economies.¹⁵³ Though findings from these countries' paid leave experiences will not necessarily transfer directly to the U.S., their experiences nevertheless offer some insights into the possibilities in the U.S.)

BOX 2: THE FAMILY ACT

The FAMILY Act, the leading national paid leave proposal under consideration in Congress today,¹⁵⁴ would provide workers up to 12 weeks of paid family leave¹⁵⁵ (as would some recent conservative paid leave tax credit proposals).^{156, 157} The law would likely cover many more workers than the FMLA does.^{158, 159} The Institute for Child, Youth, and Family Policy at Brandeis University estimates that the FAMILY Act would reduce by 75 percent the share of families who fall into poverty from taking unpaid leave through the FMLA.¹⁶⁰

To be eligible for benefits under the FAMILY Act, all workers, including public employees, would need a basic work and earnings history or to meet the "work credit" requirements for Social Security Disability Insurance.^{161, 162} The law does not include a job-specific tenure requirement.¹⁶³ It also would provide access to paid leave for small business owners—who would receive a benefit amount based on their self-employment income.¹⁶⁴ The proposed legislation does not specify that all paid leave must be taken at one time,¹⁶⁵ allowing for the possibility of taking leave intermittently. The current version of the bill includes a 66 percent wage replacement rate based on earnings in the past three years, with a cap on monthly payments that would be indexed to the national average wage index to ensure that benefits keep up with the rising cost of living.¹⁶⁶ Workers would also have protection against employer retaliation for requesting leave under the FAMILY Act.¹⁶⁷ Under the bill, there would be a five-day waiting period for receiving benefits unless the individual provided care for 15 or more days in the prior month.¹⁶⁸ The FAMILY Act would cover all of the qualifying events covered by the FMLA, along with care for a domestic partner's health condition, which is not included in the FMLA.¹⁶⁹

The FAMILY Act proposes that the national program use a social insurance model administered through a new Office of Paid Family and Medical Leave that would be created within the SSA.¹⁷⁰ The social insurance model has been successful in reducing racial,¹⁷¹ gender,¹⁷² and economic inequality ¹⁷³ for other programs at the national level—especially Social Security—¹⁷⁴ which is one reason why the proposed FAMILY Act also uses this model.¹⁷⁵ The law mandates targeted outreach and education to increase utilization.^{176, 177}



A new Federal Family and Medical Leave Insurance trust fund would be created and the funds would be used exclusively for to pay paid leave benefits and program-related costs.¹⁷⁸ Benefits would be financed through an uncapped 0.2 percent payroll tax on employers and employees, as well as a 0.4 percent tax on the wages of self-employed workers.¹⁷⁹ A 2018 report from the Institute for Women's Policy Research (IWPR) suggests that the program would pay out close to \$27 billion in benefits each year.¹⁸⁰

WHO QUALIFIES FOR PAID LEAVE & FOR WHAT REASONS?

Eligibility for paid leave programs is often determined by factors that, first, make a worker generally eligible, and, second, make the worker specifically eligible due to a qualifying event.

WORKER ELIGIBILITY

Paid leave policies have requirements tied to employment.¹⁸¹ Worker eligibility is often contingent on a number of factors, including employer size, full-time status, worker type (employee or non-employee), job tenure (length of time with a particular employer), work history (recent history of hours, weeks, or calendar quarters worked), and recent earnings.^{182, 183} While many state paid leave laws have less stringent requirements than the FMLA,¹⁸⁴ some part-time workers, small business workers, and non- employee or nonstandard workers (e.g., self-employed workers and independent contractors)¹⁸⁵ are still left out of some state programs.¹⁸⁶

Many states also exclude public employees.¹⁸⁷ For example, in both New York and California, public employees have access to the paid leave program only if their unions opt in during collective bargaining or their employers opt in to the law.¹⁸⁸ As a result, 21 percent of public workers in California in higher quality jobs (i.e., jobs that pay a minimum of \$20 per hour and provide health insurance) and 48 percent of public workers in lower quality jobs do not have access to paid family leave.¹⁸⁹ Rules excluding public employees are consequential for racial and gender equity in paid leave programs because women and people of color, particularly African Americans, make up a larger share of the public employee workforce than other groups.¹⁹⁰

While no state paid leave laws explicitly exclude undocumented workers, California,¹⁹¹ New Jersey,¹⁹² Washington,¹⁹³ and Rhode Island¹⁹⁴ require a Social Security Number to determine eligibility. The District of Columbia and New York accept either a Social Security Number or an Individual Tax Identification Number (ITIN) issued by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS),¹⁹⁵ the latter of which helps include undocumented workers, some of whom (workers who receive paychecks in the case of New York) may be contributing taxes toward funding the program.¹⁹⁶

Employer Size

Some states limit job protections to workers at businesses with a minimum number of employees.¹⁹⁷ These provisions can exclude a sizable share of workers from needed job protections, as more than 32 million workers are employed at businesses with fewer than 50 employees and over 20 million are employed at businesses with under 20 employees.¹⁹⁸ When California amended its paid leave law in 2017 to include job-protected paid leave for workers with employers that have at least 20 employees (down from the previous requirement of at least 50 workers) within a 75-mile radius, the state expanded access to an additional 2.7 million workers—16 percent of the state's workforce.^{199, 200} New Jersey expanded access to job protection to 200,000 additional workers when the New Jersey Family Leave Act was amended in 2019.²⁰¹ New York and Rhode Island provide workers with job-protected paid family leave irrespective of their employer's size.²⁰²



Similarly, the vast majority of OECD countries with paid leave policies provide job protection to workers irrespective of employer size.^{203, 204, 205}

A national program without employer size restrictions would not only protect more workers—it may also help small businesses. Paid leave programs can make it more affordable for small businesses to provide paid leave, especially if funded as a social insurance program or through general revenues.^{206, 207} Such policies allow small businesses to recruit and retain employees who otherwise may have gone to businesses with capacity to provide their own paid leave benefits without a state or national program.²⁰⁸ Further, a survey of small- and medium-sized businesses in Rhode Island found that the state's recently- implemented paid leave program had no reported negative impact on employee productivity and work hours in Rhode Island;²⁰⁹ there were similar responses from both large and small businesses about New Jersey's program.^{210, 211}

Part-Time Employment

Many part-time workers are left out of paid leave programs that require a minimum number of hours worked per week or include tenure requirements (which, in some cases, apply only to part-time workers). More than 25 million people (25,636,000) were part-time workers in 2018.²¹² Over 3.5 million workers²¹³ work part time because they could not find full-time work or had their work hours cut.²¹⁴ (Such part-time workers are disproportionately people of color.)²¹⁵ Others (over 22 million workers in 2018)²¹⁶ work part time for other reasons, such as a disability²¹⁷ or caregiving responsibilities. Tenure and work history requirements can be particularly consequential for women (especially women of color), who are more likely to work part time, provide paid or unpaid caregiving work,²¹⁸ or leave a job due to caregiving obligations.²¹⁹

State paid leave policies vary in their tenure and work history requirements.²²⁰ Under Washington's paid leave law, all workers must work an average of approximately 16 hours per week over 52 weeks for the same employer to qualify.²²¹ New York does not have a requirement related to hours worked per week, but does have a tenure requirement (at least 175 days for workers who work for less than 20 hours per week and at least 26 weeks for those working over 20 hours per week).²²² The District of Columbia also does not have a minimum work hours requirement.²²³ Other states such as Rhode Island, Massachusetts, and New Jersey have either a minimum work hours requirement or a minimum earnings requirement, which can effectively become a work hours requirement for low-paid workers.²²⁴

Independent Contractors & Self-Employed Workers

Many independent contractors and self-employed workers are left out of paid leave programs. In 2017, 6.9 percent of workers (10.6 million) were independent contractors.²²⁵ In 2018, there were an estimated 9.8 million workers who were self-employed as their primary job^{226, 227} (about six percent of workers).²²⁸ In a 2017 survey, about half of the contract workers polled lacked access to any benefits from their employer, including sick leave and health insurance.^{229, 230} Such exclusions also can impact restaurant employees, construction workers, and truck drivers, who are often misclassified as contractors.²³¹ People of color and immigrants are overrepresented in the restaurant, construction, and trucking industries and, as a result, may face added barriers to access to paid leave.²³²

New York, Washington, the District of Columbia, California, and Oregon allow independent contractors and self-employed workers to opt in to paid leave programs.^{233, 234} Massachusetts allows self-employed workers to opt in to the state's paid leave program, while independent contractors are covered if they contract with employers whose workforce is over 50 percent contractors.²³⁵ New York and Massachusetts require all self-employed workers who opt in to pay both the employee and employer payroll tax (as is the case with the mandatory FICA [Federal Insurance Contribution Act] tax),²³⁶ while Washington requires those who opt in to pay solely the employee share of the tax—though they are eligible for the same benefits.²³⁷



Some states, such as Washington and the District of Columbia, aim to limit adverse selection (i.e. workers undermining the financial stability of the paid leave fund by joining only when in need of leave and opting out once they no longer need it) by requiring self-employed workers who opt in to remain in the program for a minimum of three years before opting out if they choose.^{238, 239, 240} This specific strategy for avoiding adverse selection has not yet been evaluated.

Self-employed workers, independent contractors, and consultants typically have to make both employer and employee contributions (except in Washington state) to access benefits.²⁴¹ Such contribution requirements could be cost-prohibitive for these workers if they are required to pay more than traditional employees to access paid leave.²⁴² However, states like Washington and Massachusetts have devised contribution plans that allow self-employed workers and independent contractors to pay the full cost (employer-employee) for certain provisions like paid family leave but only pay the employee portion for other benefits like medical leave.²⁴³ These provisions can serve to reduce contribution costs for independent contractors and self-employed workers.²⁴⁴

Internationally, a number of OECD countries provide paid leave to self-employed workers, though some provide reduced benefits to these workers. Eight OECD countries provide paid medical-only leave at the same wage replacement rate and duration to self-employed workers as other workers, while 18 provide it at lower wage replacement rates and shorter durations.²⁴⁵ Among the 27 OECD countries that provide paid parental-only leave for either parent, 21 provide the same level of benefits to self-employed workers as other workers.²⁴⁶ Additionally, three countries provide paid parental-only leave to self-employed workers for shorter durations and at lower wage replacement rates.²⁴⁷ (For an explanation of wage replacement rates and duration considerations, see the next section, *What is the Nature of PFML Benefits & Protections?*)

Domestic & Agricultural Workers

Domestic and agricultural workers²⁴⁸ have long been left out of paid leave programs and other worker benefits and protections.²⁴⁹ Landmark laws such as the Fair Labor Standards Act and Equal Pay Act excluded many domestic and agricultural workers from protections like overtime compensation, the minimum wage, and equal pay for equal work.²⁵⁰ Agricultural and domestic workers were also excluded from federal protections under laws like the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the Occupational Health and Safety Act of 1970.^{251, 252} Access to paid leave is essential for these workers—and can advance racial and gender equity outcomes, as people of color and women are disproportionately represented in domestic and agriculture jobs.^{253, 254}

Domestic Workers

Although eight existing state paid leave programs and the District of Columbia's program cover domestic workers in the same manner as they cover other workers,²⁵⁵ these workers often face access barriers. New York is the only state explicitly to include domestic workers in its paid leave law, requiring that those hired by private families work at least 40 hours per week to qualify (while other worker types must only work 20 hours per week, or in some cases, fewer).²⁵⁶ Domestic workers may be less likely to be aware that a paid leave program exists than others.^{257, 258} Most workers learn about paid leave programs through their employers. Domestic workers, however, are often employed by families who may not be aware of their legal obligation to provide leave.²⁵⁹ Domestic workers and those who are people of color or immigrants, in particular, may also fear that they will lose their job or be retaliated against if they take the leave they are entitled to.²⁶⁰

In many cases, domestic workers have physically demanding jobs with long hours and low pay-and some



paid leave programs include minimum earnings requirements that may be hard for domestic workers to reach given these low wages. Many domestic workers, particularly live-in workers, tend to work more than 40 hours per week without guarantee of overtime pay.²⁶¹ In fact, domestic workers work 84 hours per week on average by some estimates.²⁶² A study of domestic workers found that 70 percent are paid less than \$13 an hour, and 67 percent of workers who live in their employers' households are paid below the minimum wage.²⁶³

The barriers to paid leave access that domestic workers experience exacerbate economic inequities along racial and gender lines. Black, Latinx, and immigrant women are overrepresented in the domestic labor force, and domestic workers of color are paid less on average than their white counterparts.^{264, 265} Additionally, most domestic workers lack other employee benefits such as

The barriers to paid leave access that domestic workers experience exacerbate economic inequities along racial and gender lines.

retirement, health insurance, and paid vacation.²⁶⁶ The high demands placed on domestic workers combined with the lack of benefits severely undermine economic security for these workers.

Agricultural Workers

Many agricultural workers lack access to paid leave and have limited access to other important benefits like health insurance and paid sick leave.^{267, 268} Some states, like New York, explicitly exclude farmworkers from their paid leave programs.²⁶⁹ Even when not explicitly excluded, many agricultural workers are effectively excluded from state programs because of criteria like tenure requirements that indirectly exclude seasonal or temporary workers²⁷⁰ (who make up an increasing share of farmworkers).²⁷¹

Agricultural workers are among those who need access to paid leave the most. Many agricultural workers also earn low wages, with 30 percent of farmworkers earning incomes below the federal poverty line.²⁷² Farm and food production workers often labor in conditions that put them at high risk for illness, injury, and death.²⁷³ These conditions increase the health disparities between agricultural and non-agricultural workers.²⁷⁴ Although workers' compensation laws provide some benefits if a worker is injured on the job or suffers from a work-related illness,²⁷⁵ access to job-protected paid leave would help provide workers time and economic security to address their other health and caregiving needs. Ultimately, paid leave benefits should supplement, not supplant, workers' compensation benefits.

Paid leave protections for agricultural workers are also crucial for racial and gender equity. People of color and immigrants make up a significant share of the workforce.²⁷⁶ A national survey found that 75 percent of agricultural workers were foreign-born, and 83 percent were Hispanic or Latinx.²⁷⁷ Women comprise an increasing share of farmworkers—up from an estimated 18.7 percent in 2007 to around 25 percent in 2017.²⁷⁸

Tenure, Work History, & Earnings Requirements

Paid leave policies typically include tenure, work history, and/or earnings requirements. Tenure requirements relate to the length of time a worker has been with a specific employer.²⁷⁹ Work history requirements relate to the length of time a worker has been employed recently or over their lifetime.²⁸⁰ Minimum earnings requirements restrict eligibility to only those workers who earned above a specified amount in a set period.

These requirements exclude certain workers. Minimum earnings requirements² have a disproportionate impact on low-paid workers, as they must work more to meet any earnings threshold.²⁸¹ Workers who are

² Some people who work may be left out of PFML laws if their work consists primarily or entirely of informal work that is off the books.

REPORT: "The Paid Family and Medical Leave Opportunity: What Research Tells Us About Designing a Paid Leave Program that Works for All" July 2019 <u>paidleave.us</u> georgetownpoverty.org



now employed but may not have had a chance to build up the requisite tenure include recent graduates, younger workers,²⁸² labor market re-entrants (such as people returning from incarceration or caregiving),²⁸³ some self-employed workers, and many part-time and seasonal workers.²⁸⁴ Workers who frequently move in and out of the workforce may also be excluded due to tenure requirements. Researchers from the Economic Minimum earnings requirements have a disproportionate impact on low-paid workers, as they must work more to meet any earnings. threshold.

Policy Institute estimate that every three months, 20 percent of the lowest-paid workers either leave or start a new job,²⁸⁵ suggesting that tenure requirements likely put a significant share of low-paid workers at a disadvantage.

All state-level paid leave policies have at least one of these three types of requirements.²⁸⁶ For example, in California, to qualify for PFML, a participant must have earned at least \$300 in wages in 12 months,²⁸⁷ while in New York, one must have worked for a covered employer for at least 26 consecutive weeks (or 175 days for part-time employees) for family leave, while for personal medical leave, one must have worked for a covered employer for at least four consecutive weeks (or 25 days for part-time employees).²⁸⁸

A majority of OECD countries that offer paid leave do not have job-specific tenure requirements.^{289, 290} Within the 15 OECD countries that do have a tenure requirement for personal medical leave, nine countries have a requirement of a month or less, and eight countries provide paid leave at a reduced duration or wage replacement level for workers who do not meet the tenure requirement.²⁹¹ Several OECD countries have tenure requirements of just four weeks or less.²⁹² Some OECD countries impose minimum earnings or work history requirements instead of tenure requirements, but a similar number have none of these three requirements.^{293, 294}

There are strategies to mitigate the impact of these requirements on access to paid leave. Allowing workers to use their earnings or tenures from multiple jobs (including self-employment), known as "portability," may help low-paid and nonstandard workers more easily meet tenure requirements.²⁹⁵ Most states allow this. Another option is to tie the tenure or work history requirement to the state or the locality rather than a specific employer, as is the case in New Jersey,²⁹⁶ and in eight OECD countries.²⁹⁷ This approach may be more inclusive of women workers, who are more likely than men to hold more than one job at a time,²⁹⁸ as well as immigrant workers²⁹⁹ and African Americans,³⁰⁰ who also hold multiple jobs at high rates.

There are also strategies to ensure better access for people with gaps in their work history. For example, policies can be designed to offer continued access to paid leave and other benefits even if a worker is between jobs.³⁰¹ Massachusetts' paid leave law has this feature, while New York provides TDI to unemployed workers, but not PFL.³⁰² In Massachusetts, a worker who left their job in the past 26 weeks can receive benefits if they had at least 15 weeks of earnings and a minimum of \$4,700 in earnings in the twelve months before they applied for leave.³⁰³ This is particularly helpful for seasonal workers who may not have sufficient employment during the offseason;³⁰⁴ African Americans and Latinx people are disproportionately represented among seasonal workers.³⁰⁵

Alternatively, paid leave policies could exclude tenure requirements entirely, as is the case in nine OECD countries. ³⁰⁶ The lack of a tenure requirement has not been associated with lower labor force participation, reduced economic growth, or higher unemployment in OECD countries.³⁰⁷

Recommendation 1: Include All Worker Types

Paid leave policies should cover all worker types, including public employees, workers at businesses of all



sizes, part-time workers, independent contractors, self-employed workers, domestic workers, agricultural workers, seasonal workers, and those who work for multiple employers. Independent contractors and self-employed workers should be allowed to opt in easily or have automatic coverage that is at parity with other workers. These policies should cover part-time workers based on a reasonable part-time work history and all workers with a modest recent work history. Paid leave programs that include all worker types are more equitable because the jobs that tend to be left out are often low-paying and disproportionately filled by women, people of color, and immigrants.

QUALIFYING EVENTS

A qualifying event is a change in life circumstances that triggers eligibility for a leave program. Qualifying events are generally serious health conditions which require inpatient or continuing treatment, such as cancer, Alzheimer's disease, diabetes, asthma, complications related to pregnancy, or prenatal care.³⁰⁸ Other qualifying events include the birth, adoption, or fostering of a child.³⁰⁹ Paid leave policies should cover a broad array of life events to ensure that workers' needs are met.

Qualifying events under the FMLA include: birth, adoption, or fostering of a child; care for an employee's own health condition; care for an employee's spouse, child, or parent's health condition; and caregiving for military leave and/or deployment purposes.³¹⁰ Most states' family and medical leave programs do not cover bereavement³¹¹ and neither does the FMLA. Oregon's newly passed paid leave law will require employers that already provide paid sick or vacation leave to include bereavement as a qualifying reason for leave, while Massachusetts' paid leave law will provide 12 weeks of paid leave for the death of a family member in the military starting in 2021.³¹² New York was the first state to allow paid leave for "certain needs in connection with a close family member's active duty military service abroad,"³¹³ followed by Massachusetts and Connecticut.^{314, 315} "Close family members" are defined in the New York law as spouses, domestic partners, children, and parents.³¹⁶ Connecticut, however, excludes domestic partners.³¹⁷

Documentation & Waiting Periods

Generally, leave programs require workers to submit documents³¹⁸ such as birth certificates, adoption or foster care paperwork, pay stubs or tax returns, or documentation of the medical condition provided by a health professional.^{319, 320, 321} Some documentation requirements can make it harder for participants to prove their eligibility—especially low-paid workers.³²² Behavioral science research has shown that one of the ways to reduce poverty is to decrease the cognitive effort that participants must put forth when applying for programs. Stringent documentation requirements do the opposite, as workers are more likely to miss a detail and lose out on the benefits they need.³²³

Some states have waiting periods: a period a worker must wait after the qualifying event occurs before they receive benefits (though most have exceptions). Waiting periods were included in the first TDI programs and the SSDI program as a means to save program funds, reduce administrative burdens,³²⁴ and make it, "unprofitable for a person who can work not to do so," according to the Congressional Research Service.³²⁵ Yet, waiting periods can be unworkable for people with urgent health or caregiving needs, who require immediate financial assistance to receive treatment. Waiting periods can deter low- paid workers from taking leave or disproportionately affect their ability to meet their basic needs.³²⁶ In some states, workers are able to use their paid sick days or PTO during the waiting period, but low-paid workers are also less likely to have access to these benefits.³²⁷

In New Jersey's TDI program the first seven days of leave are unpaid, but participants can be paid retroactively if their disability continues for 22 days or more.³²⁸ The state's Family Leave Insurance (FLI) program has a one-week waiting period which will be eliminated in 2020.^{329, 330} Washington's paid leave



program includes a seven-day waiting period, unless the qualifying event is the birth, foster placement, or adoption of a child.³³¹ Other states, like New York,³³² do not have a waiting period. California eliminated waiting periods in 2018 to provide benefits more quickly to those with urgent caregiving needs.³³³

Safe Leave

Some states offer sick and safe leave to workers, though most state PFML programs do not cover safe leave.^{334,} ³³⁵ Sick and safe leave programs typically expand on sick days policies to allow workers to use accrued time off for both sick leave *and* leave related to domestic violence and intimate partner violence (DV/IPV), stalking, and sexual assault.³³⁶ In some cases, workers can also use these policies to attend to family members who have experienced DV/IPV, stalking, and sexual assault.³³⁷ Although safe leave has typically been included in sick days policies, rather than PFML policies, paid leave policies could include DV/IPV, stalking, and sexual assault as qualifying events.

Although safe leave has typically been included in sick days policies, rather than PFML policies, paid leave policies could include DV/IPV, stalking, and sexual assault as qualifying events. A 2018 survey from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention estimated that 1 in 4 women and 1 in 10 men have experienced, "sexual violence, physical violence and/or stalking by an intimate partner during their lifetime." ³³⁸ American Indian women face higher rates of intimate partner violence and sexual assault than any other group, with recent studies finding that 39 percent of American Indian women had such an experience.³³⁹

Victim-survivors of DV/IPV, stalking, and sexual assault need sufficient time off to meet their needs, which may include medical treatment and counseling, relocation, assistance from a victims' services organization, or related legal activities.³⁴⁰ According to the Institute for Women's Policy Research, victim-survivors who experienced stalking "lost an average of 10.1 days of paid work per year, those who were [sexual assault victim-survivors] lost an average of 8.1 days per year, and those who experienced physical violence lost 7.2 days per year."³⁴¹

Safe leave policies help provide economic security to victim-survivors of DV/IPV, stalking, and sexual assault as they seek safety and care. Indeed, economic security is a major concern for many victim-survivors. The National Network to End Domestic Violence found that concerns over the ability to provide for themselves and their children are a major reason DV/IPV victims stay in abusive relationships.³⁴²

Among states, New Jersey provides paid leave for victim-survivors of DV/IPV and sexual assault under its PFL program, and under Oregon's newly passed PFML law, DV victim-survivors will qualify for paid leave.^{343, 344} Internationally, New Zealand allows ten days of paid leave for DV/IPV victim-survivors, as does the Philippines.³⁴⁵ Many provinces in Canada also have sick and safe leave laws.^{346, 347} The proposed Healthy Families Act would guarantee seven days of sick and safe leave for workers at businesses with over 15 employees.³⁴⁸

Family Definition

The way that family is defined determines who workers can take paid and/or job-protected time off to care for. Over 80 percent of households do not fit into the "traditional" nuclear family model, which consists of a married couple along with their minor children.³⁴⁹ Gender-neutral family definitions that include domestic Gender-neutral family definitions that include domestic partners are more inclusive of the diversity of families, including same-sex couples, unmarried partners, and blended families.



partners are more inclusive of the diversity of families, including same-sex couples, unmarried partners, and blended families.^{350, 351}

Family definitions should also include extended and chosen family. In 2014, 85 million individuals disproportionately people of color—lived with extended family members³⁵² and almost one-third (32 percent) of U.S. adults have taken time off to provide care for chosen family members or friends.³⁵³ A 2017 CAP survey of U.S. residents found that LGBTQ+ workers and workers with disabilities were especially likely to take time off to care for chosen family members.³⁵⁴

The FMLA family definition is limited to child, spouse (now including same-sex spouses),³⁵⁵ parent (including adoptive and foster parents),³⁵⁶ and relatives who cared for the individual as a child, which can include siblings and grandparents.^{357, 358} However, many are excluded, including partners in unmarried couples, surrogate parents,³⁵⁹ other extended family members, and chosen family members.³⁶⁰

Most state laws have broader definitions of family than the FMLA. Some include siblings,³⁶¹ grandparents, domestic partners, parents-in-law, and/or chosen family.³⁶² The New Jersey program is one of the most inclusive, recognizing relationships "equivalent to a family relationship" (chosen families)³⁶³ and caregivers for victim-survivors of DV/IPV or sexual assault, for example.³⁶⁴ Eleven OECD countries define family broadly, including "partners, cohabitants, individuals residing in the same household, and loved ones."³⁶⁵

Care for Children

Often, the responsibility to care for children is shared among multiple family members.³⁶⁶ Paid leave policies should reflect this reality. For example, inclusive family definitions can allow a single parent recovering from childbirth or caring for a newly adopted or fostered child to be supported by another family caregiver, such as their own parent or sibling. Inclusive definitions can also allow grandparents or siblings of children with disabilities or other medical conditions to provide care when a parent is unavailable or if a parent has developed their own care needs. Bundling parental and family leave together can help broaden the definition of family in this way.³⁶⁷

Proposed changes to state PFL policies, such as the one put forth in California's 2019-2020 budget, would allow other close family members besides parents to take up to six months of paid leave to care for a newborn or newly adopted child.^{368, 369} Evidence shows that allowing other family members to take paid leave alongside parents increases the amount of care available to children and reduces the burden on any individual or employer,³⁷⁰ which may particularly help women—who provide a disproportionate amount of caregiving in families.^{371, 372}

Recommendation 2: Cover a Broad Range of Medical, Safety, & Caregiving Needs

Paid leave programs should cover a broad range of medical, safety, and caregiving needs, including the needs of military families and of DV/IPV, stalking, and sexual assault victim-survivors. Waiting periods should be minimized or left out, as medical and caregiving needs can be unforeseeable and urgent. The definition of family should be expansive and include same-sex partners, domestic partners, extended family, and chosen family. Inclusive definitions of family are important and help promote equity for members of the LGBTQ+ community and people with disabilities, in particular.

WHAT IS THE NATURE OF PFML BENEFITS & PROTECTIONS?

Paid leave policies should be responsive to the realities of workers' lives. This means reasonable leave



durations, job and retaliation protection, adequate wage replacement, the option to take leave intermittently, and health coverage continuation, all of which can help ensure the effectiveness of paid leave.³⁷³

DURATION

Duration refers to the length of time away from work a leave policy provides. The appropriate duration depends on the nature of the health issue or other qualifying event for which leave is taken and is often determined by a doctor's medical certification then verified by the corresponding insurance agency.^{374, 375} Leave duration can vary within the same policy, as a worker could face one duration time limit for receiving wage replacement and another time limit for job protection, or varying duration depending on qualifying event. Sufficient durations help allow workers to address health and caregiving needs without undermining their financial security. Leave duration can be especially consequential for low-paid workers who may have limited savings and resources to cover health costs.³⁷⁶

Parental Leave

Leave for parents serves a variety of purposes, including caring for an infant and bonding with a newlyadopted or fostered child. (Time off for physical recovery from childbirth is usually covered by personal medical leave.) The duration of parental leave is consequential for the health and development of families and children. Paid leave can also ameliorate some of the major stresses of the transition to parenthood.³⁷⁷ Indeed, caring for a newborn can impose financial stress on new parents which has been shown to undermine parental health (e.g., weakened immune system and increased risk for depression), and black mothers are particularly at risk for these negative health effects.³⁷⁸

Many paid parental leave policies provide significantly less time off to care for children in single parent households, compared to two-parent households.³⁷⁹ Often, policies provide a certain length of leave per parent, which parents can take simultaneously or consecutively. This means that children of single parents get less time with a parent at home on paid leave than children in two-parent homes have access to. Five OECD countries permit single parents to take the same amount of leave as two-parent families get combined, while two countries have such policies just for single mothers.³⁸⁰

Existing leave policies provide varying leave durations for new parents. New York provides almost three months (12 weeks) of paid leave per parent—the longest duration of any state.³⁸¹ Nearly three-quarters of OECD countries offer six or more months of paid leave for mothers (at least 26 weeks).³⁸² Paid leave for fathers averages eight weeks in the OECD, though some member countries, such as Japan and South Korea, provide up to 12 months (52 weeks).³⁸³ In comparison, Japan and South Korea provide mothers up to 58 and 64.9 weeks of paid leave, respectively.³⁸⁴

A number of private companies have created their own paid leave policies for parents. Deloitte and Microsoft provide two of the most comprehensive policies in the private sector. At Deloitte, employees can take up to 16 weeks of paid family leave to care for a new child or a loved one with a serious health condition.³⁸⁵ Microsoft provides 20 weeks (approximately five months) of paid leave to those who have given birth and 12 weeks (approximately three months) to fathers, adoptive parents, and foster parents.³⁸⁶ In addition, Microsoft exclusively partners with suppliers who provide at least

Child development and labor market research suggests that six months of paid leave for each parent may offer the most benefits to families.

12 weeks (approximately three months) of paid parental-only leave to their employees.³⁸⁷



Parental & Child Health Outcomes

Sufficiently lengthy paid parental leave can significantly improve health and child development outcomes for workers and their families. Child development and labor market research suggests that six months of paid leave for each parent may offer the most benefits to families.^{388, 389, 390} In the early months of an infant's life, sufficient leave supports parents in breastfeeding, attending medical visits, and completing necessary immunizations, among other important aspects of care.³⁹¹ At around six months infants are also developing attachment patterns with their caregivers, which is important for their emotional and social development.³⁹² Paid leave can help parents directly provide higher quality child care for their infants, especially given the extremely high costs of child care in the U.S.³⁹³

Six months of paid parental leave can support parents in meeting their breastfeeding goals. The American Academy of Pediatrics and the World Health Organization recommend that infants be breastfed exclusively for the first six months.³⁹⁴ Breastfeeding for longer has been shown to promote improved cognitive development, reduce obesity risk, and reduce the risk of breast cancer and postpartum depression for women.³⁹⁵ Breastfeeding may also decrease the risk of postpartum hemorrhage.^{396, 397} one of the leading causes of maternal mortality in the U.S.³⁹⁸ However, mothers face increased barriers to breastfeeding when they return to work—in part because work places often fail to offer breastfeeding supports for mothers.³⁹⁹ This is especially consequential for women of color, and black women in particular, who face increased systemic barriers to breastfeeding.400

There is evidence to suggest that access to paid leave can ameliorate some of the racial disparities in child and maternal health outcomes. For example, a study on the effect of paid leave in five states found that access to paid maternity leave significantly reduced the likelihood of early birth and the share of low-weight births among black mothers.⁴⁰¹ Mothers of color—black, American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN) mothers especially—are at increased risk of maternal mortality,⁴⁰² low birth weight, and pre-term birth⁴⁰³ compared to their white counterparts.

A growing body of evidence points to the importance of paternity leave for health and development. A study of four OECD countries, including the U.S., indicated that longer paternity leave and increased paternal engagement with children is associated with higher cognitive test scores on average for their children.⁴⁰⁴ Evidence also suggests that increased paternal engagement reduces children's risk of developing behavioral challenges later in life and is linked to improved mental health outcomes⁴⁰⁵ and emotional stability.⁴⁰⁶ Paternity leave-taking can reduce overall family stress⁴⁰⁷ and improve sleep quality for both mother and newborn.⁴⁰⁸ Additionally, use of paternity leave, especially intermittent use, has been shown to reduce risk of postpartum health complications for mothers and improve their mental health outcomes.⁴⁰⁹

Employment & Economic Security Outcomes

Paid leave has meaningful implications for women's labor force participation and advancement.⁴¹⁰ Access to at least six months of job-protected paid leave increases the likelihood that women will return to their jobs.^{411,} ^{412, 413} The retention of women in the labor force can reduce gender wage gaps by enabling women to continue building tenure and experience in their jobs, which, in turn, can increase their earnings.414,415,416

Paid leave has meaningful implications for women's labor force participation and advancement.

Countries with at least six months of paid maternity leave have seen no short-term difference in economic output, instead seeing higher rates of labor force participation for women.⁴¹⁷ Since maternity leaves tend to



be longer than paternity leaves in most current policies, employers may assume that women are more likely to take longer periods of leave and discriminate against them as a result.^{418, 419} Offering equal lengths of leave for both parents may lessen that discrimination.⁴²⁰ Normalizing paid leave by creating a gender-neutral, standardized national policy could also help combat workplace discrimination.^{421, 422}

Paid leave policies that provide incentives for fathers to take leave can combat gender discrimination, interrupt the gender wage gap, and promote retention and job growth for women.^{423, 424} Findings from a 2018 study suggest that women in the workforce are often penalized when they have children,⁴²⁵ meaning they experience a negative shock in earnings.⁴²⁶ (Men, on the other hand, tend to experience the opposite effect, sometimes referred to as the "fatherhood bump.")⁴²⁷ According to the study's findings, mothers were less likely to be viewed as competent or recommended for hire, and had lower starting salaries compared to non-mothers and to men who were fathers.⁴²⁸ The disparate impact of parenthood also stems from employer assumptions that women will be more inclined to take leave from work or take on the majority of caregiving for a new child, relative to men.⁴²⁹

Paid leave policies can encourage men to take leave by setting aside time exclusively for paternity leave or providing bonuses if both parents take leave, for example.^{430, 431} Cultural shifts in gendered expectations around parental leave are crucial for women in the workplace, as is allowing and incentivizing fathers to take the same duration of leave as mothers. This can also reduce stigma around leave-taking—which is sometimes interpreted to mean low dedication to work.⁴³² Indeed, analysis of paid leave programs in OECD countries indicates that countries with policies that incentivize fathers to take leave had smaller gender gaps in labor force participation and supported mothers in returning to and remaining in the workforce.⁴³³

Family Caregiving Leave

Family caregiving leave (also referred to as family leave) is designed to allow workers to take time off to care for family members with a health problem or illness. The need for caregiving is growing and demand for caregiver support is projected to outpace the supply of caregivers as soon as 2030.⁴³⁴ The increasing costs of child care and long-term supports for people with disabilities and the elderly have made quality formal care unaffordable and inaccessible for many people.⁴³⁵ Family caregiving leave stands as one of the few available supports that can offer workers the flexibility to care for their loved ones without risking their financial security.⁴³⁶

State-level policies offer a range of 4 to 12 weeks (about one to three months) of family medical leave.^{437,} ⁴³⁸ Half of OECD countries⁴³⁹ provide at least three months of paid leave to care for one's children and have shown no adverse effects on labor force participation, unemployment, or economic growth.⁴⁴⁰ Eight OECD countries provide at least three months of paid leave to care for an adult family member.⁴⁴¹

Workers' family leave needs vary widely. For example, children with cancer may miss up to 31 days of school for treatment, and children with mood disorders may need inpatient treatment which can take up to a month, in addition to outpatient therapy.⁴⁴² Workers may also take paid leave to provide care for adult family members with such conditions.⁴⁴³ Care for the elderly may require hospital visits and caregiving during recovery time after health procedures.⁴⁴⁴

Personal Medical Leave

Personal medical leave typically covers an employee's own serious medical condition(s), including physical recovery from childbirth. State-level programs provide between two weeks (in the District of Columbia) and 52 weeks (in California) of paid leave for one's own health condition, with the majority providing around 12 to 30 weeks (approximately three to seven months).⁴⁴⁵ Of OECD countries, 28 have paid personal medical



leave for at least six months (26 weeks), with no effects seen on national economic output or unemployment rates.⁴⁴⁶

The duration of leave that a worker requires will depend on their condition. For example, heart attacks can often require a minimum of four weeks of recovery time with up to six months of follow-up appointments. Cancer, which often requires chemotherapy and/or radiation treatment, can require up to six months of continuous treatment, depending on the individual case.⁴⁴⁷ Chronic conditions like diabetes can require ongoing appointments and sometimes hospitalization.⁴⁴⁸

Time off from work can be especially crucial for women with pregnancy complications, who may need preventive care and treatment prenatally.⁴⁴⁹ Evidence suggests that taking paid leave before giving birth reduces the incidence of low birthweight and preterm birth.⁴⁵⁰ Leave taken up to four weeks before birth can yield other maternal health benefits—including reduced risk of birth by Cesarean section (C-section).⁴⁵¹ Birth by C-section increases the likelihood of stillbirth, preterm birth, and maternal mortality and morbidity, among other complications,⁴⁵² and typically requires up to eight weeks for full recovery postpartum.⁴⁵³

It is essential that policies provide a duration of leave that is generous enough to cover a wide variety of needs. However, the length of paid leave should not be so long as to significantly harm labor market outcomes, although the duration of leave is ultimately determined by a physician's medical certification.⁴⁵⁴ Research on OECD countries suggests that taking leave for longer than a year can, "damage future earnings prospects and make it more likely that people leave the labor force altogether."⁴⁵⁵ Some studies show that the negative effects of paid leave could start at the six month mark for women, through decreased wages⁴⁵⁶ by making it harder for women to move up within their organization due to the loss of on-the-job experience.⁴⁵⁷ These undesirable effects may be exacerbated by the gender discrimination that working women and working mothers face, in particular. The normalization of personal medical leave may be an important way to decrease the discrimination-related impacts on women—potentially lengthening the optimal duration for paid leave.

Health Coverage Continuity

Health coverage continuity is when workers continue to have access to their employer-provided health insurance with the same providers during their leave.⁴⁵⁸ New York's PFL law provides health coverage continuity,⁴⁵⁹ as does Washington's.⁴⁶⁰ Workers and their families need access to health insurance during periods of paid leave to afford the necessary treatment for their conditions avoid incurring debt for out-of-pocket medical costs.⁴⁶¹ Paid leave programs should require that workers have access to their health insurance while on leave.⁴⁶²

Recommendation 3: Provide Sufficient Time to Meet Workers' Needs

Six months of paid leave will generally meet workers' needs while promoting positive labor market and gender equity outcomes. Leave policies should be gender-neutral, and both fathers and mothers should have access to six months of parental leave per parent. Women should be able to take leave during pregnancy, rather than only after giving birth, if they choose. Single-parent families should have parental leave at parity with two-parent families. Appropriate leave durations support better financial, health, and child development outcomes for workers and their families.

INTERMITTENT & PART-TIME USE

Intermittent leave allows workers to take their paid leave in small increments, such as days or hours, instead



of in one longer block of time.⁴⁶³ This allows workers the flexibility to use their leave when they need it and save it when they do not. For example, a parent may need to take off part of a day for medical appointments for their child, or a worker might take leave occasionally to address their mental health needs.⁴⁶⁴

Part-time paid leave use can be particularly beneficial for new parents by enabling them to stagger their use of leave (and bring in more earnings by doing so).⁴⁶⁵ The staggering of leave can facilitate sharing of caregiving obligations between parents,^{466, 467, 468} as well as elder caregiving among adult children,⁴⁶⁹ or other relatives caring for people with disabilities.⁴⁷⁰ Some evidence suggests that policies that allow for part-time leave can help new mothers return to work earlier and remain in the workforce.⁴⁷¹

Workers with disabilities who require occasional medical attention and rest may particularly benefit from intermittent leave.⁴⁷² Overall, over 12 percent of the U.S. population—or some 41 million people—reports having a disability.⁴⁷³ A higher percentage of African Americans and American Indians have a disability compared to the white population.⁴⁷⁴ In part stemming from racial and ongoing labor market discrimination,⁴⁷⁵ people of color with disabilities are also more likely to work part time in low-paying jobs without access to leave.⁴⁷⁶

Intermittent leave could benefit those who experience symptoms related to menstruation, as well. A 2019 survey of over 30,000 women found that participants lost an average of nine days of productivity each year due to period pain.⁴⁷⁷ According to the study, 1 in 7 women surveyed took time off work due to their period symptoms.⁴⁷⁸ Intermittent leave (and other benefits like paid sick time and PTO) can provide greater flexibility in work hours for those who suffer from period pain and other symptoms related to menstruation—the study noted that flexibility in work hours could reduce the productivity effects.⁴⁷⁹

California, Massachusetts, New Jersey, New York, and the District of Columbia permit intermittent leave.^{480,} ^{481, 482} A survey of the workers in states with PFL programs found that shorter increments (e.g., granted one day at a time, like in New Jersey and New York,⁴⁸³ or one hour at a time, as in California), are more effective at meeting workers' needs than longer increments (e.g., in Rhode Island, where leave can only be split into week-long increments).⁴⁸⁴ The hour-long increments permitted by California's program are particularly beneficial;⁴⁸⁵ an individual may, for example, want to take leave for a couple of hours once a week to go to a medical appointment without having to use a full-day of paid leave.⁴⁸⁶

Twelve OECD countries provide intermittent paid medical leave for personal health needs.⁴⁸⁷ At least half of the countries with paid family leave allow intermittent leave.⁴⁸⁸ Studies of OECD countries have found that intermittent paid leave can help workers with chronic diseases, increase workforce participation by allowing earlier returns to work,⁴⁸⁹ and promote work-life balance.⁴⁹⁰ A study in France found that the introduction of intermittent paid leave helped mothers with lower educational attainment remain attached to the labor market after childbirth.⁴⁹¹ A study in Sweden found that intermittent leave for fathers of newborns led to improved mental health and a reduced risk of postpartum health issues among mothers who were also on leave.⁴⁹²

Recommendation 4: Allow Intermittent & Incremental Leave

Paid leave policies should include intermittent leave and allow workers to take their leave in short increments, such as hours and days. Intermittent leave and short increments allow workers to take the leave they need, when they need it—and to work when they can. This is especially important for people with disabilities or chronic health conditions.



WAGE REPLACEMENT

Wage replacement refers to the percent of a worker's salary or wages they receive during their leave. A sufficiently high wage replacement rate makes it more likely that workers will be able to afford to take the leave they need. Progressive wage replacement schemes (wherein lower-paid workers have a higher replacement rate than higher-paid workers) and wage replacement caps are tools that can help ensure that low-paid workers receive sufficient wage replacement while containing program costs. Higher-paid workers are also more likely to have savings to help finance periods of leave compared to lower-paid workers.⁴⁹³ State program wage replacement rates range from 50 percent (New York for personal medical-only leave) to 100 percent (Oregon) with varying caps for maximum benefits.⁴⁹⁴ A number of states use progressive wage replacement.

Colorado legislators put forth the FAMLI Act, which would provide an estimated 65-95 percent weekly wage replacement to workers depending on their income.⁴⁹⁵ A simulation of the proposed law found that if five percent of eligible workers participated, a replacement rate of 90 to 100 percent of weekly wages for the lowest-paid workers would require a premium of less than one percent (0.678 percent) of total state payroll to cover the program's costs.⁴⁹⁵

Twenty-five OECD countries have at least an 80 percent wage replacement rate for maternity-only leave while 19 have this rate or higher for paid medical-only leave.⁴⁹⁷ Eighteen OECD countries provide at least an 80 percent rate for leave related to children's health needs, and 15 provide at least an 80 percent wage replacement rate for leave to care for adult family members.⁴⁹⁸

Evidence from OECD countries suggests that wage replacement rates must be at least 80 percent for lowpaid workers to reduce poverty and promote gender equity.⁴⁹⁹ However, rates higher than 80 percent may be needed to help the lowest-paid workers, especially in places where the minimum wage is insufficient to meet workers' basic needs.⁵⁰⁰ A wage replacement rate of at least 80 percent can also help some middle class families meet their financial obligations, including housing payments, and out-of-pocket medical expenses.⁵⁰¹ This is also compatible with a healthy national economy, as studies on OECD countries found no significant negative effects of an 80 percent wage replacement rate on GDP growth or unemployment rates.⁵⁰²

Progressive Wage Replacement & Wage Replacement Caps

In many paid leave programs, wages are replaced at a sliding scale so that low- and middle-income people receive a high enough share of their usual wages for leave to be affordable. This progressive wage replacement is combined with a wage replacement cap that places a dollar limit on how much of a worker's wages can be replaced in a certain period of time.

Progressive wage replacement schemes and caps vary. In most state-based programs, caps are "set as a percentage of the state's average weekly wage, ranging from 50 percent to 100 percent."⁵⁰³ Oregon's PFML law, passed in June 2019, includes the most progressive wage replacement policy among states— starting in 2023 Oregon will provide 100 percent wage replacement for workers who make less than 65 percent of average weekly wages (AWW), capped at \$1,215 per week.⁵⁰⁴ The state's maximum payment amount is indexed to the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and will be adjusted annually.⁵⁰⁵ California also uses progressive wage replacement⁵⁰⁶ and includes a \$1,252 per week cap for 2019, which will be adjusted annually based on the state's AWW.⁵⁰⁷ The District of Columbia compensates low-paid workers (workers with earnings at or below \$840 a week on average) at 90 percent of their AWW.^{508, 509} In 2021, Massachusetts will implement an 80 percent replacement rate for wages below half of the state's AWW with no cap, and an 80 percent wage replacement with a cap of 50 percent of the state AWW for workers with incomes higher than 50



percent of the state's AWW.⁵¹⁰ In countries with maternity leave benefits, such as the Netherlands and Norway, mothers with above average earnings receive a wage replacement that is about 30 percentage points lower than those making less than average earnings.⁵¹¹

Wage Replacement & Take-Up Rates

Insufficient wage replacement rates can make it unaffordable for some workers to take the leave they are entitled to. For example, research from California shows that even among workers who were aware of the state's original PFL law, almost one-third did not apply because the 55 percent wage replacement rate (with a cap) was too low⁵¹² and low-paid workers were particularly unlikely to apply.⁵¹³ The low wage replacement rate in California was raised to a range of 60 to 70 percent based on these concerns.⁵¹⁵

Other states provide further examples. In Rhode Island, where the wage replacement rate is 60 percent of wages with a cap of \$795 per week, 80 percent of survey respondents who were qualified to take paid leave but chose not to said they declined because they could not afford the pay cut.⁵¹⁶ In New Jersey, where the replacement rate is 66.6 percent of wages with a cap of \$615 per week,⁵¹⁷ studies have found that the rate was too low for some fathers with low incomes to afford to take leave⁵¹⁸ and, while average nominal weekly benefits increased between 2009 to 2011, the real value of those benefits declined because wages had not kept up with inflation.⁵¹⁹ In 2020, the wage replacement rate will rise to 85 percent of weekly wages with a cap of \$860 per week.

Evidence from OECD countries indicated that a 67 percent replacement rate was needed to facilitate even modest paternity leave take-up rates.⁵²⁰ Findings from OECD countries also suggest that a high wage replacement rate better supports gender equity by improving gender parity in paid leave utilization rates,⁵²¹ reducing gender gaps in labor force participation,⁵²² and promoting equal involvement in child care between parents.⁵²³

Recommendation 5: Ensure Sufficient Wage Replacement

Wage replacement rates of 80 to 100 percent are necessary for low- and middle-income workers to be able to meet their financial needs while taking leave. These rates also better support gender equity. Wage replacement schemes should be progressive and avoid creating cliff effects where workers' benefits are abruptly and significantly reduced or altogether cut off upon reaching a certain income threshold. Sufficient wage replacement can improve take-up rates—especially for low-paid workers.

JOB PROTECTION & ANTI-RETALIATION PROTECTIONS

Job protection and anti-retaliation protections are core components of equitable paid leave policies. Job protection ensures that workers have the same or an equivalent job when they come back from their period of leave,⁵²⁴ while anti-retaliation provisions protect workers from adverse consequences such as pay reduction, dismissal, or demotion.⁵²⁵ The FMLA includes provisions that protect employees from retaliation and discrimination in hiring, promotion, or disciplinary action.⁵²⁶ Paid leave policies must account for widespread discrimination in the workplace. Despite federal laws banning discrimination and retaliation, many workers—people of color, people with disabilities, and women, in particular—continue to experience employment and workplace discrimination.^{527, 528} Findings from the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission indicate that 34 percent of employment discrimination claims in 2017 were race-based,⁵²⁹ about one-third were disability-based,⁵³⁰ and 30 percent were gender-based.⁵³¹



States vary on job protection and anti-retaliation provisions. For most PFML state laws, the only workers who with access to job protection are those who receive it under the FMLA (and the FMLA leaves two in five workers out of job protections).^{532, 533} Currently, Oregon is the only state to include job protection for paid personal medical leave separately from what one may qualify for under the FMLA.^{534, 535} New York's family leave law includes both job and anti-retaliation protections.⁵³⁶ New York has also created a transparent process for responding to complaints of noncompliance, retaliation, and discrimination.⁵³⁷ Rhode Island provides job-protected family leave with anti-retaliation protections.⁵³⁹ Massachusetts currently has the strongest job protection and anti-retaliation protections.^{540, 541} Nearly all (32 of 33) OECD countries with paid maternal leave and 20 of 32 with paternal leave guarantee job protection, though job protection is less common in countries with shorter paternity leaves.542

These protections make it more likely that workers will take the leave that they are entitled to. A survey of those who took job-protected PFL under Rhode Island law found that 45 percent of leave-takers surveyed would not have taken the leave if it was not job-protected.543 Studies have also shown that eligible workers may not take leave out of fear of losing their jobs, being demoted, or overlooked for promotions.⁵⁴⁴ One survey of California employers and workers found that more than one-third of respondents did not take paid leave because they were worried it would affect their opportunities for promotions or cause them to lose their job.545

Job protection can also help address racial disparities in leave-taking.⁵⁴⁶ Workers of color are likelier than white workers to face discrimination, retaliation, or job loss if they need to take leave.⁵⁴⁷ Black and Latinx workers are more likely to work in contract jobs and other jobs where workplace discrimination protections do not always apply.548,549

Job protection and anti-retaliation protections may be an important way to support fathers in taking leave. In a study of parents with low incomes in New Jersey, some fathers reported that they did not participate in the Family Leave Insurance (FLI) program due to the lack of job protection.⁵⁵⁰ In New Jersey, many fathers of color and with low incomes reported that they did not take paid leave to bond with or care for their new child because it was not job-protected.⁵⁵¹ In California, fathers were more likely to take leave for the birth of their first child than for any subsequent children.⁵⁵² This pattern may stem from a lack of job protection in California's law, as employers are more likely to approve leave for the birth of a first child.⁵⁵³

These protections are also of particular importance for women—especially women of color and mothers. Women who become mothers often face a penalty in the workplace. One study found that, on average, a woman's hourly wages drop by four percent for each child she has.⁵⁵⁴ In contrast, men's wages increase by an average of six percent when they become fathers, when accounting for experience, education, marital status, and hours worked. 555, 556 Black and Latinx mothers are more likely than white mothers to be terminated from their jobs due to taking leave.⁵⁵⁷ Women of color are more likely than white women to be caregivers and breadwinners for their families, meaning they have less flexibility to leave the workforce to meet health or caregiving needs.⁵⁵⁸ Over 80 percent of black mothers, 67 percent of AIAN mothers, and 52 percent of Latinx mothers are major or sole providers for their families, compared to 50 percent of white mothers.559

Recommendation 6: Guarantee Job Protection & Anti-Retaliation Protections

Paid leave policies should include job protections and anti-retaliation protections. These policies should also include adequate enforcement of protections. Job protections and anti-retaliation provisions would help ensure that marginalized worker populations, in particular, fully realize the benefits of paid leave.



HOW IS PFML POLICY STRUCTURED & ADMINISTERED?

The structure of a paid leave policy, including how it is financed and administered, and how potential beneficiaries are made aware of and educated about the program, can impact access and the administrative burden on employees, employers, and the government.

FINANCING & DELIVERY STRUCTURE

Research suggests that the social insurance model funded through payroll taxes and the general revenue model are both strong financing and delivery structures for equitable paid leave policies. In contrast, employer mandate programs are usually financed and administered by employers themselves, which may make these programs less effective at inhibiting hiring discrimination. A tax credit structure is unlikely to benefit those who need paid leave the most because employer participation would be voluntary—and marginalized workers are less likely to be employed at businesses that offer paid leave.

Social Insurance

Social insurance is a method of providing benefits to people that is run by a government. Paid leave programs with a contributory social insurance structure are typically funded by payroll taxes levied on either employees and employers, or both.⁵⁶⁰ The money is put into an insurance trust fund which the government uses to administer the program and disburse benefits.⁵⁶¹ (Such funds are sometimes supplemented by additional government appropriations.^{562, 563}) Because employers do not pay the full cost of leave, the social insurance model can help combat hiring discrimination, particularly against women who may become mothers.⁵⁶⁴

Social insurance is the most commonly selected design for existing state-level PFML programs.⁵⁶⁵ The social insurance model has been successful for other programs at the national level (e.g., Social Security).⁵⁶⁶ Additionally, the vast majority of paid leave programs in OECD nations across the world fund their programs "through social security or public funds, or through a combination of employer liability and public funds."⁵⁶⁷

Social insurance is the most commonly selected design for existing state-level PFML programs.

Most state-level PFL programs employ a payroll tax of approximately one percent that applies to wages up to a cap, which is relatively modest compared to Social Security payroll taxes.⁵⁶⁸ Some states have a payroll tax on both employees and employers.⁵⁶⁹ As of 2019, the District of Columbia's paid leave program is the only one financed using an employer-only tax.⁵⁷⁰ That decision stemmed from a unique legal prohibition against taxing non-resident workers.⁵⁷¹ A worker-side tax along with a tax on employers can make workers more likely to view the program as an investment that is shared between themselves and their employer. This dynamic could help increase take-up rates and bolster public support.⁵⁷²

Health insurance and paid leave benefits would not be tied to the employer under a social insurance model. These benefits would be administered through the government, thus relieving workers of legal and other obligations to return to their prior employer post-leave or to pay their employer back for benefits if they do not return. Under the FMLA, if an employee does not return to their job after their period of unpaid leave, they may be required to pay their employer back for the cost of their health insurance during their leave, unless they quit for an FMLA qualifying reason.⁵⁷³ This can discourage low-paid workers from taking leave or cause them financial harm.⁵⁷⁴



Social insurance paid leave programs can also allow more flexibility for workers who switch jobs compared to employer mandates and tax credits because social insurance programs are administered by the government rather than by one's employer.⁵⁷⁵ However, some workers who hold multiple jobs may be ineligible for paid leave if the program includes a job-specific tenure requirement,⁵⁷⁶ although each employer pays into the system via payroll taxes (a cost that is likely passed on to workers in the form of decreased wages). In the Unemployment Insurance (UI) system (which is structured as a social insurance program), some multiple job-holders may be at a disadvantage in this way.⁵⁷⁷ The social insurance model can be designed to include multiple job-holders by rejecting or minimizing job-specific tenure requirements.

Risk Pooling

Social insurance models can pool risk.⁵⁷⁸ When social insurance programs are broadly inclusive and have limited or no options to opt out, more workers and employers participate.⁵⁷⁹ A large pool, in turn, more effectively diffuses risk and reduces the cost to individual participants and employers (though, ultimately, program cost will also depend, in part, on program utilization rates).⁵⁸⁰ When high risk is offset and diffuse under a social insurance model, premiums and other costs to each payer also become more predictable, meaning that all employers and workers can receive similar benefits and prices regardless of health status and other demographic factors that predict propensity to take leave.⁵⁸¹ Governments might have an advantage relative to private insurers when it comes to administering a social insurance program, as a government agency could pool risk across an entire jurisdiction's workforce and leverage existing payroll systems to collect contributions.⁵⁸²

General Revenue

In PFML programs funded through general revenues, the government pays for the cost of benefits through its general budget instead of levying dedicated payroll taxes on workers or employers.⁵⁸³ Instead of applying wage replacement rates, most policies of this kind provide benefits at a flat or modest rate,⁵⁸⁴ although proposals exist that provide wage replacement funded through general revenues.⁵⁸⁵ Australia uses a flat rate model and gives workers a benefit equal to the country's minimum wage. New Zealand also uses this system for parental leave.⁵⁸⁶ Other OECD countries, such as Germany and Luxembourg, use general revenues to finance paid parental-only leave,⁵⁸⁷ and others still, like Portugal and Italy, use general revenues to fund paid parental-only leave for certain workers, such as social assistance recipients and workers in specific industries.⁵⁸⁸

General revenues can be advantageous for financing paid leave policies because they incentivize greater support from employers and businesses, as they do not directly bear the cost burden under this structure.⁵⁸⁹ For example, New Zealand was able to provide a longer duration of parental-only leave with limited employer objections because the extension would not be financed directly by the businesses.⁵⁹⁰

Conversely, implementing a general revenue structure for paid leave, particularly in the U.S. context, could result in a higher general tax burden,⁵⁹¹ (as could a social insurance model) along with a greater budget deficit⁵⁹² or funding cuts to other assistance programs.⁵⁹³ With general revenue financing, policymakers may find it easier to restrict eligibility on a needs basis to manage costs, as is the case in Australia, where paid leave benefits are available only to workers with annual incomes below a certain threshold (\$150,000 AUD or \$105,232 in 2019 USD).⁵⁹⁴

Employer Mandate

Employer mandates require employers to offer paid leave to workers. Generally, employers would either



pay for the leave out of pocket or by purchasing private insurance plans.⁵⁹⁵ Sometimes the government provides some of the funding for the program⁵⁹⁶ or employees might contribute.⁵⁹⁷ Under this system, employers look at employees' chance of using leave or how much leave they have taken in the past to determine how much premiums should cost.⁵⁹⁸ Employers generally are not in favor of an employer mandate because of the added costs to them, including administrative Employer mandate programs require government oversight to ensure that employers do not discriminate during the hiring process against those they perceive as more likely to take leave.

costs.⁵⁹⁹ Participation rates could be high, but tempered by fear of facing consequences for taking leave, and discomfort with sharing personal, sensitive medical information with employers directly rather than sharing one's information with a government agency.⁶⁰⁰

Employer mandate programs require government oversight to ensure that employers do not discriminate during the hiring process against those they perceive as more likely to take leave. This could be done through the U.S. Department of Labor or Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. There is no model for using an employer mandate structure for a national PFML program, though some countries have provided maternity leave in this way⁶⁰¹ and Hawaii does so for its TDI program.⁶⁰² Countries with using employer mandates have seen increased employment discrimination against women and gender wage gaps because, under this structure, risk is not pooled and women are as seen as being more likely to take leave or have family obligations.^{603, 604}

Employer Tax Credit

Under an employer tax credit financing structure, the government provides employers a tax credit for a portion of wages paid to employees while on leave. Rather than guaranteeing access to all workers, this structure rewards voluntary employer behavior.^{605, 606} This puts low-paid workers at a disadvantage, as they are less likely to work for businesses that offer leave. Additionally, tax credits are likely most beneficial for large companies, which have more resources to cover the expenses of paid leave relative to smaller businesses.^{607, 608} Nonprofit organizations are unlikely to benefit from tax credits since these types of employers are typically exempt from federal taxes, and employer tax credits tend to be non-refundable.^{609, 610, 611} Government employers may be excluded from receiving the credit, as is the case with the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) employer tax credit.⁶¹² Further, employer tax credits will likely leave out self-employed workers and workers whose employers are unable to afford to provide paid leave even with the tax credit.⁶¹³

An employer tax credit for PFML was established in the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA).⁶¹⁴ The nonrefundable credit compensates employers who replace at least 50 percent of their employees' wages based on income from the year before (beginning in 2017) for up to 12 weeks of paid leave in accordance with the FMLA, and can be claimed for years 2018 and 2019.⁶¹⁵ The TCJA tax credit covers 12.5-25 percent⁶¹⁶ of paid leave benefits paid to employees who earned \$72,000 or less in 2017, in an effort to target paid leave benefits toward middle-class and low-paid workers.⁶¹⁷ Since the TCJA tax credit only covers up to a quarter of paid leave costs and would be paid at the end of the year, it provides limited incentives and resources for companies to start providing paid leave.⁶¹⁸

Employer tax credits have been put forth in national paid leave proposals, including that of Senator Marco Rubio during his presidential run.³ Rubio's proposal called for an employer tax credit at 25 percent of wages

³ The Rubio proposal was the forerunner to what ended up in the TCJA. Rubio walked away from this proposal after his presidential run, concluding that social insurance (albeit through Social Security "pull forward") would be more effective. See: "Rubio, Romney, Wagner, Crenshaw Introduce Bill Giving Parents an Option for Paid Family Leave." Marco Rubio, U.S. Senator for Florida, 27 March 2019. Available at https://www.rubio.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/2019/3/rubio-romney-wagner-crenshaw-introduce-bill-giving- parents-an-option-for-paid-family-leave.

REPORT: "The Paid Family and Medical Leave Opportunity: What Research Tells Us About Designing a Paid Leave Program that Works for All" July 2019 <u>paidleave.us</u> <u>georgetownpoverty.org</u>



paid to employees taking leave for up to 12 weeks,⁶¹⁹ capped at \$4,000 per employee per year.⁶²⁰ An analysis of Rubio's proposal found that the benefits would tend to accrue to employers who were already providing paid leave.^{621, 622} A similar tax credit was proposed in the Strong Families Act, introduced by Senators Deb Fischer (R-NE) and Angus King (I-ME).⁶²³ The proposal would provide employers with a tax credit if they offer at least two weeks of paid leave time, separate from vacation or sick leave, to their employees.⁶²⁴ Under the proposal, employers would receive 25 percent of the wages paid to employees on leave capped at \$3,000 per employee per year.⁶²⁵ The tax credit would be available to all employers regardless of size, and the proposal includes anti-retaliation protection for workers who participate in the program.⁶²⁶

Recommendation 7: Structure Financing to Pool Risk & Limit Hiring Discrimination

Paid leave programs should be structured as social insurance models (involving payroll taxes on employees, employers, or both) and/or funded through general revenues. The social insurance model pools risk and is more likely to provide continuity in access to benefits for workers. Employer mandates are more likely to result in hiring discrimination, and employer tax credits reward voluntary employer behavior rather than create a guarantee of access to paid leave for workers.

BOX 3: THOUGH BENEFICIAL TO WORKERS, TAX CREDITS CANNOT ENSURE INCLUSIVE & COMPREHENSIVE PAID LEAVE

In recent years, policymakers and experts have put forth proposals that leverage the tax code to either explicitly or implicitly expand access to paid leave for workers. For example, the proposed Earned Income Leave Benefit (EILB) is modeled after the Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC) and would provide paid leave. Evidence that married women with children work fewer hours when someone in their household receives the EITC⁶²⁷ has led some policymakers to suggest that a sufficiently high Child Tax Credit (CTC) could eliminate the need for paid leave for parents.

The EITC and CTC are not a replacement for paid leave programs, however. They are not designed to provide wage replacement, job protection, or other important aspects of paid leave programs. What's more, tax credits are usually dispersed annually, which limits their usefulness for covering monthly expenses like rent.⁶²⁸ Further, workers who operate in the informal sector (e.g., some domestic workers) and are unable to file taxes do not have access to tax credits.⁶²⁹

Nonetheless, efforts to expand tax credits are important. Indeed, a significant body of evidence indicates that the EITC and CTC combat poverty, boost employment, and improve child development outcomes.⁶³⁰ Additionally, the EITC helps to offset payroll taxes,⁶³¹ which may help low-paid workers who contribute to paid leave programs through taxes on their wages. Policymakers have proposed to expand access to tax credits to include unpaid caregivers and others who do not earn wages. Such expansions could be especially important for households that do not include a worker who is eligible for paid leave (e.g., households with a single, stay-at-home parent).

The Earned Income Leave Benefit (EILB)

Modelled after the EITC, the EILB would create a paid leave benefit capped at \$3,500 over 12 weeks of leave for workers with annual incomes below \$28,000.⁶³² Workers who qualify for leave under the FMLA would be eligible.⁶³³ The EILB was proposed in 2016 by the American Action Forum as a less expensive alternative to the FAMILY Act,⁶³⁴ and leave benefits are projected to accrue primarily to individuals with incomes below 200 percent of the federal poverty line (FPL).⁶³⁵

Strengthening the EITC and the CTC

The EITC supports low-paid workers by providing a lump sum payment each year to qualifying individuals and families after filing their tax returns.⁶³⁶ The CTC works in a similar way. Structuring paid leave benefits as taxable income could support low-paid workers who qualify for the EITC and CTC by increasing the tax credit they would receive.⁶³⁷

Policymakers have endeavored to expand these important tax credits. Introduced by Senator Michael Bennet (D-CO) and Representative Rosa DeLauro (D-CT), the American Family Act would increase funding for the Child Tax Credit (CTC), expand eligibility, and make the credit fully refundable.^{638, 639} Unlike the current structure, which provides the lump sum payment annually, the payment would be disbursed monthly to more effectively support families in meeting their monthly expenses.⁶⁴⁰ The Working Families Tax Relief (WFTR) Act, proposed by Representatives Dan Kildee (D-MI) and Dwight Evans (D-PA), would expand both the EITC and CTC.⁶⁴¹

Caregiver EITC

While the EITC and CTC exclude those who do not receive wages for work, a caregiver EITC would modernize the EITC to provide credits to millions of unpaid caregivers in low-income households, many of whom are stay-at-home parents, caregivers for adult loved ones, or parents enrolled in school full-time.⁶⁴² A caregiver EITC would enable caregivers of children and vulnerable adults to receive a full EITC refund (up to \$4,000 a year),⁶⁴³ recognizing that caregiving is a form of work.⁶⁴⁴ However, childless adults who face barriers to employment and adults who do not have custody of their children would be excluded.⁶⁴⁵ The caregiver EITC idea has been included in a number of legislative proposals including the Cost-of-Living Refund and the EITC Modernization Act.⁶⁴⁶

Cost-of-Living Refund

Spearheaded by the Economic Security Project, the Cost-of-Living Refund proposal includes a caregiver credit, similar to a caregiver EITC, which would provide benefits for unpaid caregivers, along with fulltime students with low incomes.⁶⁴⁷ EITC recipients could also opt to receive their benefits monthly.⁶⁴⁸ It is estimated that the Cost-of-Living Refund would reach about 40 percent of households (153.7 million people), lift an estimated 14.7 million out of poverty, and cut the poverty rate by a third.⁶⁴⁹ A number of policymakers have embraced the Cost-of-Living Refund in policy platforms and proposed bills—including Senator Cory Booker (D-NJ), Senator Sherrod Brown (D-OH) and Representative Ro Khanna, along with Representative Bonnie Watson Coleman (D-NJ) who proposed the EITC Modernization Act.⁶⁵⁰

ADMINISTRATION

When enacting PFML, an administrative body will need to be either created or, if an existing agency is chosen, expanded to administer the PFML program. This decision is linked to other key decisions regarding how the program will be structured and delivered, and whether states or the federal government will have ultimate administrative responsibilities. Regardless of the specifics, the chosen administrative body should be well-suited to undertake the following core functions:

- 1. Conduct outreach and education;
- 2. Determine whether a worker is eligible based on rules for program participation;651



- 3. Determine whether a worker is experiencing a leave-qualifying event;⁶⁵²
- 4. Calculate, process, and disperse benefits;⁶⁵³ and
- 5. Process and address appeals claims where a worker's benefits are initially denied.⁶⁵⁴

Paid leave programs should be administered through a public agency rather than private industry to leverage access to a wider base of contributions and existing payroll tax-collection systems. One option is to have the Social Security Administration (SSA) administer a new national program. Indeed, this is the approach that is proposed in the FAMILY Act.

States vary in how they administer existing paid leave programs. A few administer their programs through employment security agencies and rely on the administrative infrastructures of existing TDI programs— others rely on existing UI infrastructures. The paid parental-only leave plan put forth in the Trump Administration's FY 2018 budget would be administered jointly through states' UI programs and the federal government starting in 2020.⁶⁵⁵ States would have the flexibility to set benefit levels.⁶⁵⁶

A National Paid Leave Program

A national program could use SSA's existing administrative infrastructure (though the FAMILY Act does propose creating a new office within the SSA to run the program).⁶⁵⁷ This would build upon the agency's existing expertise in the five core functions noted above. As the agency administering a number of programs that range from retirement benefits to disability insurance,⁶⁵⁸ SSA houses considerable expertise in determining eligibility, calculating and dispersing benefit payments, and processing appeals claims. Additionally, SSA already collects earnings data for almost all workers in the U.S., allowing for the SSA to determine eligibility and calculate paid leave benefits amounts while minimizing reporting burdens on employees and self-employed workers.⁶⁵⁹ SSA has numerous processing centers and regional offices, as well as field offices in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, and the U.S. territories.⁶⁶⁰ SSA conducts outreach and promotes public awareness of programs through its various regional offices,⁶⁶¹ and produces general information materials in various formats and languages.⁶⁶²

Primary administrative responsibility is best-placed at the federal level—and SSA is an ideal option. Placing the primary administrative responsibility at the state level, on the other hand, could result in uneven implementation and, where funded at the state level, structural underfunding. The UI experience suggests that state competition may result in inadequate financing and, consequently, more modest benefits, especially for low-paid workers.⁶⁶³ While the primary administrative responsibilities should lie at the federal level, a national policy may allow for and encourage state and employer programs to augment the national policy by, for example, providing higher wage replacement rates or extended paid leave durations.⁶⁶⁴

State-Level Paid Leave Programs

The first adopters of state PFML used social insurance models and delegated administrative responsibility to existing bodies that already administered other social insurance programs.⁶⁶⁵ California, New Jersey, Rhode Island, and New York relied on the administrative structures of their long-standing TDI programs and administer their paid leave programs through state employment security agencies⁶⁶⁶ or state departments of labor.⁶⁶⁷

In some cases, states have used the administrative body that runs their UI programs.⁶⁶⁸ For example, in the District of Columbia⁶⁶⁹ and Massachusetts,⁶⁷⁰ the programs are administered through separate offices inside



the state departments of labor—which also administer the UI programs. Similarly, in Washington, both the paid leave program and the UI program are administered by the Employment Security Department.⁶⁷¹ Connecticut, however, has a quasi-public agency (made up of both public and private entities) that runs its paid leave program and is not housed under any other state agency.⁶⁷²

Recommendation 8: Build Upon Existing Administrative Infrastructures

A national PFML program should be administered at the federal level, rather than through a statefederal partnership, and could be administered by a new office within the SSA. SSA likely offers the best administrative structure for ensuring adequate benefits levels and access for all workers. Using the SSA could also reduce reporting and documentation burdens—which is especially important for low-paid workers. Net new staff should be hired to alleviate the administrative burden of implementing a paid leave program when using existing infrastructure.

BOX 4: WHAT WE CAN LEARN FROM THE UI EXPERIENCE?

In developing a national PFML program, policymakers can draw from the experience of our unemployment insurance (UI) system. Established in the 1930s, the modern UI program temporarily replaces a portion of wages lost by job seekers who, "through no fault of their own," are separated from employment.⁶⁷³ In turn, the program also helps stabilize the economy during economic downturns.⁶⁷⁴ States administer unemployment insurance benefits and largely fund the programs through payroll taxes on employers.⁶⁷⁵ The federal government pays the administrative costs of the programs.⁶⁷⁶ The UI program's long history—and its challenges related to reaching disadvantaged workers—offer insights into how to design and implement an inclusive, national PFML policy.

UI is designed as a federal-state partnership. The U.S. Department of Labor oversees the states' programs to ensure they meet minimal federal requirements,⁶⁷⁷ but states have much freedom to define eligibility, employer tax rates, benefit levels, and duration.⁶⁷⁸ As a result, UI programs differ considerably by state⁶⁷⁹ and, to attract and retain businesses, some states may lower UI taxes by tightening eligibility standards in ways that disproportionately affect workers with low incomes.⁶⁸⁰ A national paid leave program should be administered at the federal level, rather than through a federal-state partnership, to avoid these problems.

*UI also demonstrates the pitfalls of a program that is too tightly structured around formal, full-time employment.*⁶⁸¹ Depending on the state, part-time and seasonal employees are excluded—and, even when included, the system largely disadvantages them.⁶⁸² For example, many states do not cover job seekers who are seeking part-time work rather than full-time work.⁶⁸³ Improving access to UI for part-time workers would especially benefit women and workers with low incomes.⁶⁸⁴ Independent contractors and self-employed workers are typically excluded as well.⁶⁸⁵ A national paid leave policy should cover all worker types, including those who work part time.

Most states determine the value and duration of unemployment insurance benefits a worker qualifies for based on both the worker's prior wages and their recent work history.⁶⁸⁶ As a result, many working in the informal economy and those first entering or recently returning to the formal labor market are at a disadvantage. The workers who often fall into these categories include those with caregiving responsibilities, formerly discouraged workers, and workers with unpredictable schedules and pay.⁶⁸⁷ A national paid leave program should have low minimum earnings requirements and cover all workers with a modest work history.

OUTREACH, EDUCATION, & APPLICATION PROCESS

To be truly inclusive, paid leave programs must provide outreach, education, and application processes that are easy to navigate. It is not enough to rely on employers to communicate with workers about paid leave programs. Materials and application processes should be available in multiple languages and be accessible to people with disabilities. Materials and applications should also use plain language.

Outreach & Education

Targeted outreach and education campaigns, especially for low-paid and other marginalized workers, are essential components of any inclusive paid leave program. Evidence suggests that low-paid workers, women, and people of color are among those least likely to be aware of paid leave laws and benefits.^{688, 689} Many workers learn about programs through their employers. However, employers who have generous existing paid leave policies have an incentive to spread awareness about state-level programs,⁶⁹⁰ while smaller employers or employers with more part-time or nonstandard workers may not have such an incentive.^{691, 692} It is also likely that if paid leave policies do not include important features like job protection and adequate wage replacement, people of color and those in low-paying jobs will be less likely to take leave and share information about paid leave with their networks.

States have used various strategies to raise awareness and educate workers about their paid leave programs. New York developed a robust public advertising campaign which, according to the Community Service Society of New York, included "subway and bus ads, webinars, public service announcements, brochures, a website, a telephone helpline, posters, events, social media, fact sheets and FAQs geared to various constituencies, and earned media coverage."⁶⁹³ Researchers at the Center for Economic Policy Research (CEPR) noted that advocates in California were able to successfully increase awareness of the state's PFL program by providing information about it in federally qualified health centers (FQHCs), where advocates held community workshops, distributed flyers, and trained caseworkers to have one-on-one conversations about the program with clients.⁶⁹⁴

Despite the existing awareness efforts, disparities in awareness about paid leave programs persist. Studies of state paid leave programs have shown that people of color were least likely to know about the programs, benefits, eligibility requirements, and application

Despite the existing awareness efforts, disparities in awareness about paid leave programs persist.

processes.⁶⁹⁵ In California, a study on the first decade of paid leave implementation in that state found that the workers who were most likely to need leave, including people of color, individuals with less educational attainment or low incomes, and individuals who did not already have employer-based paid leave benefits (such as part-time workers and nonstandard workers),⁶⁹⁶ were the least likely to know about the paid leave program.⁶⁹⁷ Only 18 percent of parents of children with special needs knew about the program, and only five percent had used it.⁶⁹⁸ In New Jersey, single adults and people of color were among the groups least likely to be aware of the state's family leave program.⁶⁹⁹

Application Processes

Even when workers know about existing state-level paid leave programs, the information they receive can often be unclear and the application process can be difficult to navigate. For example, English language-learners in California who received informational materials on the state's paid leave program reported that the materials were hard to understand and sometimes poorly translated.⁷⁰⁰ A study of workers with disabilities and serious health conditions and their caregivers in California, New Jersey, New York, and North Carolina found that information from both the government and employers was unclear, incomplete,



or confusing, which led to workers being unsure about their eligibility.⁷⁰¹ Workers with disabilities in the study also had difficulty finding support to navigate the application process. For example, some workers had to make trips to the claims office because they could not get in touch with a program administrator by phone.⁷⁰²

Tight deadlines can be a barrier for those applying to programs. New Jersey's PFL program has a narrow timeframe for paid leave applications, for example, which has resulted in many claims being denied because they were submitted after the deadline.⁷⁰³ The state also will not process the paperwork until the applicant's period of paid leave has begun and many employees have started their leave without knowing if their application would be accepted.⁷⁰⁴

Online applications are generally the most userfriendly option and can provide administrative cost savings.⁷⁰⁵ Many states use online applications, though paper applications are still available by request in most states.^{706, 707} In California, the move to an online application has led to reduced time for processing claims, reduced paper and postage costs, more Online applications are generally the most user-friendly option and can provide administrative cost savings.

protection against fraud, and the convenience of an online confirmation that the application has been submitted.⁷⁰⁸ While California's paid leave website is available at all times for most services, including filing claims and submitting forms, online account creation for the website is only available from 6 A.M. to 6 P.M. Monday-Saturday and from 6 A.M. to 5:30 P.M. on Sundays.⁷⁰⁹ California also has an online portal that answers common questions about the program;⁷¹⁰ for disability insurance, the state has videos, tutorials, and tips for how to use the program.⁷¹¹ In New York, workers have reported that the state's PFML website was easy to understand and user-friendly⁷¹² and the state has a toll-free helpline that can assist anyone who wants more information about the program.⁷¹³

While online applications have demonstrated benefits in reducing administrative costs, an exclusively online system may leave out people who lack internet or technology access, of which people with disabilities make up a disproportionate share.⁷¹⁴ Inclusive paid leave programs should have options to file applications in person or by phone, along with accessible online options.⁷¹⁵

Recommendation 9: Employ Targeted Outreach Strategies & Simple, Accessible Application Processes

Paid leave programs should employ targeted outreach strategies that include accessible, multilingual materials written in plain language. This can help ensure that people with disabilities and those with limited English proficiency, in particular, can access the information they need. Information about programs should be complete, accurate, and presented in plain language. The paid leave application process should be simple, short, and accessible to all workers. Support should also be widely available to help workers in need of assistance.

CONCLUSION

In a nation where adults who are able to work are overwhelmingly expected to work, and caregiving needs are often met by loved ones, the need for paid leave is universal. Every worker, at one point or another, likely will need time off to care for themselves or a loved one. And research shows that paid leave supports workers in meeting their caregiving, health, and safety needs. Paid leave also supports better economic,

PL+US

health, and child development outcomes for workers and their families, and can help ensure that workers do not have to choose between giving or receiving care and the earnings they need to maintain their families' financial security. The cost—to both workers and employers—of continuing to rely on the patchwork of existing policies is too high.⁷¹⁶

Caregiving is essential to society—and it is demanding work. In 2015, an estimated 43.5 million adults were informal (unpaid) caregivers, mostly for their family members.⁷¹⁷ These caregivers spent an average of 24.4 hours providing care each week.⁷¹⁸ Over half (56 percent) of those who were employed while providing care worked full time.⁷¹⁹ Although most caregivers are women, 40 percent are men.⁷²⁰ Despite the prevalence of working caregivers, our society does little to support them.

Our nation's workers need and deserve more. Access to paid leave should not be determined by what kind of job you have, where you live, or by the luck of the draw in the employer lottery. What's more, workers who are most likely to be left out are often those who would benefit the most from access to paid leave—including low-paid workers, immigrants, women, workers with disabilities, and workers of color. A comprehensive and inclusive national policy is long overdue. In the absence of a national policy, states must do more.

A substantial and growing body of research is available to inform decisions about how to design equitable paid leave programs that meet the needs of all workers. This means excluding requirements related to employer size and extending eligibility to all worker types—including part-time workers, domestic and agricultural workers, as well as independent contractors. Documentation requirements should not be prohibitive and family definitions should be broad and inclusive. Workers should be able to access leave for a wide variety of reasons, including DV/IPV. Paid leave durations should be sufficiently long, and workers should be able to use their leave intermittently and in small increments. Wage replacement rates should be progressive and high enough that all workers can afford to take leave, and when they do, their jobs should be protected and they should be guarded against retaliation.

A robust social insurance paid leave program may be most likely to meet these standards—and to support employers who might otherwise struggle to provide paid leave to their workers. Paid leave also supports a strong economy by increasing labor force participation and productivity—and by helping workers stay in jobs that match their skills.⁷²¹

To promote gender, racial, and economic equity and support workers in meeting their caregiving responsibilities, taking care of their own health, and maintaining financial security, we need a national paid leave policy that is designed to reach all workers in ways that make sense for them and their lives.

ENDNOTES

¹ "Report on the Economic Well-Being of U.S. Households in 2018." Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, May 2019. Available at <u>https://www.federalreserve.gov/publications/files/2018-report-economic-well-being-us-households-201905.pdf</u>.

² Ben-Ishai, Liz. "Wages Lost, Jobs at Risk: The Serious Consequences of Lack of Paid Leave." CLASP, 13 February 2015. Available at <u>https://www.clasp.org/sites/default/files/public/resources-and-publications/publication-1/2015-02-03-FMLA-Anniversary-Brief-3.</u>pdf.

³ "Caregiving in the U.S." AARP Public Policy Institute and National Council for Caregiving, June 2015. Available at <u>https://www.caregiving.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/2015_CaregivingintheUS_Final-Report-June-4_WEB.pdf</u>.

⁴ Dastur, Nina, et al. "Building the Caring Economy: Workforce Investments to Expand Access to Affordable, High-Quality Early and Long-Term Care." Georgetown Center for Poverty and Inequality, Spring 2017. Available at <u>http://www.georgetownpoverty.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/Building-the-caring-economy_hi-res.pdf</u>.

⁵ Redfoot, Donald, Lynn Feinberg, and Ari Houser. "The Aging of the Baby Boom and the Growing Care Gap: A Look at Future Declines in the Availability of Family Caregivers." AARP Public Policy Institute, August 2013. Available at <u>https://www.aarp.org/home-family/caregiving/info-08-2013/the-aging-of-the-baby-boom-and-the-growing-care-gap-AARP-ppi-ltc.html</u>.

⁶ Dastur, et al. "Building the Caring Economy: Workforce Investments to Expand Access to Affordable, High-Quality Early and Long-Term Care." 2017.

7 Ibid.

⁸ Grant, Kali, et al. "Unworkable & Unwise: Conditioning Access to Programs that Ensure a Basic Foundation for Families on Work Requirements." Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality, updated 1 February 2019. Available at <u>http://www.georgetownpoverty.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Unworkable-Unwise-20190201.pdf</u>.

⁹ Parker, Kim, and Eileen Patten. "The Sandwich Generation." Pew Research Center, 30 January 2013. Available at <u>https://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2013/01/30/the-sandwich-generation/</u>.

¹⁰ "Public Opinion about Paid Family and Medical Leave: Literature Review & Effective Messaging." The Opportunity Agenda and Lake Research Partners, April 2019. Available at <u>https://www.opportunityagenda.org/sites/default/files/2019-06/FML_Literature%20</u> <u>Review%20Memo.pdf</u>.

¹¹ "Grassley, Wyden Convene Finance Committee Paid Family Leave Working Group." United States Senate Committee on Finance, 22 May 2019. Available at <u>https://www.finance.senate.gov/chairmans-news/grassley-wyden-convene-finance-committee-paid-family-leave-working-group</u>.

¹² Note: For more examples of federal policy initiatives on paid leave, see S.337. 115th Congress, introduced 2 February 2017. Available at https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/337.

¹³ Jagoda, Naomi. "Rubio Rolls Out Paid Parental Leave Bill." *The Hill*, 2 August 2018. Available at <u>https://thehill.com/policy/finance/400147-rubio-rolls-out-paid-parental-leave-bill</u>.

¹⁴ Mathur, Aparna, and Belle Sawhill. "The Paid Family Leave Tracker: Analyzing Federal and State Proposals." American Enterprise Institute, retrieved 20 February 2019. Available at <u>http://www.aei.org/spotlight/paid-family-leave-tracker/</u>.

¹⁵ "Business Supporters Are Advancing National Paid Leave." Businesses Advancing National Paid Leave, retrieved 20 February 2019. Available at http://www.advancingpaidleave.org/business-supporters/.

¹⁶ Jacobs, Elisabeth. "Paid Family and Medical Leave in the United States: A Research Agenda." Washington Center for Equitable Growth, 22 October 2018. Available at <u>https://equitablegrowth.org/research-paper/paid-family-and-medical-leave-in-the-united-states/?utm_medium=email&utm_source=sharpspring&sslid=MzMONrEwMLlwMjQ0BQA&sseid=MzS3sDCxNLlwMAYA&jobid=b101951a-994e-419b-a785-db4a8d97d51c.</u>

¹⁷ "Paid Family/Parental Leave Policies for Municipal Employees (Not Exhaustive)." National Partnership for Women and Families, updated May 2018. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/paid-sick-days/paid-family-leave-policies-for-municipal-employees.pdf</u>.

¹⁸ Note: Additional companies include the following companies: Accenture, Amazon, Facebook, Goldman Sachs, Lowe's, DOW Chemical, and Campbell Soup Company, among others. For a full list of companies, see "Leading on Leave: Companies with New or Expanded Paid Leave Policies (2015-2018)." National Partnership for Women and Families, April 2018. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/paid-leave/new-and-expanded-employer-paid-family-leave-policies.pdf</u>.

¹⁹ Meyersohn, Nathaniel. "Target Expands Childcare and Paid Family Leave Benefits as Retailers Battle for Talent." *CNN Business*, 10 June 2019. Available at https://amp.cnn.com/cnn/2019/06/10/business/target-child-care-benefit-family-leave/index.html.



²⁰ Note: Additional companies include Adobe, Levi Strauss and Co., Seventh Generation, and Working Mother among others. For a full list of companies, see "Business Supporters Are Advancing National Paid Leave." Businesses Advancing National Paid Leave. 2019.

²¹ Perez-Lleras, Elizabeth, and Daniel Quiles-Pumarejo. "New Act in Puerto Rico Establishes a Special Paid Leave for Employees Suffering from Catastrophic Illness." Lexology. 2018. Available at <u>https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=c-f44ac1d-91b2-46d1-86af-04cac46a15b1</u>.

²² Peck, Emily. "Oregon Just Passed the Best Family Leave Law in the U.S." *Huffpost*, 1 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.huff-post.com/entry/oregon-family-leave-law_n_5d1a372ae4b03d61163fd239</u>.

²³ Note: Currently, Puerto Rico's Special Paid Leave Policy only applies to workers who have suffered a "catastrophic illness" and provides benefits for medical recovery only after workers have exhausted their sick time. For more information, see Appendix A. "State and Territory PFML Laws and Proposals"; see also, Perez-Lleras, et al. "New Act in Puerto Rico Establishes Special Paid Leave for Employees Suffering from Catastrophic Illness." 2018.

²⁴ Mathur, et al. "The Paid Family Leave Tracker: Analyzing Federal and State Proposals." 2019.

25 Ibid.

²⁶ "2019 Paid Family Leave: Political Changes You Need to Know." The Standard, 16 January 2019. Available at <u>https://www.stan-</u> <u>dard.com/employer/paid-family-leave/2019-paid-family-leave-political-changes-you-need-know</u>.

²⁷ Feinberg, Lynn Friss. "Breaking New Ground: Supporting Employed Family Caregivers with Workplace Leave Policies." AARP Public Policy Institute, September 2018. Available at <u>https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/ppi/2018/08/breaking-new-ground-sup-porting-employed-family-caregivers-with-workplace-leave-policies.pdf</u>.

²⁸ Salam, Maya. "Could the U.S. Get Paid Family Leave? It's Looking Better Than Ever." *New York Times*, 15 February 2019. Available at https://www.nytimes.com/2019/02/15/us/paid-family-leave.html.

²⁹ Raub, Amy, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." WORLD Policy Analysis Center, 2018. Available at <u>https://www.worldpolicycenter.org/sites/default/files/WORLD%20Report%20-%20Parental%20Leave%20</u> <u>OECD%20Country%20Approaches_0.pdf</u>.

³⁰ Note: While roughly 60 percent of workers have access to *unpaid*, job-protected family and medical leave under the 1993 Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), many workers are left out due to factors such as narrow eligibility restrictions or the lack of pay. See "FMLA is Working." Department of Labor, retrieved July 19 2019. Available at <u>https://www.dol.gov/whd/fmla/survey/fmla_survey_fact-sheet.pdf</u>.

³¹ "14th International Review of Leave Policies and Related Research 2018." International Network on Leave Policies and Research, September 2018. Available at https://www.leavenetwork.org/fileadmin/user_upload/k_leavenetwork/annual_reviews/Leave_Re-view_2018.pdf.

³² Raub, Amy, et al. "Paid Leave for Personal Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." WORLD Policy Analysis Center, 2018. Available at https://www.worldpolicycenter.org/sites/default/files/WORLD%20Report%20-%20Personal%20Medi-cal%20Leave%200ECD%20Country%20Approaches_0.pdf.

³³ Raub, Amy, et al. "Paid Leave for Family Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." WORLD Policy Analysis Center, 2018. Available at https://www.worldpolicycenter.org/sites/default/files/WORLD%20Report%20-%20Family%20Medical%20 Leave%200ECD%20Country%20Approaches _0.pdf.

³⁴ "Paid Leave." National Partnership for Women and Families, retrieved 21 February 2019. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpart-nership.org/our-work/workplace/paid-leave.html;</u> Beard, Binta, and Rebecca Michelson. "Make Paid Family Leave Not Suck: Policy Summit Recap." *Medium,* 28 August 2018. Available at <u>https://medium.com/make-the-breast-pump-not-suck-hackathon/make-paid-family-leave-not-suck-policy-summit-recap-861d5c34b26f;</u> "Oregon Legislators: Lay the Groundwork to Pass Paid Leave in 2019." *MomsRising.org,* retrieved 9 March 2019. Available at <u>https://action.momsrising.org/sign/PFML_Oregon_2018_Post_Session/;</u> "About." Paid Leave for the United States (PL+US), retrieved 21 February 2019. Available at <u>http://paidleave.us/about;</u> "A Guide to Paid Sick Days and Family & Medical Leave Insurance." Family Values @ Work, July 2015. Available at <u>http://familyvaluesatwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/FVAW-Guide-PaidSickDays-FamilyMedicalLeave.pdf;</u> "In Your State." Family Values @ Work, retrieved 9 March 2019. Available at <u>http://familyvaluesatwork.org/states;</u> "About the Campaign." Time to Care, retrieved 21 February 2019. Available at <u>http://timetocareny.org/campaign;</u> Rouzer, Stephen. "22nd Anniversary of the FMLA Reignites Call for a National Paid Family Leave Policy." Main Street Alliance, 4 August 2015. Available at <u>https://www.mainstreetalliance.org/22nd_anniversary of the fmla reignites call for a national paid family leave policy; "Add Your Name to Support Paid Family and Medical Leave!" Main Street Alliance, retrieved 9 March 2019. Available at <u>https://www.mainstreetalliance.org/support_the_family_and_set.</u>"</u>

³⁵ Jacobs. "Paid Family and Medical Leave in the United States: A Research Agenda." 2018.

³⁶ Grant, Kali, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality and the Arc, updated 1 October 2017. Available at <u>http://www.georgetown-poverty.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Georgetown_PFML-report-hi-res.pdf</u>.



³⁷ Bassanini, Andrea, and Danielle Venn. "Assessing the Impact of Labour Market Policies on Productivity: A Differences-in-Differences Approach." OECD, 15 June 2007. Available at http://www.oecd.org/social/soc/38797288.pdf.

³⁸ Isaacs, Julia, Olivia Healy, and H. Elizabeth Peters. "Paid Family Leave in the United States: Time for a New National Policy." Urban Institute, May 2017. Available at <u>https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/90201/paid_family_leave_0.pdf</u>.

³⁹ Heymann, Jody, et al. "Paid Parental Leave and Family Wellbeing in the Sustainable Development Era." *Public Health Review*, 38(21), 15 September 2017. Available at <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5810022/</u>.

⁴⁰ "Parental Leave: Where are the Fathers?" OECD, March 2016. Available at <u>https://www.oecd.org/policy-briefs/parental-leave-where-are-the-fathers.pdf</u>.

⁴¹ Schuster, Mark A., et al. "Perceived Effects of Leave From Work and the Role of Paid Leave Among Parents of Children with Special Health Care Needs." *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(4), April 2009. Available at <u>https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/abs/10.2105/AJPH.2008.138313</u>.

⁴² Bassanini, et al. "Assessing the Impact of Labour Market Policies on Productivity: A Differences in Differences Approach." 2007.

⁴³ Glynn, Sarah Jane, Alexandra L. Bradley, and Benjamin W. Veghte. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." National Academy of Social Insurance, September 2017. Available at <u>https://www.nasi.org/sites/default/files/</u> <u>research/NASI%20PFML%20brief%202017-%20Final.pdf</u>.

⁴⁴ Burtle, Adam, and Stephen Bezruchka. "Population Health and Paid Parental Leave: What the United States Can Learn From Two Decades of Research." *Healthcare (Basel)*, 4(2): 30, June 2016. Available at <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/</u> <u>PMC4934583/#B30-healthcare-04-00030</u>.

⁴⁵ Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁴⁶ "Paid Leave Will Help Close the Gender Wage Gap." National Partnership for Women and Families, April 2019. Available at <u>http://</u>www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/fair-pay/paid-leave-will-help-close-gender-wage-gap.pdf.

⁴⁷ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

⁴⁸ For more information on the various types of leave, see "What's the Difference? Paid Sick Leave, FMLA, and Paid Family and Medical Leave." U.S. Department of Labor, September 2016. Available at <u>https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc955830/m1/1/</u>.

⁴⁹ Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

50 Ibid.

⁵¹ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

⁵² Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁵³ "California Paid Sick Leave: Frequently Asked Questions." State of California, Department of Industrial Relations, October 2017. Available at <u>https://www.dir.ca.gov/dlse/Paid_Sick_Leave.htm;</u> "Employer Resource Center for Paid Sick Leave." Washington State Department of Labor & Industries, retrieved 9 March 2019. Available at <u>https://www.lni.wa.gov/WorkplaceRights/LeaveBenefits/VacaySick/EmployerInfo.asp</u>.

⁵⁴ Workers in businesses with less than 15 employees would be granted seven days of job protected sick leave under the Healthy Families Act, but it would be unpaid. "The Healthy Families Act (S. 636/H.R. 1516)." National Partnership for Women and Families, December 2018. Available at http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/paid-sick-days/the-healthy-families-act-a-section-by-section-summary.pdf.

55 Ibid.

⁵⁶ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

57 Ibid.

58 Ibid.

⁵⁹ Note: Under TDI, workers qualify for a cash benefit if they have a disability and an amount of past employment earnings. TDI benefit durations vary across different states, ranging from 26 to 52 weeks and in some cases may actually provide longer periods of time off than paid leave laws. For more information, see "Social Insurance Programs: Temporary Disability Insurance." Social Security Administration, retrieved 26 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.ssa.gov/policy/docs/progdesc/sspus/tempdib.pdf;</u> see also, Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.



⁶⁰ "Social Insurance Programs: Temporary Disability Insurance." Social Security Administration. 2019; "What is Temporary Disability Insurance?" Policygenius, retrieved 26 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.policygenius.com/disability-insurance/what-is-tempo-rary-disability-insurance</u>.

⁶¹ Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁶² Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

63 Ibid. 64 Ibid.

⁶⁵ "Work-Leave, the ADA, and the FMLA." ADA National Network, 2014. Available at <u>https://adata.org/factsheet/work-leave</u>.

66 Ibid. 67 Ibid.

⁶⁸ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

⁶⁹ "Parental Leave: Where are the Fathers?" OECD. 2016.

⁷⁰ Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁷¹ Persson, Petra, and Maya Rossin-Slater. "When Dad Can Stay Home: Fathers' Workplace Flexibility and Maternal Health." Institute of Labor Economics, May 2019. Available at <u>http://ftp.iza.org/dp12386.pdf.</u>

⁷² "A Review of the Evidence on the Length of Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center, February 2018. Available at <u>https://www.worldpolicycenter.org/sites/default/files/WORLD%20Brief%20-%20Length%20Paid%20Family%20and%20</u> <u>Medical%20Leave.pdf</u>.

⁷³ Petts, Richard J., and Chris Knoester. "Are Parental Relationships Improved if Fathers Take Time Off of Work After the Birth of a Child?" *Social Forces*, 18 March 2019. Available at <u>https://academic-oup-com.proxy.library.georgetown.edu/sf/advance-article/doi/10.1093/sf/soz014/5382468.</u>

⁷⁴ "PPL Evaluation: Final Report." Institute for Social Science Research, University of Queensland, November 2014. Available at <u>https://www.dss.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/03_2015/finalphase4_report_6_march_2015_0.pdf</u>.

⁷⁵ Kim, S. "The Effects of Paid Family Leave on Family Caregiving for Older Adults." *Innovation in Aging*, 2(S1), 11 November 2018. Available at <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6226904/</u>.

⁷⁶ Silver, Barb. "Launching the Rhode Island Temporary Caregiver Insurance Program (TCI): Employee Experiences One Year Later." Rhode Island Department of Labor and Training, 16 November 2015. Available at <u>http://www.dlt.ri.gov/TDI/pdf/RIPaidLea-ve2015DOL.pdf.</u>

⁷⁷ Pac, Jessica E., et al. "Paid Family Leave and Breastfeeding: Evidence from California." NBER, April 2019. Available at <u>https://</u> www.nber.org/papers/w25784.

⁷⁸ "PPL Evaluation: Final Report." Institute for Social Science Research, University of Queensland. 2014.

⁷⁹ Berger, Lawrence, Jennifer Hill, and Jane Waldfogel. "Maternity Leave, Early Maternal Employment and Child Health and Development in the US." The Economic Journal, 115: 29-47, 2005. Available at <u>https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.proxy.library.georgetown.edu/doi/full/10.1111/j.0013-0133.2005.00971.x.</u>

⁸⁰ Heymann, et al. "Paid Parental Leave and Family Wellbeing in the Sustainable Development Era." 2017.

⁸¹ Bartel, Ann, et al. "California's Paid Family Leave Law: Lessons from the First Decade." U.S. Department of Labor, 23 June 2014. Available at <u>https://www.dol.gov/asp/evaluation/completed-studies/California_Paid_Family_Leave_Law/FINAL_REPORT_california_paid_family_leave_law.pdf.</u>

⁸² "Paternity Leave: Why Parental Leave for Fathers is So Important for Working Families." U.S. Department of Labor, retrieved 22 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.dol.gov/asp/policy-development/PaternityBrief.pdf.</u>

⁸³ Jacobs. "Paid Family and Medical Leave in the United States: A Research Agenda." 2018.

⁸⁴ Klevens, Joanne, et al. "Paid Family Leave's Effect on Hospital Admissions for Pediatric Abusive Head Trauma." *Injury Prevention*, 22(6): 442-445, 2016. Available at https://injuryprevention.bmj.com/content/22/6/442.

⁸⁵ Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁸⁶ Saad-Lessler, Joelle, and Kate Bahn. "The Importance of Paid Leave for Caregivers: Labor Force Participation Effects of California's Comprehensive Paid Family and Medical Leave." Center for American Progress, 27 September 2017. Available at <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/women/reports/2017/09/27/439684/importance-paid-leave-caregivers/</u>



⁸⁸ Appelbaum, Eileen, and Ruth Milkman. "Leaves That Pay: Employer and Worker Experiences with Paid Family Leave in California." Center for Economic and Policy Research, 2011. Available at <u>http://cepr.net/documents/publications/paid-family-leave-1-2011.pdf</u>.

⁸⁹ Lerner, Sharon, and Eileen Appelbaum. "Business As Usual: New Jersey Employers' Experiences with Family Leave Insurance." Center for Economic and Policy Research Publication, June 2014. Available at <u>http://cepr.net/documents/nj-fli-2014-06.pdf</u>.

90 Ibid.

⁹¹ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

⁹² "Paid Family and Medical Leave: Busting 10 Common Myths with Facts and Evidence." National Partnership for Women and Families, April 2017. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/paid-leave/paid-family-and-medical-</u> <u>leave-busting-10-common-myths-with-facts-and-evidence.pdf</u>.

⁹³ Sakaria, Anjali, and Jacqueline Tosto. "Paid Family and Medical Leave: Impact and Implementation." Federal Reserve Bank of Boston, 19 June 2018. Available at https://www.bostonfed.org/publications/community-development-issue-briefs/2018/paid-family-and-medical-leave-impact-and-implementation.aspx.

⁹⁴ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

⁹⁵ Rossin-Slater, Maya, Christopher Ruhm, and Jane Waldfogel. "The Effects of California's Paid Family Leave Program on Mothers' Leave-Taking and Subsequent Labor Market Outcomes." IZA, December 2011. Available at http://ftp.iza.org/dp6240.pdf.

⁹⁶ "Paid Family and Medical Leave: A Racial Justice Issue – and Opportunity." National Partnership for Women and Families, August 2018. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/paid-leave/paid-family-and-medical-leave-racial-justice-issue-and-opportunity.pdf</u>.

⁹⁷ "Stronger Communities, Stronger America: A Latino Policy Agenda for the 116th Congress." UnidosUS, 2019. Available at http://publications.unidosus.org/bitstream/handle/123456789/1935/unidosus_policyagenda.pdf?sequence=4&isAllowed=y.

⁹⁸ Gault, Barbara, et al. "Paid Parental Leave in the United States: What the Data Tell Us About Access, Usage and Economic, and Health Benefits." Institute for Women's Policy Research, Mary 2014. Available at <u>https://www.dol.gov/wb/resources/paid_parental_leave_in_the_united_states.pdf.</u>

⁹⁹ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

100 Ibid.

¹⁰¹ West, Rachel, et al. "Strengthening Unemployment Protections in America: Modernizing Unemployment Insurance and Establishing a Jobseeker's Allowance." Center for American Progress, National Employment Law Project, and Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality, June 2016. Available at <u>http://www.georgetownpoverty.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/GCPI-UI-JSA-Re-</u> <u>port-20160616.pdf</u>.

¹⁰² "Left Behind: How California's Paid Leave Program is Failing People in Low-Wage Jobs and the Gig Economy." PL+US: Paid Leave for the United States, 20 September 2018. Available at <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/56018de2e4b097f984369ce2/t/5ba-2d7a4c2241b9e009e7e8f/1537398701_567/plus.left_behind_20180919_V6.pdf</u>.

¹⁰³ "Inequities in Eligibility for FMLA Leave." Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University, retrieved 13 February 2019. Available at <u>http://www.diversitydatakids.org/files/Policy/FMLA/Capacity/Inequities%20in%20FMLA%20eligibility.pdf</u>.

¹⁰⁴ Schulte. "Paid Family Leave: How Much Time is Enough?" 2017.

¹⁰⁵ Jacobs. "Paid Family and Medical Leave in the United States: A Research Agenda." 2018.

¹⁰⁶ Acosta, R. Alexander, and William J. Wiatrowski. "National Compensation Survey: Employee Benefits in the United States, March 2018." Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, March 2018. Available at <u>https://www.bls.gov/ncs/ebs/benefits/2018/</u> <u>employee-benefits-in-the-united-states-march-2018.pdf</u>.

¹⁰⁷ Ibid.

108 Ibid.

109 Ibid.

¹¹⁰ DeSilver, Drew. "Access to Paid Family Leave Varies Widely Across Employers, Industries." Pew Research Center, 23 March 2017.



Available at http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/03/23/access-to-paid-family-leave-varies-widely-across-employers-indus-tries/.

¹¹¹ Gault. "Paid Parental Leave in the United States: What the Data Tell Us About Access, Usage and Economic, and Health Benefits." 2014.

¹¹² "Table 32. Leave Benefits: Access, Private Industry Workers, March 2018." Bureau of Labor Statistics, retrieved 22 February 2019. Available at https://www.bls.gov/ncs/ebs/benefits/2018/ownership/private/table32a.htm.

¹¹³ "The Economics of Paid and Unpaid Leave." The Council of Economic Advisers, June 2014. Available at <u>https://obamawhitehouse.</u> <u>archives.gov/sites/default/files/docs/leave_report_final.pdf;</u> Gould, Elise. "Providing Unpaid Leave Was Only the First Step; 25 Years After the Family and Medical Leave Act, More Workers Need Paid Leave." Economic Policy Institute, 1 February 2018. Available at <u>https://www.epi.org/blog/providing-unpaid-leave-was-only-the-first-step-25-years-after-the-family-and-medical-leave-act-more-workers-need-paid-leave/</u>.

¹¹⁴ Maxwell, Mary Beth, et al. "2018 U.S. LGBTQ Paid Leave Survey." Human Rights Campaign Foundation, retrieved 22 February 2019. Available at <u>https://assets2.hrc.org/files/assets/resources/2018-HRC-LGBTQ-Paid-Leave-Survey.pdf?utm_campaign=Paid%20</u> Leave&utm_source=HRC%20Website.

¹¹⁵ "A Review of the Evidence on How to Cover All Families for Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center, February 2018. Available at <u>https://www.worldpolicycenter.org/sites/default/files/WORLD%20Brief%20- %20Coverage%20Paid%20</u> Family%20and%20Medical%20Leave_0.pdf.

¹¹⁶ Robbins, Katherine Gallagher, et al. "People Need Paid Leave Policies That Cover Chosen Family." Center for American Progress, 30 October 2017. Available at https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/uploads/2017/10/26135206/UnmetCaregivingNeed-brief.pdf.

¹¹⁷ Kristal, Tali, Yinon Cohen, and Edo Navot. "Benefit Inequality among American Workers by Gender, Race, and Ethnicity, 1982– 2015." *Sociological Science*, 5: 461-488, 19 July 2018. Available at <u>https://www.sociologicalscience.com/download/vol-5/july/SocSci v5_461to488.pdf</u>.

¹¹⁸ Traub, Amy, et al. "The Racial Wealth Gap: Why Policy Matters." Demos, 21 June 2016. Available at <u>https://www.demos.org/</u> <u>research/racial-wealth-gap-why-policy-matters#How-Labor-Markets-Contribute-to-the-Racial-Wealth-Gap</u>.

¹¹⁹ "The Cost of Doing Nothing: The Price We All Pay Without Paid Leave Polices to Support America's 21st Century Working Families." U.S. Department of Labor, 4 September 2015. Available at <u>https://www.dol.gov/wb/resources/cost-of-doing-nothing.pdf</u>.

¹²⁰ Glynn, Sarah Jane, and Jane Farrell. "Latinos Least Likely to Have Paid Leave or Workplace Flexibility." Center for American Progress, 20 November 2012. Available at <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/wp- content/uploads/2012/11/GlynnLatinosPaidLeave1.pdf</u>.

¹²¹ "Paid Family and Medical Leave: A Racial Justice Issue – and Opportunity." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

¹²² "Women, Work, and Family Health: Key Findings from the 2017 Kaiser Women's Health Survey." Kaiser Family Foundation, 13 March 2018. Available at <u>https://www.kff.org/womens-health-policy/issue-brief/women-work- and-family-health-key-findings-from-the-2017-kaiser-womens-health-survey/</u>.

¹²³ "Paid Family Leave and Sick Days in the U.S.: Findings from the 2017 Kaiser/HRET Employer Health Benefits Survey." Kaiser Family Foundation, 30 October 2017. Available at <u>https://www.kff.org/womens-health-policy/fact-sheet/paid-family-leave-and-sick-days-in-the-u-s-findings-from-the-2017-kaiser/hret-employer-health-benefits-survey/</u>.

¹²⁴ Grant, et al. "Unworkable & Unwise: Conditioning Access to Programs that Ensure a Basic Foundation for Families on Work Requirements." 2019.

¹²⁵ "Caregiver Statistics: Work and Caregiving." Family Caregiver Alliance, National Center on Caregiving, 2016. Available at <u>https://</u><u>www.caregiver.org/caregiver.statistics-work-and-caregiving</u>.

¹²⁶ "Families Caring for an Aging America." The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2016. Available at <u>https://www.nap.edu/read/23606/chapter/6</u>.

¹²⁷ Glynn, et al. "Latinos Least Likely to Have Paid Leave or Workplace Flexibility." 2012.

¹²⁸ Shapiro, Thomas, Tatjana Meschede, and Sam Osoro. "The Roots of the Widening Racial Wealth Gap: Explaining the Black-White Economic Divide." Institute on Assets and Social Policy, February 2013. Available at <u>https://heller.brandeis.edu/iasp/pdfs/</u> racial-wealth-equity/racial-wealth-gap/roots-widening-racial-wealth-gap.pdf.

¹²⁹ Traub, et al. "The Racial Wealth Gap: Why Policy Matters." 2016.

¹³⁰ "Paid Family and Medical Leave: A Racial Justice Issue – and Opportunity." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

¹³¹ Weller, Christian E., and Jeffrey Thompson. "Wealth Inequality Among Asian Americans Greater Than Among Whites." Center for American Progress, 20 December 2016. Available at <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/race/reports/2016/12/20/295359/</u>



wealth-inequality-among-asian- americans-greater-than-among-whites/.

¹³² Traub, et al. "The Racial Wealth Gap: Why Policy Matters." 2016.

¹³³ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

¹³⁴ "Inequities in Eligibility for FMLA Leave." Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis Management. 2019.

¹³⁵ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

¹³⁶ "Inequities in Eligibility for FMLA Leave." Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis Management. 2019.

¹³⁷ Hernandez, Eduardo, and Pronita Gupta. "Threats, Opportunities on FMLA's 25th Anniversary." CLASP, 16 February 2018. Available at <u>https://www.clasp.org/blog/threats-opportunities-fmlas-25th-anniversary</u>.

¹³⁸ Boushey, Heather, and Bridget Ansel. "Modernizing U.S. Paid Family Leave for 21st Century Families." Washington Center for Equitable Growth, 18 June 2018. Available at <u>https://equitablegrowth.org/modernizing-u-s- paid-family-leave-labor-stan-dards-for-21st-century-families/#footnote-2</u>.

¹³⁹ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

140 Ibid.

¹⁴¹ Williams, Joan C, et al. "Protecting Family Caregivers from Employment Discrimination." AARP Public Policy Institute, August 2012. Available at <u>https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/research/public_policy_institute/health/protecting-caregivers-employ-ment-discrimination-insight-AARP-ppi-ltc.pdf</u>.

¹⁴² "Cultural Diversity and Caregiving." American Psychological Association, retrieved 26 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.apa.org/pi/about/publications/caregivers/faq/cultural-diversity;</u> Saad-Lessler, et al. "The Importance of Paid Leave for Caregivers: Labor Force Participation Effects of California's Comprehensive Paid Family and Medical Leave." 2017.

¹⁴³ "Employment Outcomes and Paid Leave for Caregivers of Adults with Intellectual or Developmental Disabilities." The Arc and University of Illinois at Chicago Family Support Research and Training Center, Fall 2018. Available at <u>https://www.thearc.org/file/</u> <u>Paid-Leave adults Final.pdf</u>; "Employment Outcomes and Paid Leave for Caregivers of Children with Intellectual or Developmental Disabilities." The Arc and University of Illinois at Chicago Family Support Research and Training Center, 2018. Available at <u>https://</u> <u>www.thearc.org/file/Paid-Leave_child_final.pdf</u>.

¹⁴⁴ Mudrazija, Stipica. "Work-Related Opportunity Costs Of Providing Unpaid Family Care In 2013 And 2050." *Health Affairs*, 38(6), June 2019. Available at https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/full/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.00008?utm_campaign=Economic+Studies&utm_sour_ce=hs_email&utm_medium=email&utm_content=74314364&.

145 Ibid.

¹⁴⁶ Perez-Lleras, et al. "New Act in Puerto Rico Establishes a Special Paid Leave for Employees Suffering from Catastrophic Illness." Lexology. 2018.

¹⁴⁷ Peck. "Oregon Just Passed the Best Family Leave Law in the U.S." 2019.

¹⁴⁸ "Paid Family/Parental Leave Policies for Municipal Employees (Not Exhaustive)." National Partnership for Women and Families, 2018.

¹⁴⁹ Mathur, et al. "The Paid Family Leave Tracker: Analyzing Federal and State Proposals." 2019.

¹⁵⁰ Acosta, et al. "National Compensation Survey: Employee Benefits in the United States," 2018.

151 Ibid.

¹⁵² "Are the World's Richest Countries Family Friendly? Policy in the OECD and EU." UNICEF, retrieved 16 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.unicef-irc.org/family-friendly</u>.

¹⁵³ "7th OECD Roundtable of Mayors and Ministers. Mayors, Ministers, Megatrends: Principles for Collective Action." OECD, 19 March 2019. Available at <u>https://www.oecd.org/urban/roundtable/partners/</u>.

¹⁵⁴ The FAMILY Act has the most co-sponsors of any paid family leave bill that has been introduced in Congress, including 191 representatives and 34 Senators. See "Cosponsors: S.463 – 116th Congress (2019-2020)." Congress.gov, retrieved 16 July 2019. Available at https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/senate-bill/463/cosponsors; "Cosponsors: H.R. 1185 – 116th Congress (2019-2020)." Congress.gov, retrieved 16 July 2019. Available at https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/senate-bill/463/cosponsors; "Cosponsors: H.R. 1185 – 116th Congress (2019-2020)." Congress.gov, retrieved 16 July 2019. Available at https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/senate-bill/463/cosponsors; "Cosponsors: H.R. 1185 – 116th Congress (2019-2020)." Congress.gov, retrieved 16 July 2019. Available at <a href="https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/senate-bill/463/cosponsors/g=%7B%22search%22%3A%5B%22actionCode%3A%5C%221000%5C%22%22%5D%2C%22co sponsor-sor-sate%22%3A%22New+York%22%7D.



¹⁵⁵ "The Family and Medical Insurance Leave (FAMILY) Act: Frequently Asked Questions." National Partnership for Women & Families, February 2019. Available at http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/coalition/family-act-fag.pdf.

¹⁵⁶ "Employer Credit for Paid Family and Medical Leave: Part III-Administrative, Procedural and Miscellaneous." U.S. Internal Revenue Service Notice 2018-71, retrieved 22 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-drop/n-18-71.pdf</u>.

¹⁵⁷ "Strengthening Middle-Class Families in the New American Century." Marco Rubio for President, retrieved 22 February 2019. Available at <u>http://static.politico.com/28/8a/9fd713d342aab969d87b6e2b11d3/mr-family- leave.pdf</u>.

¹⁵⁸ Klerman, Jacob Alex, Kelly Daley, and Alyssa Pozniak. "Family and Medical Leave in 2012: Technical Report." Abt Associates, updated 18 April 2014. Available at https://www.dol.gov/asp/evaluation/fmla/fmla-2012-technical-report.pdf.

¹⁵⁹ Hayes, Jeff, and Heidi Hartmann. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance: Modest Costs are a Good investment in America's Economy." Institute for Women's Policy Research, 2 February 2018. Available at <u>https://iwpr.org/publications/paid-family-medi-</u>cal-leave-insurance-time-come/.

¹⁶⁰ "Fact Sheet: The Family and Medical Insurance Leave (FAMILY) Act." National Partnership for Women and Families, February 2019. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/paid-leave/family-act-fact-sheet.pdf</u>; see also Joshi, Pam. "Presentation: Job Quality and Racial Equity." EARN Conference, 2016. Available at <u>https://icyfp.brandeis.edu/public-engagement/public-engagement-2016-2017.html</u>.

¹⁶¹ "Social Security work credits are based on your total yearly wages or self-employment income." See "Benefits Planner: Disability I How You Qualify." Social Security Administration, retrieved 27 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.ssa.gov/planners/disability/</u> <u>qualify.html</u>.

¹⁶² "The Family and Medical Insurance Leave (FAMILY) Act: Frequently Asked Questions." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

¹⁶³ Ibid.

¹⁶⁴ "The Small Business Case for the FAMILY Act." Main Street Alliance, updated 18 February 2019. Available at <u>https://drive.google.</u> <u>com/a/georgetown.edu/file/d/15X4nyMGKFdU14zneGRJ6KEWPCXeXboVg/view?usp=drive_open</u>.

¹⁶⁵ "The Family and Medical Insurance Leave (FAMILY) Act: Frequently Asked Questions." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

166 Ibid.

167 Ibid.

¹⁶⁸ "The Family and Medical Insurance Leave (FAMILY) Act (H.R. 1185/S. 463)." National Partnership for Women and Families, February 2019. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our- work/resources/workplace/paid-leave/family-and-medical-insurance-act-section-by-section.pdf</u>.

¹⁶⁹ "The Family and Medical Insurance Leave (FAMILY) Act: Fact Sheet." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

¹⁷⁰ "The Family and Medical Insurance Leave (FAMILY) Act: Frequently Asked Questions." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

¹⁷¹ "Social Security and People of Color." National Academy of Social Insurance, retrieved 16 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.nasi.org/learn/socialsecurity/people-of-color</u>.

¹⁷² "Social Security Is Important to Women." Social Security Administration, July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.ssa.gov/news/press/</u><u>factsheets/women-alt.pdf</u>.

¹⁷³ Romig, Kathleen. "Social Security Lifts More Americans Above Poverty Than Any Other Program". Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, updated 5 November 2018. Available at <u>https://www.cbpp.org/research/social-security/social-security-lifts-more-americans-above-poverty-than-any-other-program</u>.

¹⁷⁴ Jacobs. "Paid Family and Medical Leave in the United States: A Research Agenda." 2018.

¹⁷⁵ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

¹⁷⁶ H.R.947. 114th Congress, introduced 7 February 2017. Available at <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th- congress/house-bill/947/</u> text?r=31&s=1.

¹⁷⁷ "The Family and Medical Insurance Leave (FAMILY) Act (H.R. 1185/S. 463)." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

¹⁷⁸ Glynn, Sarah Jane. "Administering Paid Family and Medical Leave: Learning from International and Domestic Examples." Center for American Progress, November 2015. Available at <u>https://cdn.americanprogress.org/wp- content/uploads/2015/11/19060022/</u> <u>PaidLeaveProposal-report-11.19.15.pdf</u>.



¹⁷⁹ "The Family and Medical Insurance Leave (FAMILY) Act (H.R. 1185/S. 463)." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

¹⁸⁰ Hayes, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance: Modest Costs are a Good investment in America's Economy." 2018.

¹⁸¹ "Overview of Paid Family & Medical Leave Laws in the United States." A Better Balance, 21 February 2019. Available at <u>https://</u> www.abetterbalance.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/CombinedPFMLChart-3.pdf.

¹⁸² Ibid.

¹⁸³ Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

¹⁸⁴ Williamson, Molly Weston. "A Foundation and A Blueprint: Building the Workplace Leave Laws We Need After Twenty-Five Years of the Family & Medical Leave Act." A Better Balance, February 2018. Available at <u>https://pub.flowpaper.com/docs/https://www.abetter-</u> balance.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/ABB -FMLA- Report_FINAL-SinglePgs.pdf.

¹⁸⁵ Reder, Libby, Shelly Steward, and Natalie Foster. "Designing Portable Benefits: A Resource Guide for Policymakers." Aspen Institute, 6 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.aspeninstitute.org/publications/designing-portable-benefits/</u>.

¹⁸⁶ Reder, et al. "Designing Portable Benefits: A Resource Guide for Policymakers." 2019; "Overview of Paid Family & Medical Leave Laws in the United States." A Better Balance. 2019.

¹⁸⁷ Kashen, Julie. "New York State's New Paid Family Leave Law is the Strongest One Yet." Century Foundation, 5 February 2018. Available at <u>https://tcf.org/content/commentary/new-york-states-new-paid-family-leave-law- strongest-one-yet/?agreed=1</u>.

¹⁸⁸ Ibid.

¹⁸⁹ Appelbaum, et al. "Leaves That Pay: Employer and Worker Experiences with Paid Family Leave in California." 2011.

¹⁹⁰ Cooper, David, Mary Gable, and Algernon Austin. "The Public Sector Job Crisis." Economic Policy Institute, 2 May 2012. Available at https://www.epi.org/publication/bp339-public-sector-jobs-crisis/.

¹⁹¹ "How to File a Paid Family Leave (PFL) Claim by Mail." State of California Employment Development Department, retrieved 13 June 2019. Available at https://www.edd.ca.gov/disability/How to File a PFL Claim by Mail.htm.

¹⁹² "New Jersey – Family Leave Insurance Application." New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce Development, retrieved 13 June 2019. Available at https://nj.gov/labor/forms_pdfs/tdi/FL1%202018.pdf.

¹⁹³ "Chapter 50A.04 RCW: Family and Medical Leave Program." Washington State Legislature, retrieved 11 July 2019. Available at https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=50A.04&full=true.

¹⁹⁴ "Temporary Disability Insurance (TDI), Temporary Caregiver Insurance (TCI): Application for Benefits." Rhode Island Department of Labor and Training, retrieved 11 July 2019. Available at <u>http://www.dlt.ri.gov/tdi/pdf/tdiapp14.pdf</u>.

¹⁹⁵ Note: While DC's paid leave program is entirely funded by an employer payroll tax, the incidence of the tax may fall on workers in the form of lower compensation. See "Paid Family Leave Forms." New York State, retrieved 13 June 2019. Available at https://paid-familyleave.ny.gov/forms; "DC Paid Family Leave: Employer Frequently Asked Questions." Government of the District of Columbia, retrieved 27 June 2019. Available at https://does.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/does/page_content/attachments/PFL%20Employ-er%20FAQ.pdf.

¹⁹⁶ Christensen Gee, Lisa, et al. "Undocumented Immigrants' State & Local Tax Contributions." Institute on Taxation and Economic Policy, updated March 2017. Available at <u>https://itep.org/wp- content/uploads/immigration2017.pdf</u>; Campbell, Alexia Fernandez. "Undocumented Immigrants Pay Millions of Dollars in State Taxes — Even In the Reddest States." *Vox*, 1 March 2019. Available at <u>https://www.vox.com/2019/3/1/18241692/undocumented-immigrants-pay-state-local-taxes</u>.

¹⁹⁷ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019. 198 Author's calculations based on "2016 Annual Survey of Entrepreneurs." U.S. Census Bureau, 10 August 2018. Available at <u>https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?src=bkmk#</u>.

¹⁹⁹ Groves, Martha. "California's 'Job Killer' Family Leave Bill is Now a Law for Small Business. Here's How it's Working Out." *The Mercury News*, 26 November 2018. Available at <u>https://www.mercurynews.com/2018/11/26/a-job-killer-family-leave-bill-is-now-law-for-small-business-heres- how-its-working-out/.</u>

²⁰⁰ Note: California allows workers at businesses smaller than 20 employees to take paid family leave; however, that leave is not job protected. See "California's Paid Family Leave Program." Small Business Majority, 11 March 2019. Available at <u>https://smallbusinessmajority.org/resources/california%E2%80%99s-paid-family-leave-program;</u> "New California Law Mandates Small Business Provide Parental Leave." National Law Review, 14 October 2017. Available at <u>https://www.natlawreview.com/article/new-california-law-mandates-small-businesses-provide-parental-leave</u>.

²⁰¹ Goldman, Tanya L. "Fact Sheet: The Importance of Job Protection for Paid Leave." CLASP, May 2019. Available at <u>https://www.clasp.org/sites/default/files/publications/2019/05/2019_jobprotectionpaidleave.pdf</u>.



²⁰² Williamson. "A Foundation and A Blueprint: Building the Workplace Leave Laws We Need After Twenty-Five Years of the Family & Medical Leave Act." 2018.

²⁰³ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Personal Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018. 204 Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Family Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018. 205 Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

²⁰⁶ "The Small Business Case for the FAMILY Act." Main Street Alliance, 18 February 2019

²⁰⁷ "Paid Family and Medical Leave: Good for Business." National Partnership for Women and Families, September 2018. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/paid-leave/paid-leave-good-for-business.pdf</u>.

²⁰⁸ "U.S. House Committee on Ways and Means. Paid Family and Medical Leave: Helping Workers and Employers Succeed. Testimony of Anthony Sandkamp, Owner, Sandkamp Woodworks, Jersey City, New Jersey." Main Street Alliance, 8 May 2019. Available at <u>https://waysandmeans.house.gov/sites/democrats.waysandmeans.house.gov/files/documents/Anthony%20Sandk amp%20Written%20</u> <u>Testimony.pdf</u>.

²⁰⁹ Bartel, Ann, et al. "Assessing Rhode Island's Temporary Caregiver Insurance Act: Insights from a Survey of Employers." U.S. Department of Labor, January 2016. Available at <u>https://www.dol.gov/asp/evaluation/completed- studies/AssessingRhodelslandTemporaryCaregiverInsuranceAct_InsightsFromSurveyOfEmployers.pdf</u>.

²¹⁰ "The Small Business Case for the FAMILY Act." Main Street Alliance. 2019.

²¹¹ Note: Paid leave policies in California have been shown to have positive or no effect on worker productivity in both small and larger businesses. A survey of California employers following implementation of PFL found that 90 percent of those surveyed stated the program have either a positive effect or not noticeable effect on productivity. For more information, see Milkman, Ruth and Eileen Appelbaum. "Low-Wage Workers and Paid Family Leave: The California Experience." *What Works for Workers? Public Policies and Innovative Strategies for Low-Wage Workers*, edited by Stephanie Luce, Jennifer Luff, Joseph A. McCartin, and Ruth Milkman, Russel Sage Foundation, 2014, 305-328. Available at <u>https://www.russellsage.org/sites/default/files/WhatWorks.pdf</u>; see also "Paid Family and Medical Leave: Good for Business." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

²¹² Note: The source denotes hours typically worked each week and is an annual average of the number of people who typically worked less than 35 hours each week. Author's calculations based on "Table 8: Employed and Unemployed Full- and Part-Time Workers by Age, Sex, Race, and Hispanic or Latino Ethnicity." Bureau of Labor Statistics, updated 18 January 2019. Available at https://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsaat08.htm.

²¹³ Ibid.

²¹⁴ "Number of People Working Part Time for Economic Reasons Falls in June 2016." Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, 12 July 2016. Available at <u>https://www.bls.gov/opub/ted/2016/number-of-people-working-part-time-for-economic-reasons-falls-in-june-2016.htm</u>.

²¹⁵ Wilson, Valerie, and Janelle Jones. "Working Harder or Finding it Harder to Work." Economic Policy Institute, 22 February 2018. Available at <u>https://www.epi.org/publication/trends-in-work-hours-and-labor-market- disconnection/</u>.

²¹⁶ Author's calculations based on "Table 8: Employed and Unemployed Full- and Part-Time Workers by Age, Sex, Race, and Hispanic or Latino Ethnicity." Bureau of Labor Statistics. 2019.

²¹⁷ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

²¹⁸ "The Female Face of Family Caregiving: Fact Sheet." National Partnership for Women and Families, November 2018. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/female-face-family- caregiving.pdf</u>.

²¹⁹ West, et al. "Strengthening Unemployment Protections in America: Modernizing Unemployment Insurance and Establishing a Jobseeker's Allowance." 2016.

²²⁰ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

221 Ibid.

²²² Note: The two options for meeting the tenure requirement in New York's Paid Family Leave program are meant to accommodate workers with alternative work schedules or circumstances, such as part-time workers. See "Family Leave Works for Part-Time Workers." A Better Balance, 4 October 2017. Available at https://www.abetterbalance.org/family-leave-works-for-part-time-workers/.

²²³ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

224 Ibid.



²²⁵ Appelbaum, Eileen, Arne Kalleberg, and Hye Jin Rho. "Nonstandard Work Arrangements and Older Americans, 2005-2007." Economic Policy Institute, 28 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.epi.org/publication/nonstandard-work-arrangements-and-old-er-americans-2005-2017;</u> "Contingent and Alternative Employment Arrangements Summary." Bureau of Labor Statistics, 7 June 2018. Available at <u>https://www.bls.gov/news.release/conemp.nr0.htm</u>.

²²⁶ "Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey: Employed Persons by Age, Sex, Marital Status, Multiple Jobholding Status, and Self-Employment, Seasonally Adjusted." Bureau of Labor Statistics, updated 5 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.bls.gov/web/empsit/cpseea08.htm</u>; see also Torpey, Elka, and Brian Roberts. "Small-Business Options: Occupational Outlook for Self-Employed Workers." Bureau of Labor Statistics, May 2018. Available at <u>https://www.bls.gov/careeroutlook/2018/article/self-employment.htm?view_full</u>.

²²⁷ Katz, Lawrence F, and Alan B. Krueger. "Understanding Trends in Alternative Work Arrangements in the United States." NBER, January 2019. Available at https://www.nber.org/papers/w25425.pdf.

²²⁸ Author's calculations based on "Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey: Employed Persons by Age, Sex, Marital Status, Multiple Jobholding Status, and Self-Employment, Seasonally Adjusted." Bureau of Labor Statistics. 2019.

²²⁹ Noguchi, Yuki. "Challenges of Being in the New Contract Workforce." *NPR*, 23 January 2018. Available at <u>https://www.npr.org/2018/01/23/579720874/will-work-for-no-benefits-the-challenges-of-being-in-the-new- contract-workforce</u>.

²³⁰ Note: Sample size was 1,267. After the survey, "the samples were then combined and balanced to reflect the 2013 American Community Survey 1-year estimates for age, gender, income, race, and region. Results are statistically significant within ±2.8 percentage points." See "NPR/Marist Poll Results January 2018: Picture of Work." Marist Poll, retrieved 26 February 2019. Available at http://marist.edu/nprmarist-poll-results- january-2018-picture-of-work/#sthash.SKdv1nBw.dpbs.

²³¹ Weil, David. "Lots of Employees Get Misclassified as Contractors. Here's Why it Matters." *Harvard Business Review*, 5 July 2017. Available at https://hbr.org/2017/07/lots-of-employees-get-misclassified-as-contractors-heres-why-it-matters.

²³² Sinroja, Ratna, Sarah Thomason, and Ken Jacobs. "Misclassification in California: A Snapshot of the Janitorial Services, Construction, and Trucking Industries." UC Berkeley Labor Center, 11 March 2019. Available at <u>http://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/misclassifica-</u> tion-in-california-a-snapshot-of-the-janitorial-services-construction- and-trucking-industries/.

²³³ Kashen. "New York State's New Paid Family Leave Law is the Strongest One Yet." 2018. 234 HB 2005. 80th Oregon Legislative Assembly, introduced 28 March 2019. Available at https://olis.leg.state.or.us/liz/2019R1/Measures/Overview/HB2005.

²³⁵ "Paid Family Medical Leave for Employees FAQ." *Mass.gov*, retrieved 14 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.mass.gov/info-de-tails/paid-family-medical-leave-for-employees-faq#are-self-employed-individuals- required-to-comply-with-the-pfml-law?-</u>

²³⁶ "If You Are Self-Employed." Social Security Administration, 2019. Available at https://www.ssa.gov/pubs/EN-05-10022.pdf.

²³⁷ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

²³⁸ Note: After the initial three-year period, self-employed workers in Washington's PFML program can then choose on a yearly basis to stay or opt out of the program. See "Electing Coverage." Washington Paid Family and Medical Leave, retrieved 18 July 2019. Available at https://paidleave.wa.gov/elective-coverage.

²³⁹ Note: Under the District's PFML program, the three-year minimum requirement for self-employed workers only applies to workers who do not opt-in to the program during the first open-enrollment period for which they are eligible. See "Notice of Final Rulemaking: Paid-Leave Program Contributions." District of Columbia Department of Employment Services, retrieved 18 July 2018. Available at https://does.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/does/publication/attachments/Employment%20Services%20Department%20of%20%20Paid%20Leave%20Contributions.pdf.

²⁴⁰ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

²⁴¹ Williamson, Molly Weston, Sherry Leiwant, and Julie Kashen. "Constructing 21st Century Rights For A Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 1: Paid Family and Medical Leave & Self-Employment." A Better Balance, updated February 2019. Available at <u>https://pub.flowpaper.com/docs/https://www.abetterbalance.org/wp- content/uploads/2019/02/ABB_Policy-Brief-1.pdf</u>.

242 Ibid.

243 Ibid.

244 Ibid.

²⁴⁵ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Personal Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018. 246 Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

247 Ibid.



²⁴⁸ Note: For the purposes of this paper, we define domestic workers as people who work in the homes of others such as caregivers for the elderly, nannies, and house cleaners. Agricultural workers consist of workers who are, "directly involved in tending crops and livestock, picking and packaging produce, and slaughtering and processing meat, poultry, and seafood." Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019. "Improving Working Conditions for U.S. Farmworkers and Food Production Workers." American Public Health Association, 2017.

²⁴⁹ Reder, et al. "Designing Portable Benefits: A Resource Guide for Policymakers." 2019; "Inequities in Eligibility for FMLA Leave." Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis Management. 2019.

²⁵⁰ Mason, Jessica. "Let's Not Repeat the Mistakes of the Past With Worker Protections." National Partnership for Women and Families, 25 June 2018. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our- impact/blog/general/lets-not-repeat-the-mistakes-of-the-past-with-worker-protections.html</u>.

251 Ibid.

²⁵² Fernandez Campbell, Alexia. "Domestic Workers Are Using Roma's Oscar Buzz to Demand Equal Rights Under US Law." Vox, 26 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2019/2/26/18239803/roma-cuaron-domestic-workers-bill-of-rights</u>.

²⁵³ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

²⁵⁴ "Farm Labor." Economic Research Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, updated 21 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/farm-economy/farm-labor/</u>; "The National Agricultural Workers Survey." Employment and Training Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, retrieved 2 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.doleta.gov/naws/research/data-tables/</u>.

²⁵⁵ "Comparative Chart of Paid Family and Medical Leave Laws in the United States." A Better Balance, updated 9 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.abetterbalance.org/resources/paid-family-leave-laws-chart/</u>.

²⁵⁶ "Eligibility: Who is eligible for Paid Family Leave?" Paid Family Leave, New York State, retrieved 2 July 2019. Available at <u>https://paidfamilyleave.ny.gov/eligibility</u>.

²⁵⁷ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

²⁵⁸ Brody, Lauren Smith. "When the Nanny Needs Maternity Leave." *New York Times*, 27 December 2017. Available at <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/27/well/family/new-york-family-leave-nannies-maternity-leave.html</u>.

²⁵⁹ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

²⁶⁰ Brody. "When the Nanny Needs Maternity Leave." 2017.

²⁶¹ Burnham, Linda, and Nik Theodore. "Home Economics: The Invisible and Unregulated World of Domestic Work." National Domestic Workers Alliance, Center for Urban Economic Development, University of Illinois at Chicago, and DataCenter, 2012. Available at http://www.idwfed.org/en/resources/home-economics-the-invisible- and-unregulated-world-of-domestic-work/@@display-file/attachment 1.

²⁶² Bonato, Stefani, and McKenna Coll. "Domestic Workers' Rights in the United States: A Report Prepared for the U.N. Human Rights Committee In response to the Second and Third Periodic Report of the United States." University of North Carolina School of Law retrieved 12 July 2019. Available at https://www.law.unc.edu/documents/clinicalprograms/domesticworkersreport.pdf.

²⁶³ Burnham, et al. "Home Economics: The Invisible and Unregulated World of Domestic Work." 2012.

²⁶⁴ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

²⁶⁵ Burnham, et al. "Home Economics: The Invisible and Unregulated World of Domestic Work." 2012. 266 lbid.

²⁶⁷ "Improving Working Conditions for U.S. Farmworkers and Food Production Workers." American Public Health Association, 2017.

²⁶⁸ Note: In 2016, just 14 percent of farm workers had employer-sponsored health insurance, and 37 percent had access to government-provided health insurance through programs such as Medicaid and Medicare. Ten states and the District of Columbia currently have paid sick leave laws, but among these, some states cover agricultural workers while others exclude them from paid sick leave benefits. For more information, see "Improving Working Conditions for U.S. Farmworkers and Food Production Workers." American Public Health Association, 7 November 2017. Available at <u>https://www.apha.org/policies-and-advocacy/public-health-policy-statements/policy- database/2018/01/18/improving-working-conditions;</u> "State and Local Paid Sick Leave Laws." Workplace Fairness, retrieved 2 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.workplacefairness.org/paid-sick-leave;</u> "Agriculture Employer Brochure: Protect Your Business—Prevent Penalties." Labor Enforcement Task Force, California Department of Industrial Relations, 2019. Available at



https://www.dir.ca.gov/letf/Agriculture_Employer_Brochure.pdf; "Paid Sick Days Carveout - Agricultural Workers." National Partnership for Women and Families, updated 12 February 2017. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/workplace/</u> work-family-policy-database/oregon/paid- sick-days-carveout-agricultural-workers-sb402.html.

²⁶⁹ "Eligibility: Who is eligible for Paid Family Leave?" New York State, 2019.

²⁷⁰ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Personal Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

²⁷¹ "Farm Labor." Economic Research Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2019.

²⁷² "Improving Working Conditions for U.S. Farmworkers and Food Production Workers." American Public Health Association, 2017.

273 Ibid.

274 Ibid.

²⁷⁵ "Workers' Compensation." U.S. Department of Labor, retrieved 17 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.dol.gov/general/topic/work-comp.</u>

²⁷⁶ "Improving Working Conditions for U.S. Farmworkers and Food Production Workers." American Public Health Association, 2017.

²⁷⁷ "The National Agricultural Workers Survey." Employment and Training Administration, U.S. Department of Labor. 2019.

²⁷⁸ "Farm Labor." Economic Research Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2019.

²⁷⁹ Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

²⁸⁰ Boushey, Heather. "To Grow Our Economy, Start with Paid Leave." Cato Institute, 14 November 2014. Available at <u>https://www.cato.org/publications/cato-online-forum/grow-our-economy-start-paid-leave</u>.

²⁸¹ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

²⁸² "Social Security work credits are based on your total yearly wages or self-employment income." See "Benefits Planner: Disability | How You Qualify." Social Security Administration. 2019.

²⁸³ West, et al. "Strengthening Unemployment Protections in America: Modernizing Unemployment Insurance and Establishing a Jobseeker's Allowance." 2016.

²⁸⁴ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Personal Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

²⁸⁵ Ferris, Sarah, and Ian Kullgren. "Minimum Wage Bill Could Eliminate 1.3 Million Jobs, CBO Says." *Politico*, 8 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.politico.com/story/2019/07/08/minimum-wage-bill-eliminate-13m-jobs-cbo-says- 1400531</u>; Cooper, David, Law-rence Mishel, and Ben Zipperer. "Bold Increases In The Minimum Wage Should Be Evaluated for The Benefits of Raising Low-Wage Workers' Total Earnings." Economic Policy Institute, 18 April 2018. Available at <u>https://www.epi.org/publication/bold-increases-in-the-minimum-wage-should-be-evaluated-for-the-benefits-of-raising-low-wage-workers-total-earnings-critics-who-cite-claims-of-job-loss-are-using-a-distorted-frame/.</u>

²⁸⁶ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

²⁸⁷ "Calculating Paid Family Leave Benefit Amounts." California Employment Development Department, retrieved 11 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.edd.ca.gov/Disability/Calculating_PFL_Benefit_Payment_Amounts.htm</u>.

²⁸⁸ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

²⁸⁹ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Family Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

²⁹⁰ "A Review of the Evidence on How to Cover All Families for Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

²⁹¹ Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

²⁹² Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Personal Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

²⁹³ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Family Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

²⁹⁴ "A Review of the Evidence on How to Cover All Families for Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

²⁹⁵ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

²⁹⁶ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019. 297 Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Personal Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

²⁹⁸ Beckhusen, Julia. "Multiple Jobholders in the United States: 2013." U.S. Census Bureau, 29 May 2019. Available at https://www.



census.gov/library/publications/2019/demo/p70br- 163.html?utm_campaign=&utm_medium=email&utm_source=govdelivery.

²⁹⁹ Bernstein, Hamutal, and Carolyn Vilter. "Upskilling the Immigrant Workforce to Meet Employer Demand for Skilled Workers." Urban Institute, July 2018. Available at <u>https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/98766/upskilling_immigrant_workforce_to_meet_employer_demand_for_skilled_workers_2.pdf</u>.

³⁰⁰ Moskowitz, Rachel. "Multiple Job Holdings in the U.S." New Mexico Department of Workforce Solutions, retrieved 11 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.dws.state.nm.us/Portals/O/DM/LMI/Multiple_Job_Holdings_in_the_US.pdf</u>.

³⁰¹ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

302 Ibid.

³⁰³ "What Employers Need to Know About the Massachusetts Paid Family and Medical Leave Program." Lexology, 13 February 2019. Available at https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=fcdea1af-1f9a-44a1-8c1a-420e55cd263e.

³⁰⁴ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

³⁰⁵ "Unemployment Insurance, the Recession, and Race: A Kirwan Background Report." Kirwan Institute for the Study of Race and Ethnicity, July 2010. Available at <u>http://www.kirwaninstitute.osu.edu/reports/2010/07_2010_UnemploymentInsurance_Race.pdf</u>.

³⁰⁶ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Personal Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018. 307 Ibid.

³⁰⁸ "Paid Family and Medical Leave: An Overview." National Partnership for Women and Families, October 2017. Available at http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/paid-leave/paid-family-and-medical-leave.pdf.

309 Ibid.

³¹⁰ "Fact Sheet #28F: Qualifying Reasons for Leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act." Wage and Hour Division, U.S. Department of Labor, July 2015. Available at <u>https://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/whdfs28f.pdf</u>.

³¹¹ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

³¹² Weiner, Mark. "NY Could Become First State to Require Up to 12 Weeks of Paid Bereavement Leave." *Syracuse.com*, 6 September 2018. Available at <u>https://www.syracuse.com/politics/2018/09/ny_could_become_first_state_to_require_up_to_12_weeks_of_paid_bereavement_leave.html</u>.

³¹³ Williamson, Molly Weston. "For the Health of Our Families: Engaging the Health Community in Paid Family Leave Outreach and Education." A Better Balance, October 2018. Available at <u>https://pub.flowpaper.com/docs/https://www.abetterbalance.org/wp- content/uploads/2018/10/ABBFortheHealthofOurFamilies.pdf</u>.

³¹⁴ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

³¹⁵ LCO No. 3811. State of Connecticut General Assembly, introduced January 2019. Available at https://www.cga.ct.gov/2019/To-B/s/pdf/2019SB-00001-R01-SB.PDF; Pazniokas, Mark. "Progressives Celebrate Signing of Paid Family Leave." *Connecticut Mirror*, 25 June 2019. Available at https://www.cga.ct.gov/2019/To-B/s/pdf/2019SB-00001-R01-SB.PDF; Pazniokas, Mark. "Progressives Celebrate Signing of Paid Family Leave." *Connecticut Mirror*, 25 June 2019. Available at https://ctmirror.org/2019/06/25/progressives-celebrate-signing-of-paid-family-leave/.

³¹⁶ "Paid Family Leave for Military Families." Paid Family Leave, New York State, retrieved 14 June 2019. Available at <u>https://paid-familyleave.ny.gov/paid-family-leave-military-families</u>.

³¹⁷ LCO No. 3811. State of Connecticut General Assembly. 2019.

³¹⁸ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

³¹⁹ "Notice and Proof of Claim for Paid Family Leave." New York State Insurance Fund, retrieved 11 July 2019. Available at https://www.nysif.com/-/media/Files/DISABILITY_BENEFITS/PDF/NYSIF_PFL_BONDING_SEC.ashx?la=en&hash=049D47F9D8A3B-BA2861A5C_88263E5BF9DD19D0D4.

³²⁰ "Paid Family Leave: Applying for Benefits." New York State, retrieved 26 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.ny.gov/new-york-state-paid-family-leave/paid-family-leave-applying-benefits#required- documentation</u>.

³²¹ "About Paid Family Leave." Employment Development Department, State of California, retrieved 26 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.edd.ca.gov/disability/about_pfl.htm</u>.

³²² Floyd, Ife. "Behavioral Science Shows Why Work Requirements Don't Work." Center for Budget and Policy Priorities, 8 April 2019. Available at <u>https://www.cbpp.org/blog/behavioral-science-shows-why-work-requirements-dont-work</u>.

323 Ibid.



³²⁴ Skolnik, Alfred M. "Temporary Disability Insurance Laws in the United States." Division of Research and Statistics, Office of the Commissioner, Social Security Administration, October 1952. Available at <u>https://www.ssa.gov/policy/docs/ssb/v15n10/v15n10p11.pdf</u>.

³²⁵ Moulta-Ali, Umar. "Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI): The Five-Month Waiting Period for Benefits." Congressional Research Service, 24 January 2013. Available at <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RS22220.pdf</u>.

³²⁶ "Paid Family and Medical Leave Policy Metrics." National Partnership for Women and Families, December 2018. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/coalition/paid-family-and-medical-leave-policy-metrics.pdf</u>.

327 Ibid.

³²⁸ "The Waiting Week for Temporary Disability, Explained." Division of Temporary Disability and Family Leave Insurance, Department of Labor and Workforce Development, State of New Jersey, retrieved 26 February 2019. Available at <u>https://myleavebenefits.nj.gov/</u> <u>labor/myleavebenefits/worker/resources/waiting-week.shtml</u>.

³²⁹ "Your Guide to Family Leave Insurance in New Jersey." Division of Temporary Disability Insurance, Department of Labor and Workforce Development, State of New Jersey, retrieved 21 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.nj.gov/labor/forms_pdfs/tdi/WPR-119%20</u> (<u>1-18).pdf</u>.

³³⁰ Wilson, Steve. "When Does the New Paid Family Leave Law Take Effect?" New Jersey Business and Industry Association, 1 March 2019. Available at https://www.njbia.org/when-does-the-new-paid-family-leave-law-take-effect/.

³³¹ Turczanski, Laura, Katharine Tylee Herz, Angela R. Vogel, and Gillian Murphy. "Washington Paid Family Leave is Coming in 2019: Employers Should Start Preparing." Davis Wright Tremaine LLP, 5 June 2018. Available at <u>https://www.dwt.com/Washington-Paid-Family-Leave-is-Coming-in-2019-Employers-Should-Start-Preparing-06-05-2018/</u>.

³³² "Q&A: New York Paid Family Leave." Crystal and Company, retrieved 26 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.crystalco.com/</u> <u>questions-answers/new-york-paid-family-leave</u>.

³³³ Note: California did not eliminate waiting periods in the State Disability Insurance (SDI) program. See "FAQs – Employers Eligibility." Employment Development Department, State of California, retrieved 26 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.edd.</u> <u>ca.gov/disability/FAQ_Employers_Eligibility.htm</u>; see also "FAQ - State Disability Insurance (SDI) Online." Employment Development Department, State of California, retrieved 25 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.edd.ca.gov/disability/FAQ_State_Disability_Insurance_Online.htm</u>.

³³⁴ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

³³⁵ Goldman, Tanya L. "Advancing #MeToo through Paid Sick Days Legislation." CLASP, 18 April 2018. Available at <u>https://www.clasp.org/blog/advancing-metoo-through-paid-sick-days-legislation</u>.

336 Ibid.

³³⁷ Note: For example, under New Jersey's paid sick leave law, workers can take leave to care for family members recovering from domestic violence. See Marcus, Samantha. "More Than 1M N.J. Workers Could Soon Get Long- Awaited Paid Sick Time." *NJ.com*, 12 April 2018. Available at <u>https://www.nj.com/politics/2018/04/more_than_1m_nj_workers_could_soon_get_long-awaite.html</u>.

³³⁸ "Preventing Intimate Partner Violence." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, updated 26 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/intimatepartnerviolence/fastfact.html</u>.

³³⁹ "The Facts on Violence Against Indian/Alaskan Native Women." Futures Without Violence, retrieved 11 July 2019. Available at https://www.futureswithoutviolence.org/userfiles/file/Violence%20Against%20Al%20Al%20Women%20Fact%20 Sheet.pdf.

³⁴⁰ "The Healthy Families Act (S. 636/H.R. 1516)." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

³⁴¹ "Economic Empowerment Spotlight: The Status of Black Women in the United States." IWPR, Summer/Fall 2017. Available at <u>https://iwpr.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/ESS-Summer-2017-Newsletter_8-24-17-1.pdf</u>.

³⁴² "Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault Factsheet." National Network to End Domestic Violence, retrieved 5 July 2019. Available at <u>https://nnedv.org/mdocs-posts/domestic-violence-and-sexual-assault-factsheet/</u>.

³⁴³ No. 3975. 218th Legislature, State of New Jersey, introduced 17 May 2018. Available at <u>https://www.njleg.state.nj.us/2018/Bills/</u> A4000/3975_R3.PDF.

³⁴⁴ Peck. "Oregon Just Passed the Best Family Leave Law in the U.S." 2019.

³⁴⁵ Kennedy, Merrit. "New Zealand Will Provide Paid Leave to Domestic Violence Survivors." *NPR*, 26 July 2018. Available at <u>https://</u>www.npr.org/2018/07/26/632601325/new-zealand-will-provide-paid-leave-to-domestic-violence-survivors.

³⁴⁶ "Domestic or Sexual Violence Leave." Ministry of Labour, Ontario, Canada, retrieved 28 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.ontario.ca/document/your-guide-employment-standards-act-0/domestic-or-sexual-violence-leave#section-1</u>.



³⁴⁷ "Most Canadian Provinces Are Providing Domestic Violence Leave." Western Centre for Research & Education on Violence Against Women & Children, 28 January 2019. Available at <u>http://makeitourbusiness.ca/blog/most- canadian-provinces-are-providing-domes-tic-violence-leave</u>.

³⁴⁸ "The Healthy Families Act." National Partnership for Women and Families, October 2018. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/paid-sick-days/the-healthy-families-act-fact- sheet.pdf</u>.

³⁴⁹ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

³⁵⁰ "A Review of the Evidence on How to Cover All Families for Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

³⁵¹ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Family Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

³⁵² Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

³⁵³ Robbins, et al. "People Need Paid Leave Policies That Cover Chosen Family." 2017. 354 Ibid.

³⁵⁵ Vary, Nancy, and Abe Dubin. "DOL Extends FMLA Rights to Same-Sex Spouses." Society for Human Resource Management, 27 February 2015. Available at <u>https://www.shrm.org/resourcesandtools/hr- topics/benefits/pages/fmla-spouse-definition.aspx</u>.

³⁵⁶ "Fact Sheet #28F: Qualifying Reasons for Leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act." Wage and Hour Division, U.S. Department of Labor. 2015.

³⁵⁷ "Fact Sheet #28B: FMLA Leave for Birth, Placement, Bonding, or to Care for a Child with a Serious Health Condition on the Basis of an 'In Loco Parentis' Relationship." U.S. Department of Labor, Wage and Hour Division, July 2015. Available at <u>https://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/whdfs28B.pdf</u>.

³⁵⁸ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

³⁵⁹ Maxwell, et al. "2018 LGBTQ Paid Leave Survey." 2019.

³⁶⁰ "A Review of the Evidence on How to Cover All Families for Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

³⁶¹ Kashen. "New York State's New Paid Family Leave Law is the Strongest One Yet." 2018.

³⁶² Robbins, Katherine Gallagher. "New Jersey Now Offers Paid Leave for All Families – Including Chosen Ones." *Talk Poverty*, 19 February 2019. Available at https://talkpoverty.org/2019/02/19/new-jersey-paid-leave-chosen-family/.

363 Ibid.

³⁶⁴ "Legislative Fiscal Estimate, Assembly, No. 3975." State of New Jersey, 218th Legislature, 15 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.njleg.state.nj.us/2018/Bills/A4000/3975_E2.PDF</u>.

³⁶⁵ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Family Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

³⁶⁶ Margolis, Kathryn, Gregory M. Fosco, and Elizabeth A. Stormshak. "Circle of Care: Extending Beyond Primary Caregivers to Examine Collaborative Caregiving in Adolescent Development." *Journal of Family Issues*, 37(9): 1179- 1202, June 2016. Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4955597/.

³⁶⁷ "The Female Face of Family Caregiving." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

³⁶⁸ "Paid Family Leave Expansion." California Department of Finance, retrieved 11 June 2019. Available at <u>http://www.dof.ca.gov/</u> <u>Budget/Trailer_Bill_Language/documents/PaidFamilyLeaveExpansion.pdf</u>.

³⁶⁹ Adler, Ben. "What's Buried In California's Budget Package? Lawmakers Send 12 Bills To Gov. Gavin Newsom." *Capital Public Radio*, 17 June 2019. Available at <u>http://www.capradio.org/articles/2019/06/17/whats-buried-in-californias-budget-package-lawmak-ers-send-12-bills-to-gov-gavin-newsom/</u>.

³⁷⁰ "A Review of the Evidence on How to Cover All Families for Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

³⁷¹ "The Female Face of Family Caregiving." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

³⁷² Arnalds, Ásdís A., Guðný Björk Eydal, and Ingólfur V. Gíslason. "Equal Rights to Paid Parental Leave and Caring Fathers: The Case of Iceland." *Icelandic Review of Politics and Administration*, 9(2), 2013. Available at http://www.irpa.is/article/view/1211.

³⁷³ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

³⁷⁴ "Paid Leave." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.



³⁷⁵ For more information, see "Physicians-Practitioners." California Employment Development Department, retrieved 5 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.edd.ca.gov/disability/Physicians-Practitioners.htm</u>; "Information for Healthcare Providers." Division of Temporary Disability and Family Leave Insurance, New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce Development, retrieved 5 July 2019. Available at <u>https://myleavebenefits.nj.gov/labor/myleavebenefits/medical/index.shtml?open=TDI</u>; "Rules of the Road from the Board of Medical Licensure and Discipline: Temporary Disability Evaluations." Rhode Island Department of Labor and Training, April 2012. Available at <u>http://www.dlt.ri.gov/tdi/RulesofRoadQHPs.htm</u>.

³⁷⁶ "Report on the Economic Well-Being of U.S. Households in 2018." Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 2019.

³⁷⁷ Vitelli, Romeo. "Does Paid Family Leave Make New Parents Healthier?" *Psychology Today*, 10 January 2019. Available at https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/media-spotlight/201901/does-paid-family-leave-make-new-parents-healthier.

³⁷⁸ Christian, Lisa M., et al. "Associations of Postpartum Sleep, Stress, and Depressive Symptoms with LPS- Stimulated Cytokine Production Among African American and White Women." *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 316: 98-106, 15 March 2018. Available at <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0165572817302886?via%3Dihub;</u> Vitelli. "Does Paid Family Leave Make New Parents Healthier?" 2019.

³⁷⁹ "A Review of the Evidence on How to Cover All Families for Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

380 Ibid.

³⁸¹ Kashen. "New York State's New Paid Family Leave Law is the Strongest One Yet." 2018.

³⁸² "A Review of the Evidence on the Length of Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

³⁸³ Schulte. "Paid Family Leave: How Much Time is Enough?" 2017.

³⁸⁴ "PF2.1: Key characteristics of parental leave systems." OECD, updated 26 October 2017. Available at <u>https://www.oecd.org/els/</u> soc/PF2_1_Parental_leave_systems.pdf.

³⁸⁵ O'Boyle, Carolyn. "Testimony of Carolyn O'Boyle, Deloitte Services, LP, Hearing before the Senate Subcommittee on Social Security, Pensions, and Family Policy: 'Examining the Importance of Paid Family Leave for American Working Families.'" Senate Subcommittee on Social Security, Pensions, and Family Policy, 11 July 2018. Available at https://www.finance.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/11jul2018oBoyleSTMNT.pdf.

³⁸⁶ "U.S. Benefits." Microsoft, retrieved 11 June 2019. Available at https://careers.microsoft.com/us/en/usbenefits.

³⁸⁷ Stahlkopf, Dev. "Paid Parental Leave Matters." Microsoft, 30 August 2018. Available at <u>https://blogs.microsoft.com/on-the-is-sues/2018/08/30/paid-parental-leave-matters/</u>.

³⁸⁸ Heymann, Jody, Amy Raub, and Alison Earle. "Creating and Using New Data Sources to Analyze the Relationship between Social Policy and Global Health: The Case of Maternal Leave." *Public Health Reports*, 126(Suppl.3): 127-134. Available at <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3150137/</u>.

³⁸⁹ "A Review of the Evidence on the Length of Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

³⁹⁰ Schulte. "Paid Family Leave: How Much Time is Enough?" 2017.

³⁹¹ "The Child Development Case for a National Paid Family and Medical Leave Program." Zero to Three and National Partnership for Women and Families, December 2018. Available at <u>file:///C:/Users/fa519/Downloads/The%20Child%20Development%20Case%20</u> <u>for%20a%20National%20Paid%20Fa mily%20and%20Medical%20Leave%20Program%20(1).pdf</u>.

³⁹² Schulte, et al. "Paid Family Leave: How Much Time is Enough?" 2019.

³⁹³ Note: A nationwide analysis by CAP found that "it costs \$1,230 per month, or nearly \$15,000 per year, to provide child care for an infant in a child care center in the United States." See Workman, Simon, and Steven Jessen-Howard. "Understanding the True Cost of Child Care for Infants and Toddlers." Center for American Progress, 15 November 2018. Available at <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/early- childhood/reports/2018/11/15/460970/understanding-true-cost-child-care-infants-toddlers/</u>.

³⁹⁴ "Facts: Nationwide Breastfeeding Goals" Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, updated 20 August 2018. Available at <u>https://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/data/facts.html</u>.

³⁹⁵ Bjarnadottir, Adda. "11 Benefits of Breastfeeding for Both Mom and Baby." *Healthline*, 1 June 2017. Available at <u>https://www.healthline.com/nutrition/11-benefits-of-breastfeeding</u>.

³⁹⁶ Heymann, et al. "Paid Parental Leave and Family Wellbeing in the Sustainable Development Era." 2017.

³⁹⁷ Geller, S.E., et al. "Postpartum Hemorrhage in Resource-Poor Settings." *International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics*, 92(3): 202-211, March 2006. Available at <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0020729205006387#bib58/</u>.

³⁹⁸ "Pregnancy Mortality Surveillance System." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, updated 4 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/maternalinfanthealth/pregnancy-mortality-surveillance-system.htm</u>.



³⁹⁹ "Breastfeeding: Facts." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2018.

⁴⁰⁰ "Removing Barriers to Breastfeeding: A Structural Race Analysis of First Food." Center for Social Inclusion, 2015. Available at <u>https://www.centerforsocialinclusion.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/CSI-Removing-Barriers-to-Breastfeeding-REPORT.pdf</u>.

⁴⁰¹ Stearns, Jenna. "The Effects of Paid Maternity Leave: Evidence From Temporary Disability Insurance." *Journal of Health Economics*, 43:85-102, September 2015. Available at <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167629615000533</u>.

⁴⁰² Petersen, Emily, et al. "Vital Signs: Pregnancy-Related Deaths, United States, 2011–2015, and Strategies for Prevention, 13 States, 2013–2017." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 10 May 2019. Available at <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/68/</u> <u>wr/mm6818e1.htm?s_cid=mm6818e1_w;</u> "Maternal Health in the United States." Maternal Health Task Force, Harvard Chan School of Public Health, retrieved 11 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.mhtf.org/topics/maternal-health-in-the-united-states/</u>.

⁴⁰³ Crawford, Sara, et al. "Maternal Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Neonatal Birth Outcomes With and Without Assisted Reproduction." *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 129(6):1022-1030, June 2017. Available at <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28486370</u>.

⁴⁰⁴ Huerta, Maria del Carmen. ""Fathers' Leave, Fathers' Involvement and Child Development: Are They Related? Evidence from Four OECD Countries." OECD, 14 January 2013. Available at <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social- issues-migration-health/fathers-leave-fa-thers-involvement-and-child-development_5k4dlw9w6czq-en</u>.

⁴⁰⁵ "Why Parental Leave for Fathers Is So Important for Working Families." U.S. Department of Labor, 2016. Available at <u>https://digi-talcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2604&context=key_workplace</u>.

⁴⁰⁶ "The Child Development Case for A National Paid Family and Medical Leave Program." Zero to Three and National Partnership for Women and Families, December 2018. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/paid-leave/thechild-development-case-for- a-national-paid-family-and-medical-leave-insurance-program.pdf.</u>

⁴⁰⁷ "Why Parental Leave for Fathers Is So Important for Working Families." U.S. Department of Labor. 2016.

⁴⁰⁸ "The Child Development Case for A National Paid Family and Medical Leave Program." Zero to Three and National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

⁴⁰⁹ Persson, Petra, and Maya Rossin-Slater. "When Dad Can Stay Home: Fathers' Workplace Flexibility and Maternal Health." *National Bureau of Economic Research*, May 2019. Available at <u>https://www.nber.org/papers/w25902</u>.

⁴¹⁰ "The Female Face of Family Caregiving." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018; West, et al. "Strengthening Unemployment Protections in America: Modernizing Unemployment Insurance and Establishing a Jobseeker's Allowance." 2016.

⁴¹¹ Rossin-Slater, et al. "The Effects of California's Paid Family Leave Program on Mothers' Leave-Taking and Subsequent Labor Market Outcomes." 2011.

⁴¹² Waldfogel, Jane, Yoshio Higuchi, and Masahiro Abe. "Family Leave Policies and Women's Retention after Childbirth: Evidence from the United States, Britain, and Japan." *Journal of Population Economics*, 12(4), November 1999. Available at <u>https://www.jstor.org/</u> <u>stable/20007648?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents</u>.

⁴¹³ "A Review of the Evidence on the Length of Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

⁴¹⁴ Waldfogel, Jane. "Understanding the 'Family Gap' in Pay for Women with Children." Journal of Economic Perspectives, 12(1): 137-156, Winter 1998. Available at <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/2646943?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents</u>.

⁴¹⁵ Gault, Barbara, et al. "Paid Parental Leave in the United State: What the Data Tell Us about Access, Usage, and Economic and Health Benefits." Institute for Women's Policy Research, 23 January 2014. Available at <u>https://iwpr.org/publications/paid-parental-leave-in-the-united-states-what-the-data-tell-us-about-access-usage-and-economic-and-health-benefits/</u>.

⁴¹⁶ Boushey, Heather, Ann O'Leary, and Alexandra Mitukiewicz. "The Economic Benefits of Family and Medical Leave Insurance." Center for American Progress, December 12, 2013. Available at <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/economy/re-</u> port/2013/12/12/81036/the-economic-benefits-of-family- and-medicalleave-insurance/.

⁴¹⁷ "A Review of the Evidence on the Length of Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

⁴¹⁸ Kunze, Astrid. "Parental Leave and Maternal Labor Supply." *IZA World of Labor*, July 2016. Available at <u>https://wol.iza.org/up-loads/articles/279/pdfs/parental-leave-and-maternal-labor-supply.pdf?v=1</u>.

⁴¹⁹ Thomas, Mallika. "The Impact of Mandated Maternity Benefits on the Gender Differential in Promotions: Examining the Role of Adverse Selection." Cornell University, 6 March 2019. Available at https://digitalcommons.ilr.cornell.edu/ics/16/.

⁴²⁰ Furbush, Ann. "The Effects of Paternity Leave on Women's Labor Market Outcomes." *Issues in Political Economy*, 27(1): 39-78, 2018. Available at <u>https://www.elon.edu/docs/e- web/students/ipe/volumes/Furbish%202018.pdf</u>.

⁴²¹ Kunze, Astrid. "Parental Leave and Maternal Labor Supply." 2016.

⁴²² "A Review of the Evidence on the Length of Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.



⁴²³ Goldin, Claudia, et al. "The Expanding Gender Earnings Gap: Evidence from the LEHD-2000 Census." *American Economic Review: Papers and Proceedings*, 107(5): 110-114, May 2017. Available at https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/632c/af9bd17a3e919db-dc4ded4ef8fc91ef789cf.pdf.

⁴²⁴ Barth, Erling, Sari Pekkala Kerr, and Claudia Olivetti. "The Dynamics of Gender Earnings Differentials: Evidence from Establishment Data." National Bureau of Economic Research, May 2017. Available at https://www.nber.org/papers/w23381.

⁴²⁵ Jee, Eunjung, Joya Misra, and Marta Murray-Close. "Motherhood Penalties in the U.S., 1986-2014. Washinton Center on Equitable Growth, 13 March 2018. Available at <u>https://equitablegrowth.org/working-papers/motherhood-penalties/</u>.

⁴²⁶ Correll, Shelley, Stephan Benard, and In Paik. "Getting a Job: Is There a Motherhood Penalty?" Women and Public Policy Program, Harvard Kennedy School, March 2007. Available at <u>http://gap.hks.harvard.edu/getting-job- there-motherhood-penalty</u>.

⁴²⁷ Kalish, Emma. "Family Finances: How Do Families with and without Children Differ." Urban Institute, April 2016. Available at <u>https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/79886/2000752-Family-Finances-How-Do-Families-with-and-without-Children-Differ.pdf</u>.

⁴²⁸ Correll, et al. "Getting a Job: Is There a Motherhood Penalty?" 2007.

⁴²⁹ Barth, et al. "The Dynamics of Gender Earnings Differentials: Evidence from Establishment Data." 2017. 430 Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁴³¹ Morris, Liz, and Anna Garfink. "Why Women Desperately Need Paid Leave for Men." *Medium*, 26 April 2018. Available at https://medium.com/@worklifelaw/why-women-desperately-need-paid-leave-for-men-dadf3a741c11.

⁴³² Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

433 Ibid.

⁴³⁴ Dastur, et al. "Building the Caring Economy: Workforce Investments to Expand Access to Affordable, High- Quality Early and Long-Term Care." 2017.

435 Ibid.

⁴³⁶ Waldfogel, Jane, and Emma Liebman. "Paid family care leave: A missing piece in the U.S. social insurance systems." Washington Center for Equitable Growth, 10 June 2019. Available at <u>https://equitablegrowth.org/research-paper/paid-family-care-leave/?long-form=true#why is paid family_care_leave_important%3E</u>.

⁴³⁷ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

⁴³⁸ "The Family and Medical Insurance Leave (FAMILY) Act: Frequently Asked Questions." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

⁴³⁹ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Family Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁴⁴⁰ Ibid; "PF2.3: Additional Leave Entitlements for Working Parents." OECD, 12 June 2016. Available at <u>http://www.oecd.org/els/soc/</u> PF2_3 Additional leave entitlements of working parents.pdf.

⁴⁴¹ "PF2.3: Additional Leave Entitlements for Working Parents." OECD. 2016.

⁴⁴² "A Review of the Evidence on the Length of Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

⁴⁴³ "Paid Family and Medical Leave: An Overview." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2017.

⁴⁴⁴ "A Review of the Evidence on the Length of Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

⁴⁴⁵ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

⁴⁴⁶ "A Review of the Evidence on the Length of Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

⁴⁴⁷ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Personal Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018. 448 Ibid.

⁴⁴⁹ "Prenatal Care and Tests." Office of Women's Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 30 January 2019. Available at <u>https://www.womenshealth.gov/pregnancy/youre-pregnant-now-what/prenatal-care- and-tests</u>; "What Are Some Common Complications of Pregnancy?" Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD), last updated 31 January 2017. Available at <u>https://www.nichd.nih.gov/health/topics/pregnancy/conditioninfo/complications</u>.

⁴⁵⁰ Burtle, Adam and Stephen Bezruchka. "Population Health and Paid Parental Leave: What the United States Can Learn from Two Decades of Research." *Healthcare*, 4(2): 30, 2016. Available at <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2227-9032/4/2/30</u>.

⁴⁵¹ Guendelman, Sylvia, et al. "Maternity Leave in the Ninth Month of Pregnancy and Birth Outcomes Among Working Women." *Women's Health Issues*, 19(1): 30-37, February 2017. Available at <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/</u> <u>\$1049386708001023</u>.



⁴⁵² Sandall Jane, et al. "Short-Term and Long-Term Effects of Caesarean Section on the Health of Women and Children." *The Lancet*, 392(10155): 1349-1357, 13 October 2018. Available at https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(18)31930-5/fulltext.

⁴⁵³ Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁴⁵⁴ "Physicians-Practitioners." California Employment Development Department. 2019; "Information for Healthcare Providers." Division of Temporary Disability and Family Leave Insurance, New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce Development. 2019; "Rules of the Road from the Board of Medical Licensure and Discipline: Temporary Disability Evaluations." Rhode Island Department of Labor and Training. 2012.

⁴⁵⁵ "Parental Leave: Where are the Fathers?" OECD. 2016.

⁴⁵⁶ Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁴⁵⁷ Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁴⁵⁸ "A Review of the Evidence on How to Cover All Families for Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

⁴⁵⁹ "New York State Paid Family Leave Updates for 2019." New York State, retrived 19 July 2019. Available at <u>https://paidfami-lyleave.ny.gov/2019</u>.

⁴⁶⁰ "Prepare to be There for Care: Washington's New Paid Family & Medical Leave Program, Employer Toolkit." Washington Paid Family and Medical Leave, 18 March 2019. Available at <u>https://paidleave.wa.gov/files/Documents/PaidLeaveEmployerToolkit.pdf</u>.

⁴⁶¹ "Report on the Economic Well-Being of U.S. Households in 2017." Federal Reserve Board, May 2018. Available at <u>https://www.federalreserve.gov/publications/files/2017-report-economic-well-being-us-households-201805.pdf</u>.

⁴⁶² "Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance: Options for Designing and Implementing a Minnesota Program." University of Minnesota and Institute for Women's Policy Research, February 2016. Available at <u>https://mn.gov/deed/assets/paid-family-medical_tcm1045-300604.pdf</u>.

⁴⁶³ "FAQ – Part-Time, Intermittent, or Reduced Work Schedule." Employment Development Department, State of California, retrieved 28 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.edd.ca.gov/disability/FAQ_PFL_Part-time_Intermittent_Reduced_Work_Schedule.htm</u>.

⁴⁶⁴ Setty, Suma, et al. "Disability Perspectives on Paid Leave: A Qualitative Analysis of Leave-Taking Among Workers Affected by Disabilities or Serious Health Conditions." The Arc and the National Center for Children in Poverty, February 2019. Available at <u>http://</u>nccp.org/publications/pdf/text_1217.pdf.

⁴⁶⁵ Latini, Melissa. "Rewriting the FMLA: Introducing Intermittent Bonding Leave to Combat Gender Norms Facing Working Mothers." *Indiana Journal of Law and Social Equity*, 6(1), 16 March 2018. Available at <u>https://www.repository.law.indiana.edu/cgi/viewcontent.</u> <u>cgi?article=1080&context=ijlse</u>.

⁴⁶⁶ Winkler, Anne E. "Women's Labor Force Participation: Family-friendly Policies Increase Women's Labor Force Participation, Benefitting Them, Their Families, and Society at Large." University of Missouri-St. Louis and IZA, August 2016. Available at <u>https://wol.</u> <u>iza.org/uploads/articles/289/pdfs/womens-labor-force-participation.pdf</u>.

⁴⁶⁷ "The Female Face of Family Caregiving." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

⁴⁶⁸ Latini, Melissa. "Rewriting the FMLA: Introducing Intermittent Bonding Leave to Combat Gender Norms Facing Working Mothers." 2018.

⁴⁶⁹ Jacobs, Barry J. "When Genders Collide While Caregiving." AARP Public Policy Institute, retrieved 11 July 2016. Available at <u>https://www.aarp.org/home-family/caregiving/info-01-2014/caregiving-family-gender-siblings-jacobs.html</u>.

⁴⁷⁰ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

⁴⁷¹ Winkler, Anne E. "Women's Labor Force Participation: Family-friendly Policies Increase Women's Labor Force Participation, Benefitting Them, Their Families, and Society at Large." 2016.

⁴⁷² Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

⁴⁷³ Note: These statistics only refers to people with disabilities who do not reside in an institution. "Disability Statistics." Cornell University, retrieved 18 July 2019. Available at http://www.disabilitystatistics.org/reports/acs.cfm?statistic=1.

⁴⁷⁴ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

⁴⁷⁵ Ibid. Goodman, Nanette, et al. "Financial Inequality: Disability, Race and Poverty in America." National Disability Institute, 2017. Available at <u>http://www.nasuad.org/sites/nasuad/files/Disability-Race-Poverty-in-America.pdf</u>.



⁴⁷⁶ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

⁴⁷⁷ Schoep, Mark E., et al. "Productivity Loss Due To Menstruation-Related Symptoms: A Nationwide Cross- Sectional Survey Among 32,748 Women." Obstetrics and Gynecology, 9(6), June 2019. Available at https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/9/6/e026186; Hunt, Katie. "Period Pain Linked To Nearly 9 Days Of Lost Productivity For A Woman In A Year." CNN, 27 June 2019. Available at https://www.cnn.com/2019/06/27/health/period-pain-productivity-study-intl/index.html.

478 Ibid.

479 Ibid.

⁴⁸⁰ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families, February 2019. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/paid-leave/state-paid-family-leave-laws.pdf</u>.

⁴⁸¹ Dulgerian, Tony, David A. Tauster, and Christopher J. Moro. "New York Paid Family Leave is Here: More Employer FAQs Answered." Nixon Peabody, 3 January 2018. Available at <u>https://www.nixonpeabody.com/en/ideas/articles/2018/01/03/new-york-paid-family-leave-faqs</u>.

⁴⁸² "Leave Comparison." Office of Paid Family Leave, DC Department of Employment Services, retrieved 27 June 2019. Available at <u>https://does.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/does/page_content/attachments/OPFL%20Leave%20Comparison %20Chart.pdf</u>.

⁴⁸³ Setty, et al. "Disability Perspectives on Paid Leave: A Qualitative Analysis of Leave-Taking among Workers Affected by Disabilities or Serious Health Conditions." 2019.

⁴⁸⁴ Tisinger, Russell, et al. "Understanding Attitudes on Paid Family Leave: Discussions with Parents and Caregivers in California, New Jersey, and Rhode Island." L and M Policy Research, July 2016. Available at <u>https://www.dol.gov/asp/evaluation/completed-stud-ies/Paid_Leave_AwarenessBenefitsBarriers.pdf</u>.

⁴⁸⁵ Setty, et al. "Disability Perspectives on Paid Leave: A Qualitative Analysis of Leave-Taking among Workers Affected by Disabilities or Serious Health Conditions." 2019.

486 Ibid.

⁴⁸⁷ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Personal Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁴⁸⁸ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Family Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁴⁸⁹ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Personal Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁴⁹⁰ Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁴⁹¹ Joseph, Olivier, et al. "The Economic Impact of Taking Short Parental Leave: Evaluation of a French Reform." Labour Economics, 25: 63-75, 2013. Available at <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0927537113000547</u>.

⁴⁹² Persson, et al. "When Dad Can Stay Home: Fathers' Workplace Flexibility and Maternal Health." 2019.

⁴⁹³ Elkins, Kathleen. "Here's How Much Money Americans Have in Savings at Every Income Level." CNBC, 27 September 2018. Available at <u>https://www.cnbc.com/2018/09/27/heres-how-much-money-americans-have-in- savings-at-every-income-level.html</u>.

⁴⁹⁴ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019. Peck. "Oregon Just Passed the Best Family Leave Law in the U.S." 2019

⁴⁹⁵ Author's calculations of family leave insurance and medical leave insurance based on: Stiffler, Chris. "Estimating the Costs and Financing of Family and Medical Leave Insurance in Colorado." Colorado Fiscal Institute, 15 September 2013. Available at http://www.coloradofiscal.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Estimating-the-Costs- and-Finance-Mechanisms-of-Family-and-Medical-Leave-in-Co.pdf.

⁴⁹⁶ Greenfield, Jennifer C., et al. "Projected Economic Impacts of Paid Family Leave in Colorado." University of Denver, School of Social Work, February 2019. Available at <u>https://socialwork.du.edu/sites/g/files/Imucqz281/files/2019-02/Paid-Family-Leave-Report.pdf</u>.

⁴⁹⁷ "A Review of the Evidence on Payment and Financing of Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center, February 2018. Available at <u>https://www.worldpolicycenter.org/sites/default/files/WORLD%20Brief%20- %20Payment%20and%20Financ-ing%20of%20Paid%20Family%20and%20Medical%20Leave_0.pdf</u>.

⁴⁹⁸ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Family Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁴⁹⁹ "A Review of the Evidence on Payment and Financing of Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

⁵⁰⁰ "Bare Minimum: Why We Need to Raise Wages for America's Lowest-Paid Families." Leadership Conference Education Fund and Georgetown Center on Poverty and Inequality, 2018. Available at <u>http://civilrightsdocs.info/pdf/reports/Bare-Minimum.pdf</u>.



⁵⁰¹ Raub, et al. "Paid Leave for Family Illness: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁵⁰² "A Review of the Evidence on Payment and Financing of Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018; Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁵⁰³ Williamson, et al. "Constructing 21st Century Rights for a Changing Workforce: A Policy Brief Series, Brief 2: Paid Family & Medical Leave & Nonstandard Employees." 2019.

⁵⁰⁴ Peck. "Oregon Just Passed the Best Family Leave Law in the U.S." 2019.

⁵⁰⁵ HB 2005. 80th Oregon Legislative Assembly. 2019.

⁵⁰⁶ Rossin-Slater, Maya. "Learning from California: Trends and Disparities in the Nations' First Paid Family Leave Program." American Enterprise Institute and Brookings Institute, 30 April 2018. Available at <u>https://www.aei.org/publication/learning-from-california-trends-and-disparities-in-the-nations-first-paid-family- leave-program/</u>.

⁵⁰⁷ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

⁵⁰⁸ Michel, Zoe Ziliak. "D.C. Passes Nation's Most Progressive Paid Family and Medical Leave Law." CLASP, 4 January 2017. Available at <u>https://medium.com/support-paid-leave/dc-passes-nations-most-progressive-paid-family-and- medical-leave-law-bb-322ce6f5b4</u>.

⁵⁰⁹ Authors' calculations based on "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019; "Office of Wage Hour Compliance." DC Department of Employment Services, Office of Wage Hour Compliance, retrieved 11 July 2019. Available at <u>https://does.dc.gov/service/office-wage-hour- compliance</u>.

⁵¹⁰ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

⁵¹¹ "PF2.4: Parental Leave Replacement Rates." OECD, 26 October 2017. Available at http://www.oecd.org/els/family/PF2_4_Parental_leave_replacement_rates.pdf; "Reducing Income Inequality While Boosting Economic Growth: Can It Be Done?" OECD, 2012. Available at <u>http://www.oecd.org/eco/labour/49421421.pdf</u>.

⁵¹² Appelbaum, et al. "Leaves That Pay: Employer and Worker Experiences with Paid Family Leave in California." 2011.

⁵¹³ "Paid Family and Medical Leave Policy Metrics." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

⁵¹⁴ "A Review of the Evidence on Payment and Financing of Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018

⁵¹⁵ "AB-908 Disability Compensation: Disability Insurance, Assembly Floor Analysis." California State Assembly, 24 February 2016. Available at https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billAnalysisClient.xhtml?bill_id=201520160AB908.

⁵¹⁶ Silver, Barbara E., Helen Mederer, and Emilija Djurdjevic. "Launching the Rhode Island Temporary Caregiver Insurance Program (TIC): Employee Experiences One Year Later." U.S. Department of Labor, April 2016. Available at https://www.dol.gov/wb/media/Rl_paid_leave_report.pdf. See also: Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁵¹⁷ Note: As of 2019, the benefits cap increased to \$650 per week under New Jersey FLI. "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019. See also: "Governor Murphy Signs Sweeping Legislation Expanding Paid Family Leave." State of New Jersey Governor Phil Murphy, 19 February 2019. Available at <u>https://www.nj.gov/governor/</u> <u>news/news/562019/approved/20190219a.shtml</u>.

⁵¹⁸ Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁵¹⁹ White, Karen, Linda Houser, and Elizabeth Nisbet. "Policy in Action: New Jersey's Family Leave Insurance Program at Age Three." Center for Women and Work, Rutgers University, January 2013. Available at <u>https://smlr.rutgers.edu/sites/default/files/documents/</u> <u>FLI Report 1-31 release.pdf</u>. See also: Lerner. "Business As Usual: New Jersey Employers' Experiences with Family Leave Insurance." 2014.

⁵²⁰ Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁵²¹ Petter, Olivia. "Fewer Than Third of New Fathers Take Paternity Leave, Research Suggests." Independent, 8 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.independent.co.uk/life-style/health-and-families/paternity-leave-new-fathers-less- third-not-taking-a8992086.html</u>.

⁵²² Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018; "A Review of the Evidence on Payment and Financing of Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018

523 Ibid.

⁵²⁴ Setty, et al. "Disability Perspectives on Paid Leave: A Qualitative Analysis of Leave-Taking among Workers Affected by Disabilities or Serious Health Conditions." 2019.

⁵²⁵ "Paid Family Leave Information for Employees." New York State, retrieved 22 February 2019. Available at <u>https://paidfamilyleave.</u> <u>ny.gov/paid-family-leave-information-employees</u>; "Fact Sheet #77B: Protection for Individuals under the FMLA." Wage and Hour



Division, U.S. Department of Labor, December 2011. Available at https://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/whdfs77b.htm.

⁵²⁶ "Fact Sheet #77B: Protection for Individuals under the FMLA." Wage and Hour Division, U.S. Department of Labor. 2011.

⁵²⁷ "Paid Family and Medical Leave: A Racial Justice Issue-and Opportunity." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

⁵²⁸ Grant, et al. "Security & Stability: Paid Family and Medical Leave and its Importance to People with Disabilities and Their Families." 2017.

⁵²⁹ "EEOC Releases Fiscal Year 2017 Enforcement and Litigation Data." U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, 25 January 2018. Available at <u>https://www.eeoc.gov/eeoc/newsroom/release/1-25-18.cfm</u>.

530 Ibid.

531 Ibid.

⁵³² "Inequities in Eligibility for FMLA Leave." Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis Management. 2019.

⁵³³ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019. See also: Kashen. "New York State's New Paid Family Leave Law is the Strongest One Yet." 2018.

⁵³⁴ HB 2005. 80th Oregon Legislative Assembly. 2019.

⁵³⁵ California and Washington offer job protections beyond FMLA provisions for pregnancy disability. "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019; Kashen. "New York State's New Paid Family Leave Law is the Strongest One Yet." 2018.

⁵³⁶ "Paid Family Leave Information for Employees." New York State. 2019.

⁵³⁷ "Paid Family and Medical Leave: A Racial Justice Issue-and Opportunity." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

⁵³⁸ "Paid Family & Medical Leave Insurance: Options for Designing and Implementing a Minnesota Program." University of Minnesota, February 2016. Available at <u>https://www.leg.state.mn.us/docs/2016/mandated/160419.pdf</u>.

539 Ibid.

⁵⁴⁰ "Massachusetts Paid Family and Medical Leave." Boston University Human Resources, retrieved 12 July 2019. Available at <u>http://</u>www.bu.edu/hr/policies/federal-and-state-laws/massachusetts-paid-family-and-medical- leave/.

⁵⁴¹ An Act Relative to Minimum Wage, Paid Family Medical Leave and the Sales Holiday. Chapter 175M, section 9. The 191st General Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, retrieved 13 June 2019. Available at https://malegislature.gov/Laws/SessionLaws/Acts/2018/Chapter121.

⁵⁴²"A Review of the Evidence on How to Cover All Families for Paid Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

⁵⁴³ Feinberg. "Breaking New Ground: Supporting Employed Family Caregivers with Workplace Leave Policies." 2018.

⁵⁴⁴ Smith, Kristin. "Key Factors in Take Up of Paid Family and Medical Leave Among Lower-Wage Workers." Carsey Research, University of New Hampshire Carsey School of Public Policy, 9 April 2019. Available at <u>https://carsey.unh.edu/publication/job-protec-tion-wage-replacement</u>.

⁵⁴⁵ Appelbaum, et al. "Leaves That Pay: Employer and Worker Experiences with Paid Family Leave in California." 2011.

⁵⁴⁶ Goldman."The Importance of Job Protection for Paid Leave." 2019.

⁵⁴⁷ "Paid Family and Medical Leave: A Racial Justice Issue–and Opportunity." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

⁵⁴⁸ Novello, Amanda, and Andrew Stettner. "New Data on Contingent and Alternative Employment Hides Mounting Job Quality Issues." Century Foundation, 19 June 2018. Available at <u>https://tcf.org/content/commentary/new- data-contingent-alternative-employ-</u> <u>ment-hides-mounting-job-quality-issues/</u>.

⁵⁴⁹ Michel, Zoe Ziliak, and Liz Ben-Ishai. "Buenos Empleos: Latinos' Limited Access to Quality Jobs." CLASP, August 2016. Available at <u>https://www.clasp.org/sites/default/files/public/resources-and-publications/publication-1/Latinos-and-Job-Quality-FINAL.pdf</u>.

⁵⁵⁰ "Paid Family and Medical Leave Policy Metrics." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

⁵⁵¹ "Paid Family and Medical Leave: A Racial Justice Issue-and Opportunity." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

⁵⁵² Baum, Charles L., and Christopher J. Ruhm. "The Effects of Paid Family Leave in California on Labor Market Outcomes, NBER Working Paper 19741, December 2013. Available at <u>https://www.nber.org/papers/w19741.pdf</u>.

⁵⁵³ Bartel, Ann, et al. "Paid Family Leave, Fathers' Leave-Taking, and Leave-Sharing in Dual-Earner Households." NBER Working Paper 21747, November 2015. Available at <u>https://www.nber.org/papers/w21747.pdf</u>.



⁵⁵⁴ Budig, Michelle J. "The Fatherhood Bonus and the Motherhood Penalty: Parenthood and the Gender Gap in Pay." Third Way, 2 September 2014. Available at <u>https://www.thirdway.org/report/the-fatherhood-bonus-and- the-motherhood-penalty-parenthood-and-the-gender-gap-in-pay</u>.

⁵⁵⁵ Kitroeff, Natalie, and Jessica Silver-Greenberg. "Pregnancy Discrimination Is Rampant Inside America's Biggest Companies." *New York Times*, 8 February 2019. Available at https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2018/06/15/business/pregnancy-discrimination.html.

⁵⁵⁶ Morris, Liz, and Anna Garfink. "Why Women Desperately Need Paid Leave for Men." Center for WorkLife Law. 2018; Correll, et al. "Getting a Job: Is There a Motherhood Penalty?" 2007.

⁵⁵⁷ "Paid Family and Medical Leave: A Racial Justice Issue–and Opportunity." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

558 Ibid.

559 Ibid.

⁵⁶⁰ Addati, Laura, Naomi Cassirer, and Katherine Gilchrist. *Maternity and Paternity at Work: Law and Practice Across the World*. Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organization, 2014. Available at https://www.ilo.org/global/publications/ilo-bookstore/order-on-line/books/WCMS_242615/lang--en/index.htm.

⁵⁶¹ Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁵⁶² Casey, Judi, and Karen Corday. "An Interview with Janet C. Gornick, PhD and Rebecca Ray." Sloan Work and Family Research Network, Boston College, March 2009. Available at <u>https://wfrn.org/wp- content/uploads/2018/09/Parental-Leave-Policies-in-21-Coun-</u> <u>tries-Assessing-Generosity-and-Gender-Equality-An- Interview-with-Janet-Gornick-and-Rebecca-Ray-by-Judi-Casey-and-Karen-Cor-</u> <u>day-intl-corner.pdf</u>.

⁵⁶³ Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁵⁶⁴ Addati, et al. *Maternity and Paternity at Work: Law and Practice Across the World*. 2019.

⁵⁶⁵ Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁵⁶⁶ Jacobs. "Paid Family and Medical Leave in the United States: A Research Agenda." 2018.

⁵⁶⁷ "A Review of the Evidence on Payment and Financing of Family and Medical Leave." WORLD Policy Analysis Center. 2018.

⁵⁶⁸ Holzer, Harry J. "Paid Family Leave: Balancing Benefits and Costs." Brookings Institute, 30 January 2017. Available at https://www.brookings.edu/blog/social-mobility-memos/2017/01/30/paid-family-leave-balancing-benefits-and-costs/.

⁵⁶⁹ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

⁵⁷⁰ Note: While DC's paid leave program is entirely funded by an employer payroll tax, the incidence of the tax may fall on workers in the form of lower compensation. For more information, see Saez, Emmanuel, Benjamin Schoefer, and David Stein. "Payroll Taxes, Firm Behavior, and Rent Sharing: Evidence from a Young Workers Tax Cut in Sweden." University of California-Berkeley, and Stockholm University, 8 October 2017. Available at <u>https://eml.berkeley.edu/~saez/saez-schoefer-seim17sweden.pdf</u>; see also "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019.

⁵⁷¹ "Form D-4A Certificate of Nonresidence in the District of Columbia." Government of the District of Columbia, updated November 2016. Available at <u>https://www.trade.gov/jobs/forms/d4a-certificate-of-nonresidence-in- dc.pdf</u>.

⁵⁷² West, et al. "Strengthening Unemployment Protections in America: Modernizing Unemployment Insurance and Establishing a Jobseeker's Allowance." 2016.

⁵⁷³ "Guide to the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA): Questions and Answers, Eighth Edition." National Partnership for Women and Families, 2016. Available at http://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/fmla/guide-to-fmla.pdf.

⁵⁷⁴ "Family and Medical Leave Act Advisor: Employer Recovery of Benefit Costs." United States Department of Labor, retrieved 5 July 2019. Available at <u>https://webapps.dol.gov/elaws/whd/fmla/8d4.aspx</u>.

⁵⁷⁵ Note: Such a paid leave program would also need to minimize or eliminate job-specific tenure requirements to better accommodate the circumstances of part-time workers or workers with multiple jobs. Levin-Epstein, Jodie. "Taking the Next Step: What Can the U.S. Learn About Parental Leave from New Zealand?" CLASP, December 2004. Available at <a href="http://njtimetocare.com/sites/default/files/13_Brief%201-%20Taking%20the%20Next%20Step-What%20Can%20the%20U.S.%20Learn%20About%20Parental%20 Leave%20from%20New%20Zealand.pdf; Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁵⁷⁶ West, et al. "Strengthening Unemployment Protections in America: Modernizing Unemployment Insurance and Establishing a Jobseeker's Allowance." 2016.

577 Ibid.



⁵⁷⁸ Glynn, Sarah Jane. "Implementing Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance: Montgomery County, Maryland." Office of Legislative Oversight, Montgomery County, MD, Institute for Women's Policy Research, and Center for American Progress, retrieved 13 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.montgomerycountymd.gov/OLO/Resources/Files/2016%20Reports/FullPaidLeaveReport.pdf</u>.

⁵⁷⁹ Veghte, Benjamin W., and Alexandra L. Bradley. "Consideration for Policymakers in the Design of Paid Family and Medical Leave Systems." National Academy of Social Insurance, 5 October 2017. Available at <u>https://www.nasi.org/discuss/2017/10/consider-ations-policymakers-design-paid-family-medical-leave</u>.

580 Ibid.

⁵⁸¹ Ibid.

582 Ibid.

⁵⁸³ Levin-Epstein, Jodie. "Balancing Families and Jobs at Precarious Points: The Role of Work-Leave in New Zealand and the United States." Fulbright New Zealand, June 2004. Available at <u>http://www.fulbright.org.nz/wp- content/uploads/2011/12/axford2004_levin-epstein.pdf</u>.

⁵⁸⁴ Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁵⁸⁵ Ruhm, Christopher J. "A National Paid Parental Leave Policy for the United States." Hamilton Project, Brookings Institution, October 2017. Available at <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp- content/uploads/2017/10/es_101917_national_paid_parental_leave_policy_ruhm.pdf</u>.

⁵⁸⁶ Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁵⁸⁷ Levin-Epstein. "Taking the Next Step: What Can the U.S. Learn About Parental Leave from New Zealand?" 2004.

⁵⁸⁸ Raub, et al. "Paid Parental Leave: A Detailed Look at Approaches Across OECD Countries." 2018.

⁵⁸⁹ Levin-Epstein, Jodie. "High-Wire Act: Balancing Families and Jobs at Precarious Points: The Role of Work-Leave in New Zealand and the US." Fulbright New Zealand, June 2004. Available at <u>http://www.fulbright.org.nz/news/2004-levin-epstein/</u>.

⁵⁹⁰ Levin-Epstein. "Taking the Next Step: What Can the U.S. Learn About Parental Leave from New Zealand?" 2004.

⁵⁹¹ Ruhm. "A National Paid Parental Leave Policy for the United States." 2017.

592 Ibid.

593 Ibid.

⁵⁹⁴ Glynn. "Administering Paid Family and Medical Leave: Learning from International and Domestic Examples." 2015.

⁵⁹⁵ Zielewski, Erica H., and Shelley Waters Boots. "Exploring Policy Models for Extended Time Off." Georgetown University Law Center, 2010. Available at <u>https://scholarship.law.georgetown.edu/legal/26</u>.

⁵⁹⁶ Glynn. "Implementing Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance: Montgomery County, Maryland." 2019.

⁵⁹⁷ Glynn, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁵⁹⁸ Veghte, et al. "Consideration for Policymakers in the Design of Paid Family and Medical Leave Systems." 2017.

⁵⁹⁹ Sawhill, Isabel V., Aparna Mathur, and Abby McCloskey. "D.C.'s Paid-Leave Law Needs Improvement." Brookings Institution, 11 October 2017. Available at <u>https://www.brookings.edu/opinions/d-c-s-paid-leave-law-needs- improvement/</u>.

⁶⁰⁰ Veghte, et al. "Consideration for Policymakers in the Design of Paid Family and Medical Leave Systems." 2017.

⁶⁰¹ Glynn. "Implementing Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance: Montgomery County, Maryland." 2019.

⁶⁰² Glynn, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁶⁰³ Glynn. "Implementing Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance: Montgomery County, Maryland." 2019.

⁶⁰⁴ Addati, et al. Maternity and Paternity at Work: Law and Practice Across the World. 2019.

⁶⁰⁵ Miller, Ryan, and Stephen Schnelker. "Tax Reform Offers New Employer Credit for Paid Family and Medical Leave." Katz, Sapper, and Miller, 6 February 2018. Available at <u>https://www.ksmcpa.com/blog/tax-reform-offers- new-employer-credit-for-paid-family-and-medical-leave</u>.

⁶⁰⁶ Hartmann, Heidi, and Jeffrey Hayes. "25 Years After FMLA: Research Finds that Paid Leave is a Great Investment." Institute for Women's Policy Research, 5 February 2018. Available at <u>https://femchat- iwpr.org/2018/02/05/25-years-after-fmla-research-finds-that-paid-leave-is-a-great-investment/</u>.

⁶⁰⁷ Appelbaum, Eileen. "America Needs a National Paid Family and Medical Leave Program that Works for Working Families." Center



for Economic and Policy Research, 1 February 2018. Available at <u>http://cepr.net/blogs/cepr- blog/america-needs-a-national-paid-fam-ily-and-medical-leave-program-that-works-for-working-families</u>.

⁶⁰⁸ "Section 45S: Employer Credit for Paid Family and Medical Leave." Ernst and Young, 2018. Available at <u>https://www.ey.com/Pub-lication/vwLUAssets/ey-federal-fmla-tax-credit-slipsheet/\$FILE/ey-federal-fmla-tax- credit-slipsheet.pdf</u>.

609 Ibid.

⁶¹⁰ "Strengthening Middle-Class Families in the New American Century." Marco Rubio for President. 2019.

⁶¹¹ "Federal Tax Obligations of Non-Profit Corporations." U.S. Internal Revenue Service, updated 13 May 2019. Available at <u>https://</u>www.irs.gov/charities-non-profits/federal-tax-obligations-of-non-profit-corporations.

⁶¹² "Employer Credit for Paid Family and Medical Leave: Part III-Administrative, Procedural and Miscellaneous." U.S. Internal Revenue Service. 2019.

⁶¹³ Appelbaum. "America Needs a National Paid Family and Medical Leave Program that Works for Working Families." Center for Economic and Policy Research. 2018.

⁶¹⁴ "Employer Credit for Paid Family and Medical Leave: Part III-Administrative, Procedural and Miscellaneous." U.S. Internal Revenue Service. 2019.

615 Ibid.

⁶¹⁶ Appelbaum. "America Needs a National Paid Family and Medical Leave Program that Works for Working Families." Center for Economic and Policy Research. 2018.

⁶¹⁷ "Employer Credit for Paid Family and Medical Leave: Part III-Administrative, Procedural and Miscellaneous." U.S. Internal Revenue Service. 2019.

⁶¹⁸ Appelbaum. "America Needs a National Paid Family and Medical Leave Program that Works for Working Families." Center for Economic and Policy Research. 2018. [FA stopped here]

⁶¹⁹ "Strengthening Middle-Class Families in the New American Century." Marco Rubio for President. 2019.

⁶²⁰ Cohn, Jonathan. "Sorry, New Moms and Dads: Rubio's Paid Leave Plan Wouldn't Do Much." *Huffington Post*, 29 September 2015. Available at <u>https://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/sorry-new-moms-and-dads-rubios-paid-leave-plan-wouldnt-do-much_us_5605e513e4b0dd850307bb98</u>.

621 Ibid.

⁶²² Hartmann. "25 Years After FMLA: Research Finds that Paid Leave is a Great Investment." 2018.

⁶²³ S. 344. 114th Congress, introduced 8 February 2017. Available at <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th- congress/senate-bill/344</u>. See also "Fischer and King Introduce Bipartisan Paid Leave Bill." Deb Fischer: United States Senator for Nebraska, 8 December 2015. Available at <u>https://www.fischer.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/news?ID=422265C0-7603-4441-9025-5FABEC4FD1FA</u>.

624 S. 344. 114th Congress. 2017.

625 Ibid.

626 Ibid.

⁶²⁷ Eissa, Nada, and Hilary Hoynes. "The Earned Income Tax Credit and the Labor Supply of Married Couples." NBER Working Paper No. 6856, December 1998. Available at https://www.nber.org/papers/w6856; See also Eissa, Nada, and Hilary Hoynes. "Behavior-al Responses to Taxes: Lessons from the EITC and Labor Supply." NBER Working Paper No. 11729, November 2005. Available at https://www.nber.org/papers/w11729.

⁶²⁸ Holt, Stephen. "Periodic Payment of the Earned Income Tax Credit." Brookings Institution, 5 June 2008. Available at <u>https://www.brookings.edu/research/periodic-payment-of-the-earned-income-tax-credit/</u>.

⁶²⁹ Joassart, Pascale and Daniel Flaming. "Workers Without Rights." Economic Roundtable, 6 May 2002. Available at <u>https://eco-nomicrt.org/publication/workers-without-rights/</u>. Smith Nightingale, Demetra, and Stephen A. Wadner. "Informal and Nonstandard Employment in the United States: Implications for Low-Income Working Families." Urban Institute, August 2011. Available at <u>https:// www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/32791/412372-informal-and-nonstandard-employment-in- the-united-states.pdf</u>.

⁶³⁰ Marr, Chuck. "Reps. Kildee, Evans Introduce House Version of Working Families Tax Relief Act." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 6 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.cbpp.org/blog/reps-kildee-evans-introduce- house-version-of-working-families-tax-relief-act</u>.

⁶³¹ "Key Elements of the U.S. Tax System: What is the Earned Income Tax Credit?" Urban Institute and Brookings Institution Tax Policy Center, retrieved 15 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.taxpolicycenter.org/briefing- book/what-earned-income-tax-credit</u>.



⁶³² Berman, Russell. "A Conservative Push for Paid Family Leave." Atlantic, 15 August 2016. Available at <u>https://www.theatlantic.</u> com/politics/archive/2016/08/a-new-conservative-entitlement-for-paid-family- leave/495686/.

⁶³³ Gitis, Ben. "The Earned Income Leave Benefit: Rethinking Paid Family Leave for Low-Income Workers." American Action Forum, 15 August 2016. Available at <u>https://www.americanactionforum.org/solution/earned-income-leave-benefit-rethinking-paid-fami-ly-leave-low-income-workers/</u>.

⁶³⁴ Berman. "A Conservative Push for Paid Family Leave." 2016.

⁶³⁵ Gitis. "The Earned Income Leave Benefit: Rethinking Paid Family Leave for Low-Income Workers." 2016.

⁶³⁶ Grant, et al. "Unworkable & Unwise: Conditioning Access to Programs that Ensure a Basic Foundation for Families on Work Requirements." 2019.

637 "Key Elements of the U.S. Tax System: What is the Earned Income Tax Credit?" 2019.

⁶³⁸ S.690. 116th Congress, introduced 3 March 2019. Available at <u>https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/senate-bill/690</u>.

⁶³⁹ Matthews, Dylan. "Democrats Have United Around A Plan To Dramatically Cut Child Poverty." Vox, 2 May 2019. Available at https://www.vox.com/future-perfect/2019/3/6/18249290/child-poverty-american-family-act-sherrod-brown-michael-bennet.

⁶⁴⁰ Matthews. "Democrats Have United Around A Plan To Dramatically Cut Child Poverty." 2019.

⁶⁴¹ Marr. "Reps. Kildee, Evans Introduce House Version of Working Families Tax Relief Act." 2019.

⁶⁴² Livingston, Gretchen. "Stay-At-Home Moms and Dads Account for About One-In-Five U.S. Parents." Pew Research Center, 24 September 2018. Available at <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2018/09/24/stay-at- home-moms-and-dads-account-for-about-one-in-five-u-s-parents/</u>. See also Matthews, Dylan. "Parenting Can Be A Full-Time Job. Activists Want The Tax Code to Treat It That Way." Vox, 15 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.vox.com/future-perfect/2019/7/15/18663193/earned-income-tax-credit-par-ents-caretakers- economic-security-project</u>.

⁶⁴³ "Supporting Family Caregivers through the Earned Income Tax Credit." Caring Across Generations, retrieved 17 July 2019. Available at https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5acbc4bd0dbda3fb2fce2ab3/t/5cc7760cd09026000109ca1e/15565757648 74/ caring across generations.pdf.

⁶⁴⁴ Matthews. "Parenting Can Be A Full-Time Job. Activists Want The Tax Code to Treat It That Way." 2019.

645 Ibid.

⁶⁴⁶ "Supporting Family Caregivers through the Earned Income Tax Credit." Caring Across Generations. 2019.

⁶⁴⁷ Maag, Elaine, Donald Marron, and Erin Huffer. "Expanding The Earned Income Tax Credit: The Economic Security Project's Cost-Of-Living Refund." Urban Institute and Brookings Institution Tax Policy Center, 10 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.taxpolicycen-</u> ter.org/sites/default/files/publication/157276/expanding_the_eitc_2.pdf.

⁶⁴⁸ "A Federal Cost-of-Living Refund." Economic Security Project, retrieved 17 July 2019. Available at <u>https://costoflivingrefund.org/</u><u>federal</u>.

⁶⁴⁹ Ibid; Maag, et al. "Expanding the Earned Income Tax Credit: The Economic Security Project's Cost-Of-Living Refund." 2019.

⁶⁵⁰ Matthews. "Parenting Can Be A Full-Time Job. Activists Want The Tax Code to Treat It That Way." 2019.

⁶⁵¹ Glynn, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017; Glynn, Sarah Jane, "State Paid Leave Administration." Center for American Progress, September 2015. Available at <u>https://cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/30102506/StatePaidLeave-report-03.16.pdf</u>.

⁶⁵² Glynn, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017; Glynn. "State Paid Leave Administration." 2015.

⁶⁵³ Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017; Glynn. "State Paid Leave Administration." 2015.

⁶⁵⁴ Glynn, Sarah Jane, et al. "Paid Family and Medical Leave Programs: State Pathways and Design Options." 2017.

⁶⁵⁵ Coven, Martha. "Trump's Parental Leave Plan: Pitting the Unemployed Against Working Families." Center for Law and Social Policy, June 2017. Available at <u>https://www.clasp.org/sites/default/files/publications/2017/08/Trumps-Parental-Leave-Plan.pdf</u>.

⁶⁵⁶ It is likely that the wage replacement levels would be similar to that of UI benefits, which typically amount to less than 50 percent of workers' wages, or far lower in most states. This would be particularly harmful for low-paid workers, who generally could not afford to take leave at such a low wage replacement rates. See Coven. "Trump's Parental Leave Plan: Pitting the Unemployed Against Working Families." 2017.



⁶⁵⁷ Glynn. "Administering Paid Family and Medical Leave: Learning from International and Domestic Examples." 2015.

⁶⁵⁸ "Apply for Social Security Benefits." Social Security Administration, retrieved 12 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.ssa.gov/benefits/forms/</u>.

⁶⁵⁹ Ruhm. "A National Paid Parental Leave Policy for the United States." 2017; Gale, William, Sarah Holmes, and David John. "Social Security Coverage for State and Local Government Workers: A Reconsideration." Brookings Institution, June 2015. Available at https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Download-the-paper-5.pdf.

⁶⁶⁰ "Social Security Regions." Disability Benefits Help, retrieved 14 July 2019. Available at https://www.disability- benefits-help. org/social-security-disability-locations; Romig, Kathleen. "Social Security Administration Cuts Hurt Every State." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 12 September 2016. Available at <u>https://www.cbpp.org/research/social-security/social-security-administration-cuts-hurt-every-state</u>.

⁶⁶¹ For example, see "New York Region." Social Security Administration, retrieved 14 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.ssa.gov/ny/</u> <u>community.htm</u>.

⁶⁶² "Publications." Social Security Administration, retrieved 14 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.ssa.gov/pubs/</u>.

⁶⁶³ Fischer, Georg. "The US Unemployment Insurance, a Federal-State Partnership: Relevance for Reflections at the European Level." Institute of Labor Economics (IZA), May 2017. Available at <u>http://ftp.iza.org/pp129.pdf</u>; Luigjes, Chris, Georg Fischer, and Frank Vandenbroucke. "The Design of a European Unemployment (Re)Insurance Scheme: Lessons from US Experience." Amsterdam Centre for European Studies, 9 July 2019. Available at <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3417180</u>.

⁶⁶⁴ "The Family and Medical Insurance Leave (FAMILY) Act: Frequently Asked Questions." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019; Glynn. "Administering Paid Family and Medical Leave: Learning from International and Domestic Examples." 2015.

⁶⁶⁵ "State Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance Laws." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2019; "Existing Temporary Disability Insurance Programs." National Partnership for Women and Families, February 2015. Available at <u>http://www.nationalpart-nership.org/our-work/resources/workplace/paid-leave/existing-tdi-programs.pdf</u>.

⁶⁶⁶ Glynn. "State Paid Leave Administration." 2015; "Existing Temporary Disability Insurance Programs." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2015.

⁶⁶⁷ "Our Services." New York State Department of Labor, retrieved 11 July 2019. Available at https://labor.ny.gov/about/services.shtm.

⁶⁶⁸ Glynn. "State Paid Leave Administration." 2015.

⁶⁶⁹ "District of Columbia Paid Family Leave." D.C. Department of Employment Services, retrieved 11 July 2019. Available at <u>https://does.dc.gov/page/district-columbia-paid-family-leave</u>.

⁶⁷⁰ "Department of Family and Medical Leave (DFML)." State of Massachusetts, retrieved 11 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.mass.gov/orgs/department-of-family-and-medical-leave</u>.

⁶⁷¹ "About Paid Family and Medical Leave." Washington State Employment Security Department, retrieved 11 July 2019. Available at https://paidleave.wa.gov/about.

⁶⁷² "Public Act No. 19-25: An Act Concerning Paid Family and Medical Leave." State of Connecticut, 21 June 2019. Available at https://www.cga.ct.gov/2019/act/pa/pdf/2019PA-00025-R00SB-00001-PA.pdf.

⁶⁷³ "Unemployment Insurance." Social Security Administration, retrieved 9 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.ssa.gov/policy/docs/progdesc/sspus/unemploy.pdf</u>.

⁶⁷⁴ West, et al. "Strengthening Unemployment Protections in America: Modernizing Unemployment Insurance and Establishing a Jobseeker's Allowance." 2016.

⁶⁷⁵ Ibid; "Unemployment Insurance." Social Security Administration. 2019; Stone, Chad, and William Chen. "Introduction to Unemployment Insurance." Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 30 July 2014. Available at <u>https://www.cbpp.org/sites/default/files/</u> <u>atoms/files/12-19-02ui.pdf</u>.

⁶⁷⁶ West, et al. "Strengthening Unemployment Protections in America: Modernizing Unemployment Insurance and Establishing a Jobseeker's Allowance." 2016. "Unemployment Insurance." Social Security Administration. 2019; Stone. "Introduction to Unemployment Insurance." 2014.

677 Ibid.

678 Ibid.

679 Ibid.

⁶⁸⁰ Fischer. "The US Unemployment Insurance, a Federal-State Partnership: Relevance for Reflections at the European Level." 2017. Luigjes, et al. "The Design of a European Unemployment (Re) Insurance Scheme: Lessons from US Experience." 2019.



⁶⁸¹ Reder, et al. "Designing Portable Benefits: A Resource Guide for Policymakers." 2019.

682 Ibid.

⁶⁸³ "Nonmonetary Eligibility." U.S. Department of Labor, retrieved 9 July 2019. Available at <u>https://oui.doleta.gov/unemploy/pdf/uilaw-compar/2014/nonmonetary.pdf</u>.

⁶⁸⁴ West, et al. "Strengthening Unemployment Protections in America: Modernizing Unemployment Insurance and Establishing a Jobseeker's Allowance." 2016.

⁶⁸⁵ Reder, et al. "Designing Portable Benefits: A Resource Guide for Policymakers." 2019.

⁶⁸⁶ West, et al. "Strengthening Unemployment Protections in America: Modernizing Unemployment Insurance and Establishing a Jobseeker's Allowance." 2016.

687 Ibid.

⁶⁸⁹ Appelbaum, Eileen, and Mary Gatta. "Passing Paid Leave Laws is Just the Beginning: Lessons from the Field on Raising Awareness." Center for Economic and Policy Research, February 2019. Available at <u>http://cepr.net/images/stories/reports/paid-leave-2019-02.pdf</u>.

690 Ibid.

⁶⁹¹ Rankin. "Expanding Workers' Rights: What it Means for New York City's Low-Income Workers." 2018.

⁶⁹² Appelbaum. "Passing Paid Leave Laws is Just the Beginning: Lessons from the Field on Raising Awareness." 2019.

⁶⁹³ Kashen. "New York State's New Paid Family Leave Law is the Strongest One Yet." 2018.

⁶⁹⁴ Appelbaum. "Passing Paid Leave Laws is Just the Beginning: Lessons from the Field on Raising Awareness." 2019.

⁶⁹⁵ "Paid Family and Medical Leave: A Racial Justice Issue – and Opportunity." National Partnership for Women and Families. 2018.

⁶⁹⁶ "Family Leave Works for Part-Time Workers." A Better Balance. 2017.

⁶⁹⁷ Bartel, et al. "California's Paid Family Leave Law: Lessons from the First Decade." 2014.

⁶⁹⁸ Williamson. "For the Health of Our Families: Engaging the Health Community in Paid Family Leave Outreach and Education." 2018.

⁶⁹⁹ Houser, Linda, and Karen White. "Awareness of New Jersey's Family Leave Insurance Program is Low, Even as Public Support Remains High and Need Persists." Rutgers Center for Women and Work, October 2012. Available at <u>http://njtimetocare.com/sites/</u> <u>default/files/03_New%20Jersey%20Family%20Leave%20Insurance-%20A%20CWW%20Issue%20Brief.pdf</u>.

⁷⁰⁰ Tisinger, et al. "Understanding Attitudes on Paid Family Leave: Discussions with Parents and Caregivers in California, New Jersey, and Rhode Island." 2016.

⁷⁰¹ Setty, et al. "Disability Perspectives on Paid Leave: A Qualitative Analysis of Leave-Taking among Workers Affected by Disabilities or Serious Health Conditions." 2019.

702 Ibid.

⁷⁰³ Lerner. "Business As Usual: New Jersey Employers' Experiences with Family Leave Insurance." 2014.

704 Ibid.

⁷⁰⁵ Glynn. "Implementing Paid Family and Medical Leave Insurance: Montgomery County, Maryland." 2019.

⁷⁰⁶ "Ask EDD." Employment Development Department, State of California, retrieved 13 June 2019. Available at <u>https://askedd.edd.</u> <u>ca.gov/</u>.

⁷⁰⁷ "FAQ: Family Leave Insurance." Division of Temporary Disability and Family Leave Insurance, Department of Labor and Workforce Development, State of New Jersey, retrieved 13 July 2019. Available at <u>https://myleavebenefits.nj.gov/labor/myleavebenefits/help/faq/fli.shtml</u>.

⁷⁰⁸ "SDI Online." Employment Development Department, State of California, retrieved 13 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.edd.</u> ca.gov/Disability/SDI_Online.htm.

⁷⁰⁹ "SDI Online." Employment Development Department State of California. 2019.



⁷¹⁰ "Ask EDD." Employment Development Department, State of California. 2019.

⁷¹¹ "SDI Online." Employment Development Department, State of California. 2019.

⁷¹² Setty, et al. "Disability Perspectives on Paid Leave: A Qualitative Analysis of Leave-Taking among Workers Affected by Disabilities or Serious Health Conditions." 2019.

⁷¹³ "Paid Family Leave for Family Care." New York State, retrieved 12 June 2019. Available at <u>https://paidfamilyleave.ny.gov/paid-fam-</u> <u>ily-leave-family-care</u>.

⁷¹⁴ Setty, et al. "Disability Perspectives on Paid Leave: A Qualitative Analysis of Leave-Taking among Workers Affected by Disabilities or Serious Health Conditions." 2019.

715 Ibid.

⁷¹⁶ "CLASP-CEPR Turnover Calculator." Center for Economic and Policy Research, retrieved 18 July 2019. Available at <u>http://cepr.net/</u> research-tools/online-calculators/clasp-cepr-turnover-calculator.

⁷¹⁷ "Caregiving in the U.S." AARP Public Policy Institute and National Council for Caregiving. 2015. 718 Ibid.

719 Ibid.

720 Ibid.

⁷²¹ "The Economic Benefits of Paid Leave: Fact Sheet." Joint Economic Committee, United States Congress, retrieved 19 July 2019. Available at <u>https://www.jec.senate.gov/public/_cache/files/646d2340-dcd4-4614-ada9-_be5b1c3f445c/jec-fact-sheet---economic-benefits-of-paid-leave.pdf</u>.



PL+US

CENTER ON POVERTY and INEQUALITY GEORGETOWN LAW ECONOMIC SECURITY and OPPORTUNITY INITIATIVE